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NICKEL RESOURCES INTERNATIONAL

Nickel Resources International Holdings Company Limited is a
leading integrated hi-tech special steel, non-ferrous metal and
mineral enterprise in the People’s Republic of China (the "PRC"). The
Company was listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (”Stock Exchange”) in 2005 (stock code: 2889.
HK) and is the first non-state-owned mineral-resources exploration,
development, and processing enterprises, and is the first hi-tech
special steel producer in the PRC listed abroad. Our businesses are
now vertically integrated from mining to ferrous and non-ferrous
metal production. We have successfully transformed from a traditional
special steel manufacturer to a leading integrated mineral-resources
exploration and processing enterprise in the PRC. Our businesses
include ore trading, ore processing, ferrous and non-ferrous
metallurgy. Our products have been extended to stainless steel,
tool steel, bearing steel, gearing steel, and high strength alloy steel;
and these products are widely used in metallurgy, automobile, ship-
building, petrochemical, buildings, bridges, animal husbandry uses,
railway transportation and infrastructures. The Group has successfully
developed a number of innovative and patented technologies. For
example, we used our own technology to extract valuable metals
from the multi-element low-grade ore; which is able to produce high
strength and high-value-added NiCr based alloy steel products from
inferior ore resources. The Group capitalises on its own exclusive
offtake right on mineral resources and technological advantages
to enter into the mineral resources and ore processing industries.
With the long-term exclusive offtake agreement entered into with
an Indonesia mine, the Group is actively expanding in the PRC
and overseas and is seeking iron and nickel mine investment and
partnership opportunities in Southeast Asia. Currently, the Group
has subsidiaries and offices in the PRC and Hong Kong with a global
workforce of about 900 people.
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Five-Year Financial Summary

AFEMERE

SUMMARY FINANCIAL INFORMATION

MBERBE

A summary of the published results and of the assets, liabilities and ~ $2 & REBIER AR AR ([AQF]) REMEAQ
non-controlling interests of Nickel Resources International Holdings & (LA N#EHE [ A%EE ) Wi AR AT RT EKE
Company Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (hereinafter T~ XFisFFTEEERR B NHEE LE BE
collectively referred as to the “Group”) for the last five financial years — M 3F#EpgtEzs - #EE a0 -

prepared on the basis set out in the note below is as follows:

Results

ES

2018 2017 2016 2015 2014

“E-N\F ZT—+F ZE—RF ZE-1F ZT—NF

HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000
TET TAT TR TR TR

Loss attributable to: UTALTEEER:
Equity holders of the Company ZAUNEIL 5SS ¥ SDN
Non-controlling interests R

(508,996) (472,372)  (645,992) (1,222,916) (1,453,133)
(30) (317) (686) (1,437) (1,080)

(508,996) (472,689)  (646,678) (1,224,353) (1,454,213)

Assets, Liabilities and Non-controlling Interests

BEE RENRFERER

2018 2017 2016 2015 2014

—E-N\F ZT—+tF ZZT—RF ZT—hHF —ZT—UF

HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000
FET TATT AT TBTT TATT

Total assets BEE 3,345,924 3,372,993 3,423,972 3,779,417 5,367,597
Total liabilities wmaE 4,586,075 4,205,765 3,686,429 3,541,771 3,973,220
Non-controlling interests FEFE A 2 (368) (356) 6,006 6,682 8,465
Net (liabilities)/assets F(BE)AE (1,240,151)  (832,772)  (262,457) 237,646 1,394,377

Note:

The consolidated results of the Group for the years ended 31 December 2014, 2015, AEBRBE-_Z—NF —T—hHF —ZT—R"FER=ZT—+
2016 and 2017 were extracted from the Annual Report 2014, 2015, 2016 and 2017 F+ZA=+—HIEFEZHEEXE D IFEEEARARF _F
of the Company respectively while those for the year ended 31 December 2018 were ~ —WUF ZFT—AF ZT—XER T tFFERE  ME
prepared based on the consolidated income statement and consolidated statement of ZEZF—N\F+_A=+—BIFEZHGEEEDIRIERSE
financial position as set out on page 87 and pages 89 to 90, respectively. This summary 878 N H89E 08 Zix & Wamk Mira MBI ARER 1L

does not form part of the audited financial statements.
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Corporate Responsibility
TRRE

UNLIMITED COMMITMENT WITH LIMITED
RESOURCES

It is the responsibility of an enterprise to utilise limited resources
in an efficient way and protect the environment with dedication
and creativity. Aiming to fulfil unlimited commitment with limited
resources, the Group has devoted efforts in the research and
development of new and green technologies and products in order
to realise the targets of high recovery rate, low emission as well as
resources recycling with effective and comprehensive use of resources.
The management believes that the Group is able to bring satisfactory
economic returns for the investors through proper use of limited
resources.

BERBR BEEER
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Chairman’s Statement

EFRBES

Dear Shareholders,

| am pleased to present the Annual Report of the Company for the
year ended 31 December 2018 and extend my gratitude to all the
shareholders on behalf of the Board of Nickel Resources International
Holdings Company Limited.

REVIEW

2018 continues to be a challenging year full of uncertainties for both
the PRC's steel market and the Group. The over-supply situation had
not fundamentally improved amid the increasingly fierce competition
from similar products in the steel market although the PRC's
government started to implement certain solutions to mitigate such
over-supply situation continuously.

During the year, despite the recent rebound of the PRC steel market,
the steel price was persistently weak but fluctuated. Together with
the Export Ban which was implemented in early 2014 by the relevant
governmental authorities of Indonesia has continuously casted
significant doubt on the Group's financial performance and cash flows
in 2018.

The above unfavourable factors continuously brought substantial
negative impacts to the Group’s future operational and financial
performance. During the year ended 31 December 2018, despite the
Group's sub-contracting services commencing since the second half of
year 2017 which generated stable revenue and enhanced its cash flow
position, together with the Group's turnover increased substantially
when compared with last year, the Group still recorded a substantial
loss mainly due to the significant finance cost of HK$341.2 million.

PROSPECTS

The continuous development of the high strength stainless structural
special steel products by the Group and the success of launching
market strategies which would generate higher margin and be less
affected by macroeconomic environment for household, electricity,
communications, photovoltaic and animal husbandry uses, we foresee
the Group will launch various new products to the higher margin
market in the near future.
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Chairman’s Statement

EFRBESE

We expect the economy of PRC will continue its healthy growth trend
and the demand and profitability of our steel products will rebound in
future.

In a longer term, we expect PRC will continue its modernisation and
urbanisation that the demand of high quality special steel products
for public infrastructure and equipment manufacturing will increase
steadily. This definitely will bring enormous business opportunities for
our Group.

We believe that after the technology industrialisation and
modernization of special steel products, the Group will have a
stronger competitive advantage in the industry.

We believe that upon on the success of implementing all the plans
contained in the Resumption Proposal, including the financial
restructuring exercises, the Group’s financial position will be
substantially improved in the future.

We believe that upon completion of the enhancement works by
the Strategic Partner, the production capacity of the Company will
be further strengthened and better utilised. The production of steel
products under the Cooperation Agreement may bring substantial
improvement on the Group’s financial performance and cash flow
position.

In view of the recent readjustment of the business operations and the
proposed financial restructuring of the Group, we are confident that
the Group will have a stronger position in the industry as well as in the
special steel products market.

Also, upon the Group entered into two sale and purchase agreements
in relation to the disposal of an aggregate 14% equity interest in
SEAM, we are seeking for any possible alternatives and financing
sources to facilitate the development of the Indonesia project, that
is, for building up special steel mills in Indonesia in the foreseeable
future.

| am confident to achieve our restated performance targets through

the cooperation with all staff and the potential investors to bring
fruitful returns to our shareholders.

Dong Shutong
Chairman & CEO

Hong Kong, 29 March 2019

Annual Report 2018
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Management Discussion

EHBERIWES

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

and Analysis

MBEE

For the year ended 31 December

BE+-A=+—HLEFE

2018 2017

—E-N\F —ZT—+F

HK$'000 HK$'000

FERT FHETT

Revenue g = 448,207 296,430

Gross Profit EF 7,523 38,871
Loss before Interest, Tax, Depreciation and B&FI2 - Fi1E I E K&

Amortisation BiHm 2 B e (96,938) (52,143)
Loss before Tax B RIER (508,996) (472,689)
Loss Attributable to Equity Holders RRGIERFTEA

of the Company FE(RE1E (508,966) (472,372)
Gross Profit Margin EFIE 1.7% 13.1%
LBITDA Margin LBITDAXK (21.6%) (17.6%)

OPERATING ENVIRONMENT ANALYSIS

Impact of Export Ban

The Group purchases ores for both trading of limonitic ore business
and self-use manufacturing of iron and special steel products. In the
past few years, the Group enjoyed fixed price in ore supply through
an exclusive offtake agreement entered into with PT. Yiwan Mining
("Yiwan") ("EOQA").

Pursuant to the relevant regulations promulgated in Indonesia,
unprocessed ore export by mining business licence holders in
Indonesia (“IUP Holders”) has been banned from 12 January 2014
onwards unless the IUP Holders have carried out processing and
refining domestically according to Government Regulation No.
23 of 2010 regarding implementation of activities of business of
minerals and coal mining and have conducted refining and smelting
in accordance with Law No. 4 of 2009 regarding minerals and coal
mining (“Export Ban"”). Due to the Export Ban, Yiwan can no longer
export unprocessed ore to the Group.

RERIBOM

HOZENTE
REBBABAUEBHELE HEK REES
RS mE ¥ BB - BERF  REEE—
3 B2PT. Yiwan Mining ([ Yiwan ) 25T BB ERIE
M ([BREERZ]) XERUEEBRIGEE
AHRE-

RILENER M HAEBEEG  DEFBESERE
BAUPEEADMAKEEBALEONE
—E—A+_BREZE L EIUPEEABR S
T —TEHATROIE235% (GEMREY R E
HEBER) TEETEERER WADIKR S
ST NFEEGIEAS (BERREY RE)#ETIE
BRERRASBIER MR ([HORE]) AR AR
ZFYiwan TBEAEBR L O RERENEA -

After the Export Ban, the ore trading business of the Group continued HAZEEwE NEBZBAZESEKN -T
suspension in the year of 2018. —N\FHETE-
Annual Report 2018 Nickel Resources International Holdings Company Limited 1
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Management Discussion and Analysis

CECEE

Besides the direct impact on the ore trading business, the Export
Ban also adversely affected the manufacturing of iron and special
steel products. Without ore supply in stable price under the EOA, the
Group had to purchase the ores from the PRC market with volatile ore
price fluctuation which affected the cost of manufacturing of the iron
and special steel products.

Operating environment in the year of 2018
The steel product price fluctuated during the year of 2018.

Despite the rebound of the PRC steel market since 2016, we remain
pessimistic about the steel market in the PRC in the short term due
to the continuation of over-supply and the persisting weak steel
price under fierce competition in the steel market. Although the PRC
government started to implement certain solutions to mitigate the
over-supply situation, we expect the prices of iron and steel products
may continue to fluctuate in the near future. However, in the long
term, we expect the global economy will gradually recover and the
economy of the PRC will maintain its healthy growth trend. Going
forward, domestic market in the PRC will become quality-oriented,
which will impose higher requirements on products in terms of
environmental-friendliness, safety and durability, sustainability and
recycling. We expect that the quantitative demand for high quality
steel products will increase significantly in the long run, and product
development will incline to the high-end market.

To capture these business opportunities, the Group has shifted to the
production of high quality iron and special steel products through
the application of more environmental-friendly production method.
Moreover, the Group completed the innovation on the new "high-
strength special steel” product in 2014 which can be applied to
bridge construction, offshore oil platform construction, marine
construction, ship construction, power transmission engineering
and marine transport facilities. The Directors believe that the “high-
strength special steel” product can contribute substantially to the
Group's future operating profits upon the successful continuing
exploration, development, recognition and application of the new
“high-strength special steel” products in the PRC steel market in the
near future.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

EHBERIWES

BUSINESS REVIEW

Project Progress

In the PRC

Lianyungang City East Harvest Mining Company Limited, a wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company, has constructed a production
plant to produce nickel fine powder. The first production line of
the production plant started trial production in 2012. The nickel
fine powder can be treated as finished product for direct sales;
alternatively, it can be treated in a blast furnace and processed into
nickel-iron alloy fluid, which becomes a high-quality raw material for
the production of stainless steel. The Lianyungang plant applies low
carbon metallurgical technology developed by the Group. Ordinary
coal, rather than coke used in traditional process, is used in the
reduction purification process, under which the consumption of
carbon may decrease by up to 40%. In addition, the plant can utilise
low grade nickel ore for production, the cost of which is much lower
than that used in traditional production process. The project is highly
recognised by the local government. Moreover, the plant is situated
at the Lianyungang port and benefits from geographical advantages.
Ores and other raw materials from overseas can be conveniently
transported to the plant, largely reducing the inland transportation
costs and logistics pressure.

In Indonesia

On each of 11 March 2018 and 8 June 2018, the Group entered
into a sale and purchase agreement with Mr. Sun, who is an
indirect shareholder of the Subscriber, pursuant to which the Group
agreed to sell an aggregate 14% equity interest in SEAM to Mr.
Sun at an aggregate consideration of RMB420 million (equivalent
to approximately HK$479.3 million) conditional upon, amongst
others, obtaining approval from shareholders of the Company at
an extraordinary general meeting and resumption of trading of the
Company's shares.

Along with the disposal of 14% equity interest in SEAM, the Group
is actively assessing the available financing sources and considering
any possible alternatives, including but not limited to, co-operation
with local enterprises or PRC giant steel manufacturer for building up
special steel mills in Indonesia.
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Business Development

Ore trading business

The Group purchases ores from Indonesia through the EOA at
fixed price for self-use or for sale, and has started selling ores to
third parties since the end of 2009. The ore trading business had a
remarkable contribution to our profitability and cash flows due to
strong demand from the PRC customers in the past.

However, the ore trading business of the Group has been suspended
upon the Export Ban and it is anticipated that this will have a
continuous significant negative impact on the financial and operating
results of the Group.

It is possible that the relevant mining regulations in Indonesia may
be amended but there is no guarantee that the Export Ban will be
uplifted in near future.

The Directors are considering any possible alternatives, including but
not limited to, co-operation with local enterprises or PRC giant steel
manufacturer for building up special steel mills in Indonesia.

Special steel-making operations

For the special steel-making operations of the Group, sales volume
increased enormously as compared to the year of 2017 whereas
the profit margins lowered during the year. Yongtong Special Steel
continued to provide sub-contracting services to external customers
by utilisation of its existing production capacity for enhancing its cash
flow position and generating stable revenue. During the year, the
Group recorded sub-contracting service income amounted to HK$28.0
million.

In August 2018, in order to explore different avenues to further
enhance the business operation, the Group entered into a strategic
cooperation agreement (the “Cooperation Agreement”) with a
strategic partner (the “Strategic Partner”), pursuant to which the
Group agreed to provide its fixed assets and the Strategic Partner
agreed to provide management personnel, technical support and a
loan of not more than RMB100 million for production of the steel
products by utilising the production plants of the Group. Pursuant to
the Cooperation Agreement, the Strategic Partner has undertaken
enhancement work on the production plants of the Company in
order to strengthen the existing production capacity and its ability,
during which the production of certain production facilities has been
temporarily suspended.
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We expect while the keen competition in the steel market of the
PRC will continue in 2019, the demand for steel products will
gradually pick up. Following the Environmental Protection Bureau
taking measures to monitor and control the air pollution index since
2016, we expect the environmental protection issues will continue in
2019 and the supply of the stainless steel products market may be
affected. Therefore, the Group will take this opportunity to produce
substantially the stainless steel products in demand in near future. The
Group is also proactively developing and launching new high-value-
added special steel products and identifying PRC and overseas markets
with growth potentials to strengthen our product portfolio and reduce
the market concentration risk.

Financing Arrangement

As at 31 December 2018, the Group had net current liabilities of
approximately HK$4,172.1 million. The Group has been actively
negotiating with PRC and overseas banks and institutional investors
for new borrowings and renewal of existing borrowings when they fall
due. During the year, the Group had successfully obtained bank and
other borrowings of HK$200.8 million to finance its operation and for
repayment of its borrowings when they fall due.

In addition, based on the framework agreement with a potential
investor for the disposal of 30% equity interest of SEAM, a wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Group, the aggregate consideration will be
approximately US$150 million (equivalent to approximately HK$1,170
million). The transaction is still in progress or may be modified in near
future (currently under negotiation with relevant parties) due to the
rapid change in operating and regulatory environment of SEAM, and
the potential investor needs more time for conducting due diligence
work.

On each of 11 March 2018 and 8 June 2018, the Group entered
into a sale and purchase agreement with Mr. Sun, who is also an
indirect shareholder of the Subscriber, pursuant to which the Group
agreed to sell an aggregate 14% equity interest in SEAM to Mr.
Sun at an aggregate consideration of RMB420 million (equivalent to
approximately HK$479.3 million).
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Subscription

Subscription agreement

References are made to the announcements of the Company dated
7 March 2016 and 29 September 2016 in respect of, among other
things, the (i) proposed issue of Subscription Shares under the Specific
Mandate; (ii) application for the Whitewash Waiver; and (iii) Special
Deal (the “Subscription Announcements”). Unless otherwise stated,
capitalised terms used in those announcements shall have the same
meanings as defined in the Subscription Announcements.

On 5 March 2016, the Company and a potential investor (the
“Potential Investor” or “Subscriber”) entered into a share subscription
agreement pursuant to which the Subscriber agreed to subscribe
for a total of 1,465,898,410 new ordinary shares of the Company
at a subscription price of approximately HK$0.1876 per share (the
“Subscription Shares”), with proposed gross proceeds totalling
HK$275 million (the “Subscription”), subject to certain conditions
precedent which, among others, include the following:

o approval from the Company’s shareholders, or independent
shareholders when appropriate, for (i) allotment and issuance
of the Subscription Shares; (ii) a Whitewash Waiver; and (iii) a
Special Deal (as defined hereunder), at the extraordinary general
meeting of the Company (“"EGM");

o Whitewash Waiver being granted by The Securities and Futures
Commission of Hong Kong (“SFC") in respect of any obligation
of the Subscriber and parties acting in concert with it to make
a mandatory general offer in cash for all the issued shares and
other relevant securities of the Company not already owned (or
agreed to be acquired) by the Subscriber and parties acting in
concert with it which might otherwise arise as a result of the
Subscription;

o the consent from the SFC for repayment to any creditor who
is a shareholder of the Company using the proceeds from the
Subscription under a proposed debt restructuring as mentioned
below (the “Special Deal”);

o approval of resumption of trading of the Company’s shares, and
listing of the Subscription Shares from the Stock Exchange; and
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o completion of a debt restructuring by the Company by way
of the “Schemes” (the “Debt Restructuring Proposal”). The
debt restructuring refers to a plan for restructuring of the
indebtedness of the Company which involves, among other
things: (i) the reduction and cancellation of the outstanding
principal amount of the Bonds by at least 80%; (ii) the reduction
and cancellation of all the outstanding accrued interests of the
Bonds; (iii) the release and discharge of all security collateral
provided in relation to the 12% Coupon Senior Bonds and the
8% Coupon Convertible Bonds; and (iv) the reduction of and
cancellation of all other indebtedness and contingent liabilities
of the Company as referred to in the Debt Restructuring
Proposal, by at least 80%.

On 29 September 2016 and 23 September 2017, the Company
and the Subscriber agreed to extend the Long Stop Date from 31
December 2016 to 30 September 2017 and from 30 September 2017
to 30 June 2018 respectively.

Supplemental Subscription Agreements

On 21 May 2018 and 10 June 2018, the Subscriber, the Company
and Mr. Dong Shutong entered into the Supplemental Subscription
Agreements, pursuant to which the Subscriber, the Company and
Mr. Dong Shutong, being the chairman and executive Director of the
Company, agreed to supplement and/or amend certain terms and
conditions of the Subscription Agreement as follows:

Long Stop Date

Pursuant to the Supplemental Subscription Agreements, the Company
and the Subscriber agreed to further extend the Long Stop Date from
30 June 2018 to 30 September 2018 or such other date as may be
agreed by the Company and the Subscriber in writing from time to
time.
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Condltions Precedent
Pursuant to the Supplemental Subscription Agreements:

M

18

The conditions precedent to Completion as contemplated under
the Subscription Agreement (as set out in the section headed
“Conditions Precedent” in the Company’s announcement dated
7 March 2016), which require (i) approvals by the Shareholders,
or Independent Shareholders when appropriate, at the EGM;
(i) grant of the Whitewash Waiver by the Executive to the
Subscriber; and (iii) consent to the Special Deal by the Executive,
are expanded to include all the necessary Shareholders’ or
Independent Shareholders’ approval(s) and waiver(s)/consent(s)
by the Executive in relation to not only the Subscription but all
the transactions and arrangements contemplated under the
Resumption Proposal.

Subject to all the other conditions precedent to Completion
having been satisfied or waived (if applicable) before the
Long Stop Date, the Subscriber agreed to waive the following
conditions:

(i) a written confirmation having been given by the Stock
Exchange and the SFC (if applicable) confirming that
they have no further comments on the announcement in
relation to the resumption of trading in the Shares on the
Stock Exchange and/or the Resumption Proposal; and

(i) the approval of resumption of trading in the Shares having
been obtained from the Stock Exchange (subject to other
Resumption Conditions having been satisfied and such
Resumption Conditions not having adverse effect on
the transactions contemplated under the Subscription
Agreement or the right of the Subscriber thereunder), and
such approval not having been revoked.
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Settlement of consideration

The Subscriber will pay no more than HK$150 million (as set out in
the section headed “Use of proceeds and future business plan” in
the Company’s announcement dated 7 March 2016) directly to the
designated trust account of, or such other account as directed by,
the scheme administrator pursuant to the Debt Restructuring under
the Resumption Proposal on the Completion Date, subject to all the
Conditions Precedent having been satisfied or waived (as the case may
be).

Post-completion obligation of the Company

The Company must fulfil the following conditions (”Post-completion
Obligation”) within 2 months from the Completion Date or on or
before 5 October 2018, whichever is later (“Post-completion Long
Stop Date”):

(i) all the Resumption Conditions and the conditions set out in the
LRC Decision Letter (including any other resumption conditions
as imposed or amended by the Stock Exchange from time to
time) having been satisfied in full; and

(i)  the approval from the Stock Exchange to the resumption of
trading in the Shares having been obtained and such approval
not having been revoked.

In the event the Company fails to fulfil the Post-completion Obligation
on or before the Post-completion Long Stop Date or such later date as
the parties to the Supplemental Subscription Agreements may agree,
the Company shall, subject to the applicable rules and regulations,
use its best endeavours to facilitate the Subscriber to receive in cash
an amount equivalent to the sum of (i) the actual consideration paid
by it under the Subscription, and (i) 10% of such actual consideration
paid (being the finance costs and administrative expenses incurred in
connection with the Subscription) (together, the “Agreed Amount”)
on or before the expiration of the 18th months from the Post-
completion Long Stop Date (the “Due Date").

Such endeavours shall not involve any transfer of Shares from the
Subscriber to the Company, Mr. Dong Shutong and/or any other
person which will trigger any obligation to make a mandatory general
offer to the Shareholders under Rule 26.1 of the Takeovers Code by
any person.
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Guarantee

The Company’s Post-completion Obligation and its obligation to
facilitate the Subscriber’s receipt of the Agreed Amount on or before
the Due Date are unconditionally and irrevocably guaranteed by Mr.
Dong Shutong. In the event the Subscriber fails to receive the Agreed
Amount in full on or before the Due Date, Mr. Dong Shutong, being
the guarantor, shall be obligated to pay to the Subscriber the shortfall
of the Agreed Amount together with interest thereon calculated at
the rate of 0.05% per calendar day and accruing from the Due Date
up to (and including) the date on which the Agreed Amount is paid
in full. Such guarantee shall not involve any transfer of Shares from
the Subscriber to Mr. Dong Shutong and/or any other person which
will trigger any obligation to make a mandatory general offer to the
Shareholders under Rule 26.1 of the Takeovers Code by any person.

Save as disclosed above, other terms and conditions of the
Subscription Agreement remain unchanged.

On 29 September 2018, the Company and the Subscriber agreed to
further extend the Long Stop Date from 30 September 2018 to 31
December 2019 or such other date as may be agreed by the Company
and the Subscriber in writing from time to time.

Update on the status of the Debt Restructuring Proposal
Bonds

References are made to the announcements of the Company dated
30 May 2016, 24 June 2016 and 7 July 2016 regarding the convening
of Meetings and Adjourned Meetings of Bondholders (the “Bond
Announcements”). Capitalised terms used herein have the same
meanings as those defined in the Bond Announcements unless
defined otherwise.

20 BEREBIZERERDA

ER

ARRZEREBERERERBITREHANK
ZHWRHE R EEHESREEEGENTR
TRIBEHHIELR - (e FRMBTT RAER BB B s 2 BT
ZUBmESRE EEBEE FRERA)KE
BEERARBITXNHBESR ERERKSEE
H0.05% 2 MEFERFHRREEE (RERE)H
ETRETHENEBRFZMNE - BREFREAET
BRARBIMESBEER HEMEMALE
FEEMRG (RBEEERNATREEETRIR
A6 1ARRELBGIEEZWEBHZ E@MEME)

W EXFTREE SN RO E A R R
R T o

RZFB-NFAAZ+NRB ARFERER
EHRETKBEHAE-_TE-N\FALA=TH#E—
FRERE-_ZT-NAF+ _A=t—HHAQAH
RBH AR TEEEBE 2 BREMAR-

BREARBRR 2EH

&%
BRAARRBEHRR/R-_T—R"FAA=F+H =
E-RNERATHBER-Z-R"ELALRZ
NE NBERARESHAAREGREHRAE
(MEZRE]) BRIFEREFRTE - MR AR
EHFAERMAEERLBHEREE -

R N\FEERE



Management Discussion and Analysis

EHBERIWES

Since December 2014, the Group had continuous default in payment
of due interest and principal under the terms and conditions of the
Bonds, the default may trigger a cross-default in accordance with
respective terms and conditions of the Bonds. In such an event, DB
Trustees (Hong Kong) Limited, in its respective capacities as trustee
for the holders of the Bonds is entitled to, amongst other things,
accelerate the Company’s obligations under the Bonds and declare
the outstanding principal amounts of the Bonds to be immediately
due and payable, together with outstanding interest and all other
sums payable. Upon the passing of the Extraordinary Resolutions
by the Company on 21 June 2016 and 6 July 2016, no Senior
Bondholder or Convertible Bondholder shall demand repayment of
any amount due under such Bonds or take any action to enforce
the payment of monies or exercise any other right thereunder or
otherwise take any action against the Company whether or not under
the terms and conditions of such Bonds or request or require the
relevant bonds trustee to take any action against the Company from
the date of the Extraordinary Resolutions to (and including) the date
upon which the Schemes are implemented.

As disclosed in the announcement of the Company dated 13 June
2016, (i) the principal amount of the 12% Coupon Senior Bonds
of HK$390,990,000 and the accrued interest of HK$90,769,000
were outstanding; (ii) the principal amount of the 8% Coupon
Convertible Bonds of HK$117,525,000 and the accrued interest of
HK$18,725,000 were outstanding; and (iii) the principal amount of
the Modified 10% Coupon Bonds of HK$28,400,000 and the accrued
interest of HK$5,996,000 were outstanding as at 12 June 2016.

Background of the meetings of the Bondholders

As disclosed in the announcement of the Company dated 7 March
2016, completion of the Subscription is conditional upon, among
other things, the necessary order of the High Court of Hong Kong
and consent of the other relevant parties with respect to the execution
of an approved scheme of arrangement between the Company and
the creditors under the Debt Restructuring Proposal having been
obtained.
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As an initial step of the Debt Restructuring Proposal, separate
meetings of the Convertible Bondholders, the Senior Bondholders and
the 10% Bondholders were convened in order to give effect to the
following:

the Convertible Bondholders to be treated as a separate and
single class under the Schemes, not as part of the class of
secured creditors of the Company, who are creditors under
the Schemes nor as part of the same class as the Senior
Bondholders;

the Senior Bondholders to be treated as part of the same class
as the existing unsecured creditors of the Company (including
the 10% Bondholders), who are creditors under the Schemes;

the cancellation of all outstanding principal on the Bonds;

the cancellation of all outstanding interest, accrued and unpaid,
on the Bonds; and

the release and discharge of all of the Convertible Bonds
Security and the Senior Bonds Security, respectively,

in return for, in the case of the Senior Bonds and the 10% Bonds, a
Cash Distribution and in the case of the Convertible Bonds, either a
Cash Distribution or a Shares Distribution. No Convertible Bondholders
shall be entitled to receive a combination of a Cash Distribution
and a Shares Distribution. For details, please refer to the Bond
Announcements.
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Meetings of the Bondholders

Separate meetings of the Convertible Bondholders, the Senior
Bondholders and the 10% Bondholders were convened by the
Company to consider and, if thought fit, pass separate extraordinary
resolutions of the Convertible Bondholders, the Senior Bondholders
and the 10% Bondholders, as the case may be (the "Extraordinary
Resolutions”):

o for the Convertible Bondholders and the Senior Bondholders, as
the case may be, to agree, and to instruct the relevant bonds
trustee and the Security Trustee, not to enforce the Security
in relation to the Convertible Bonds and the Senior Bonds, as
the case may be, from the date of the meeting to the date the
Schemes become Effective, or if the Debt Restructuring Proposal
is not approved at the Scheme Meetings, the completion of the
Scheme Meetings;

o to approve the terms of the Debt Restructuring Proposal; and

o to give instructions to the relevant Bonds Trustee to vote the full
principal amount of the relevant Bonds which are outstanding
in favour of the Schemes at the Scheme Meetings and any
adjourned or rescheduled Scheme Meeting.

Results, adjournment and dissolution of the meetings of the
Bondholders

As at the date of the Meetings of the Bondholders, according to
DB Trustees (Hong Kong) Limited, in its capacities as trustees for the
relevant Bonds, the outstanding principal amounts of the Convertible
Bonds, the Senior Bonds and the 10% Bonds were HK$87,850,000,
HK$390,990,000 and HK$28,400,000, respectively.

The Company announced that:

(@ as aquorum was not present at the Meeting of the Convertible
Bondholders convened and held at 10:30 a.m. (Hong Kong
time) on 21 June 2016 after 15 minutes since the time
appointed for holding such Meeting, such Meeting was
adjourned in accordance with the terms of the Convertible
Bonds Trust Deed to 6 July 2016 at 10:30 a.m. (Hong Kong
time) at the same address as the original Meeting of the
Convertible Bondholders, i.e. Room 3501, 35th Floor, China
Merchants Tower, Shun Tak Centre, 168-200 Connaught Road
Central, Hong Kong. The notice for the adjourned Meeting of
the Convertible Bondholders will be published in accordance
with the terms of the Convertible Bonds Trust Deed.
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(b) the Meeting of the Senior Bondholders convened and held at
11:00 a.m. (Hong Kong time) on 21 June 2016 was quorate at
the first calling and the number of votes cast at such Meeting
was as follows:

(b) —F— /\E/\H + EitF"f__HTJ—_E(%
BER)MARRBITELESHEARE
REXERBEEEIEAS BERE LI
ERANEHNT

FOR AGAINST

B %)

Total number of votes cast BEEH 14,270 104

Votes as a percentage of all votes cast (%) BRZE(H2IBATHRZELRHE D (%) 99.28% 0.72%
Votes as a percentage of all outstanding BEE2HTAREEELEFNE (%)

Senior Bonds (%) 91.24% 0.67%

As at least three-quarters of the votes cast at the Meeting of
the Senior Bondholders were cast in favour of the Extraordinary
Resolution, the Extraordinary Resolution put forward to the
Senior Bondholders was passed, and will become effective
subject to the Extraordinary Resolution to be considered by the
Convertible Bondholders also being passed at the adjourned
Meeting of the Convertible Bondholders (or any further
adjournment thereof). No holder of the Senior Bonds was
required to abstain from voting on the Extraordinary Resolution
at the Meeting of the Senior Bondholders; and

(0 as a quorum was not present at the Meeting of the 10%
Bondholders convened and held at 11:30 a.m. (Hong Kong
time) on 21 June 2016 after 15 minutes since the time
appointed for holding such Meeting, as agreed by the Company
and the 10% Bonds Trustee, such Meeting was dissolved in
accordance with the 10% Bonds Trust Deed.

Results of the adjourned meeting of the convertible bondholders
As at the date of the adjourned Meeting of the Convertible
Bondholders, according to DB Trustees (Hong Kong) Limited, in
its capacity as trustee for the Convertible Bonds, the outstanding
principal amount of the Convertible Bonds was HK$46,775,000.
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The Company announced that the adjourned Meeting of the
Convertible Bondholders convened and held at 10:30 a.m. (Hong
Kong time) on 6 July 2016 was quorate and the number of votes cast
at such adjourned Meeting was as follows:

RRBEM RZB-—RELARB EFTR=1
2 (FERE) BRRBITHABBRESRFE AL
HAESDEAEAR FHTEHAS LRERR
FRENT -

FOR AGAINST

B ¥

Total number of votes cast REEH 1,446 285

Votes as a percentage of all votes cast (%) BEEEIMEEENE D (%) 83.54% 16.46%
Votes as a percentage of all outstanding BEM2HREETRRESFNE D (%)

Convertible Bonds (%) 77.28% 15.23%

As at least three-quarters of the votes cast at the adjourned
Meeting of the Convertible Bondholders were cast in favour of the
Extraordinary Resolution, the Extraordinary Resolution put to the
Convertible Bondholders was passed and became effective. No holder
of the Convertible Bonds was required to abstain from voting on the
Extraordinary Resolution at the adjourned Meeting of the Convertible
Bondholders.

The Extraordinary Resolution put to the Meeting of the Senior
Bondholders which was passed on 21 June 2016 has also become
effective from the time the Extraordinary Resolution put to the
Convertible Bondholders at the adjourned Meeting of the Convertible
Bondholders was passed.

Scheme meetings

Following the passing and effectiveness of the Extraordinary
Resolutions on 6 July 2016, the Company prepared the necessary
documents to submit to the courts for the creditors’ approval and
court sanction for the Cayman Scheme and Hong Kong Scheme
under the Debt Restructuring Proposal. As disclosed in the Company’s
announcements, completion of the Subscription is conditional upon,
among other things, the approval of the Schemes by the courts under
the Debt Restructuring Proposal. The application to the courts and the
approval of the Schemes by the creditors at the Scheme Meetings will
be the next steps towards the satisfaction of the condition precedent
to completion of the Subscription.
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On 3 July 2018, the Company received a letter from Stock Exchange
which stated that the Listing Committee was not satisfied that the
Company had fully met the conditions set out in the LRC Decision
Letter and decided to cancel the Company’s listing status under
Practice Note 17 to the Listing Rules. The Board strongly disagrees
with such Decision. More importantly, due to the uncertainty given
rise by the Decision, the court convening hearings in relation to
the Schemes for the Grand Court of the Cayman Islands and the
Hong Kong High Court, which were originally scheduled for 3 July
2018 and 10 July 2018 respectively, have been adjourned, and the
implementation of the Resumption Proposal and thus the fulfillment
of all resumption conditions will be adversely affected.

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Turnover and sales volume

Major income of the Group were manufacturing of ferro-nickel alloys,
Ni-Cr alloy steel ingot and stainless steel products and sub-contracting
services. The table below sets out the turnover and sales volume of
our products for the years indicated:

Turnover

R-B-N\FLRA=H ARAEEBRIAEL
ZEE FEEETEZRERATNERALARREC TR
HeELm (BR)ZESRESHFMAGHE AR
ERE EMARRANE17RHERESIBUEAR AR LT
W -BEFEBRNRHZRE -TEEMNE AR
FREFMELEZTHEE RER_T—N\Ft
A=ZBR-_F-NFLtATENIRHAEREX
ERREBERSFERETCABER L8R
AMOEH MEREZENERARERFABE
IR AN E -

g JEI)

ERENEE
AEEZIBZRARBEREAS RS H
8% Ko N 5 6 E o K S 5 B am D0 T AR 75 » TR
AEEERMRATFE 2 EXBENHEE

BRE

For the year ended 31 December

BE+-—A=+—HLEE

2018 2017
—E-N\EF —E—+F
HK$'000 % HK$'000 %
TR % T %
Iron and Special Steel Products: #RIFMETR :

Ni-Cr alloy steel ingot IRi8 G S 273,629 61% 18,748 6%
Stainless steel products 85 8 2 on 65,752 15% 187,480 63%

Ferro-nickel alloy steel ingot BEe e REM
and others 80,838 18% 50,114 17%
Sub-contracting services #8854 0 T AR A% 27,988 6% 40,088 14%
Total et 448,207 100% 296,430 100%
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Sales volume

For the year ended 31 December

BE+=-A=+—HLEE

2018 2017
—E-N\F —ZE—+tF
(tonnes) % (tonnes) %
(N % (N %
Iron and Special Steel Products: & &4 :

Ni-Cr alloy steel ingot RIEE S 68,220 39% 3,525 3%
Stainless steel products N85 8 72 18,656 11% 44,006 35%

Ferro-nickel alloy steel ingot BEE i RHM
and others 21,154 12% 13,048 10%
Sub-contracting services #2245 0 T AR 7% 66,937 38% 65,305 52%
Total et 174,967 100% 125,884 100%

In 2018, the turnover of the Group recorded a significant increase of
HK$151.8 million, or 51.2%, to HK$448.2 million (2017: HK$296.4
million) due to the recent rebound of the PRC steel market.

More than half of the revenue of the Group in 2018 was contributed
by sales of Ni-Cr alloy steel ingot, which was increased by HK$254.9
million or 1363.1% to HK$273.6 million (2017: HK$18.7 million). The
sales volume was significally increased by 64,695 tonnes, or 1835.3%
to 68,220 tonnes (2017: 3,525 tonnes). The average selling price
per tonne was lowered by HK$1,308, or 24.6% to HK$4,011 (2017:
HK$5,319).

Sales of stainless steel base materials were decreased by HK$121.7
million, or 64.9% to HK$65.8 million (2017: HK$187.5 million). The
sales volume was decreased by 25,350 tonnes, or 57.6% to 18,656
tonnes (2017: 44,006 tonnes). The average selling price per tonne
was decreased by HK$736, or 17.3% to HK$3,524 (2017: HK$4,260).

Sales of Ferro-nickel alloy steel ingot and others were increased
by HK$30.7 million or 61.3% to HK$80.8 million (2017: HK$50.1
million). The sales volume was increased by 8,166 tonnes or 62.1%
to 21,154 tonnes (2017: 13,048 tonnes). The average selling price
per tonne was decreased by HK$20, or 0.5% to HK$3,821 (2017:
HK$3,841).
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Sub-contracting services income to an external customer was
decreased by HK$12.1 million, or 30.2% to HK$28.0 million (2017:
HK$40.1 million). The service volume was increased by 1,632 tonnes,
or 2.5% to 66,937 tonnes (2017: 65,305 tonnes). The average service
income per tonne was decreased by HK$196, or 31.9% to HK$418
(2017: HK$614).

Cost of sales

The cost of sales in 2018 was increased by HK$183.1 million, or
71.1%, to approximately HK$440.7 million (2017: HK$257.6 million).
The increase in cost of sales was consistent with increase in sales.

Gross profit

The Group’s recorded a gross profit amounted to HK$7.5 million
in 2018 (2017: HK$38.9 million). The gross profit margin in 2018
was 1.7% (2017: 13.1%). The gross profit margin fluctuated mainly
caused by the market price changed on different product mix during
the year.

Other gains, net

The gain of HK$26.6 million (2017: gains of HK$42.4 million) in 2018
was mainly composed of government subsidy received from PRC local
government and write off of other payables. The gain in 2017 was
mainly composed of gain on deconsolidation of subsidiaries.

Selling and distribution expenses

Selling and distribution expenses in 2018 were increased by
HK$0.1 million, or 6.4%, to HK$2.4 million (2017: HK$2.3million),
representing 0.5% of turnover (2017: 0.8%).

Administrative expenses

Administrative expenses in 2018 were decreased by HK$19.6 million,
or 9.2%, to HK$194.7 million (2017: HK$214.3 million). The decrease
in administrative expense was mainly due to implementing cost
control measures.

Finance costs
Finance costs in 2018 were decreased by HK$2.7 million, or 0.8%, to
HK$341.2 million (2017: HK$343.9 million). Decrease in finance cost
was mainly due to repayment of certain loans with higher interest rate
during the year.
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Other expenses

Other expenses were composed of provision for impairment of
prepayments and other expenses in 2018 were increased by HK$0.4
million, or 11.3% to HK$4.1 million (2017: HK$3.7 million).

Loss before income tax

As a result of the factors discussed above, the loss before income tax
for the year ended 31 December 2018 was HK$509.0 million (2017:
HK$472.7 million). The Group’s loss before income tax margin was
113.6% (2017: 159.5%). The loss before interest, tax, depreciation
and amortisation (LBITDA) margin was 21.6% (2017: 17.6%).

Income tax expense

The applicable Hong Kong profits tax rate of the Company and its
subsidiaries which operate in Hong Kong is 16.5% based on existing
legislation. The entities within the Group which operate in the PRC are
subject to corporate income tax at rate of 25% for the year ended 31
December 2018.

Loss for the year and loss attributable to shareholders

As a result of the factors discussed above, the Group’s 2018 loss for
the year was HK$509.0 million (2017: HK$472.7 million) and the
2018 loss attributable to owners of the Company was HK$509.0
million (2017: HK$472.4 million).

Key financial ratios

Hapx
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T —+FE37EBHET) -
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=+ —HIEFEMRSEEAIEEA500.08 88
TT(ZE—EF 4278 8BE L) - ALBKRFE
MAIEREA113.6% (- T —+4F:159.5%) °
BRF B - BLIE - 378 R 55 AT 2 BB (LBITDA) R &
216% (ZFE—+%F:17.6%) °
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BRBRITED RRRREREBEE ZHBER
AIERBREFSHNER16.5%  BE-T—/\F
TZAZ+-BLEFE AKERTEGE R
BRIR25% 2 LR B RS HL -

FEEBEERBRREMLER
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FEEEBAS.08EBTTL(ZFT—+EF:472.78
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ERMBHER

For the year ended 31 December

BE+=-A=+—HLEE

Notes 2018 2017

hy=3 —E-N\E —E—+tF
Current ratio mB L % 1 9% 9%
Inventory turnover days VAP ELA=E 2 153 days H 254 days B
Debtor turnover days FEUBR A B 3 63 days A 92 days B
Creditor turnover days R ERFBE R 4 167 days H 191 days H
Interest cover BHAEF BEE 5 -0.5 times & -0.4 times
Interest-bearing gearing ratio FEERARILE 6 -207% -305%
Debt to LBITDA ratio & {EHLBITDALL X 7 -26.4 times f& -48.7 times f&
Net debt/Capital and net debt ratio Fal ArmFEELE 8 137% 125%
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Note:
1. Current assets/Current liabilities x 100%
Inventories
2. X 365 days
Cost of sales
Trade and notes receivables
3. x 365 days

Turnover

Trade and notes payables
4. x 365 days
Cost of sales

Loss before interest and tax

5.

Net interest expense

Interest-bearing loans and other borrowings
6. (including convertible bonds) x 100%
Equity attributable to the owners of the parent
; Interest-bearing loans and other borrowings (including convertible bonds)
) LBITDA

Net debt*

8. , X 100%
Capital and net debt

* Net debt included bank and other borrowings, convertible bonds (the liability

component), trade and notes payables and other payables and accruals less cash
and cash equivalents and pledged time deposits.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment as at 31 December 2018 mainly
comprised plant and machinery. The decrease in balance by HK$33.4
million or 7.8% to HK$395.5 million (2017: HK$428.9 million) was
mainly attributable by the depreciation charges for the year.

Intangible asset
The intangible asset solely represents the unamortised amount of the
EOA from Yiwan secured by the Group in May 2007.

Inventories

The inventory turnover days were decreased from 254 days in 2017 to
153 days in 2018. As at 31 December 2018, inventories balance was
increased by HK$5.3 million, or 2.9%, to HK$184.7 million (2017:
HK$179.4 million). Increase in inventory balance was mainly due to
increment of sales activities.

Trade receivables

The debtor turnover days were decreased from 92 days in 2017 to
63 days in 2018. As at 31 December 2018, trade receivables balances
were increased by HK$2.1 million, or 2.8%, to HK$77.0 million (2017:
HK$74.9 million) mainly due to increase in sales in the fourth quarter
of year 2018.

30 BEREBIZERERDR

1. REBEE/REARE x 100%

2. T8
x 365H
SHEKA
3. FE UK B 3R R R W R A
x 365H
-
n LTI G
- x 365H
SHERA
3 B 8RB AR
FE R FE
AEERNEMER
6 (BiETREES) X 100%
BRRMAE AELES
; FTEERMEMEE (BETREKES)
) LBITDA
. & fFE
: — X 100%
AR B EFE

* EEFEBERITERRAEMESR TREES (AED
)~ AT AR N RE A SR8 I EL M A AR IR K B ST B 0
BRERREEEYREERERFR

R-B-—NE+_A=+—Bz2Y% BEAR
HBEEZREME LR - FHERR3I3488E
JL7.8% E395. 5B 8B IL (T —+F 142898
BEL)NETERARFATEER -

BREE
BN EEERASER _STTELFRARRFZ
Yiwan& 5 5K B 15 i 2 R B SH 5K0R o

78

GFEREBEHA T —tF2254BRLE-T
—NFZI5B3B-R=_F— N\F+_A=+—8H"
GEEBIENS3EE B TH29%E184.7E EF
TL(ZZE—EF 1794888 T) - FEEBIEN
FERANHEZEILMNATE

FE U BR =X
EUERRAEASEA T —tF2NARIEZ
E-N\EZ3H-R_E—)\F+-A=+—H"
FEMBR FRAE SR D12 1B BB TTE2.8%E77.068
BIL(ZE—+HF 749588 T) TBHEER=
T N\FEMOEEHEE M-

“ER-N\FEEHRS



Management Discussion and Analysis

CEEE )

Prepayments, deposits and other receivables

As at 31 December 2018 prepayments, deposits and other receivables
balance was increased by HK$27.2 million, or 24.2%, to HK$139.2
million (2017: HK$112.0 million). The increase in balance was mainly
due to increase in payments to other suppliers.

Cash and cash equivalents and pledged time deposits
The aggregate amount of cash and cash equivalents and pledged time
deposits was decreased by approximately HK$15.8 million, or 78.7%,
to HK$4.3 million as at 31 December 2018 (2017: HK$20.1 million).

Trade and notes payables

The creditor turnover days was decreased from 191 days in 2017 to
167 days in 2018. As at 31 December 2018, trade and notes payables
balance was increased by HK$67.3 million, or 50.0%, to HK$201.7
million (2017: HK$134.4 million). The increase in trade and notes
payables balance was mainly due to increased purchase in the fourth
quarter of year 2018. The trade payables are unsecured, interest-free
and are normally settled on terms of 60 to 180 days while the bank
bills are generally on terms of 90 to 180 days.

Convertible bonds
There was no conversion or repayment of the convertible bonds
during the year.

Bank and other borrowings

As at 31 December 2018, total bank and other borrowings balance
was increased by HK$22.3 million, or 0.9%, to HK$2,516.1
million (2017: HK$2,493.8 million). Increase in the bank and other
borrowings was mainly due to new financing granted to the Group
during the year.

Liquidity, going concern and capital resources

During the year ended 31 December 2018, the Group incurred a loss
of approximately HK$509.0 million and had a net operating cash
outflow of approximately HK$49.7 million. As at 31 December 2018,
the Group’s had a shareholders’ deficit of HK$1,240.2 million and
current liabilities exceeded its current assets by HK$4,172.1 million. Its
total bank and other borrowings amounted to HK$2,562.9 million are
overdue or repayable on demand. The cash and cash equivalents of
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Annual Report 2018 Nickel Resources International Holdings Company Limited 31



-
N

Management Discussion and Analysis

CECEE

Following the Export Ban which has substantially affected the cash
generating ability from operations of the Group, a series of remedial
measures to mitigate the liquidity pressure were taken in 2018 to
improve its financial and liquidity position of the Group, details
of which are set out in the section headed “Going Concern and
Mitigation Measures” under the Corporate Governance Report of this
annual report. Please also refer to the details regarding uncertainties
on the going concern of the Group as stipulated in the section
headed “Going concern” in Note 2.1(a) to the consolidated financial
statements.

The Group's working capital has been principally sourced from cash
generated from operations and from long-term and short-term
borrowings.

As at 31 December 2018, the Group had current liabilities of
HK$4,577.3 million, of which HK$2,516.1 million were bank and
other borrowings repayable within one year, overdue or due for
immediate repayment and HK$1,804.3 million were other payables
and accruals.

Interest rate risk

The Group's bank borrowings mainly bear floating rates. The Group
has implemented certain interest rate management which includes,
among the others, closely monitoring of interest rate movements and
refinancing on existing banking facilities or entering into new banking
facilities when good pricing opportunities arise.

Foreign currency risk

The Group's purchase and sales for the year are mainly denominated
in Renminbi (“RMB”). As at 31 December 2018, the bonds were
denominated in Hong Kong dollar (“HK$"”) while bank and other
borrowings were mainly denominated in RMB, and other assets and
liabilities of the Group are mainly denominated in RMB.

As at 31 December 2018, the Group did not enter into any hedging
transactions to manage the potential fluctuation in foreign currency as
the Directors considered the Group had no significant foreign currency
risk. However, the Group will closely monitor the foreign currency
risk and consider using necessary financial instruments for hedging
purposes if they foresee the foreign currency risk is significant.

Material acquisitions and disposals of investments

The Group did not undertake any material acquisitions or disposals of
investments during the year under review.

32 REREBIZERERDA

BAEMNREZR AEEKEELRSENE
AEFE AEER T — \FRIR—ZIIHE
MBESBEN 2 HRER ANEAEENIT B
EnRBESRRN BRFBEENAFRIEEE
AMERT [HBKERNERER] —H-FAKX
SERBERLEPENTHBEEFE 5F2H
e BEmRME2.1a) [FERLE ] —Hi-

AEBEEESTERARKLE R MBRE
AR EHREERESR -

R-E—NF+_B=+—H AEBZRHE
BER457T7I3EBE B EF2516. 188 BTAA
R—FREECANNENREEZRITERNL
Ha{EE M1,80438 &B L)1 AEAENFIE
K e st 5008

R 2= @b
AEENRTEEIZERFIPHNXRFAE - AKH
BEERETHXEEREE 2F (EPEE) &
DBEBEMNERB R ARARTEBETERERL
ERUMNEERS LRI HARITRUE

SME LBR
FAAEEZEETZUARB (AR
BR-_E-NFT_A=1+—B BEFUET
(DB aHE MBI REMERIEZEUAR
BitE URAEEEMEERABEIENAR
BEtE-

RZFB-NF+_A=+—H AREERR/A
SEYBEBSAIMNERR WAKEL LA HEE
BESNE R B M HETT A EA 5 - AT Ak E
15 2 ) e PR HME [\ fix - 3 A TR R B R HME [l Bk
ERMNAUENE R T RETEH-

EXRBBRHERSE
AEEREBEFEYBETEAYBRHERE -

R N\FEERE



Management Discussion and Analysis

CEEE )

ENVIRONMENTAL ISSUES

The Board believes that a sound environmental, social and governance
("ESG") structure is vital for continued sustainable development of
the Group. Meanwhile, the Group wishes to enhance its transparency
to achieve and uplift the sense of environmental protection and
social caring amongst various stakeholders. The Group encourages
employees, customers, business partners and other stakeholders to
boost their ESG concerns in this sustainable development journey.

The Group strives to promote the overall standard of domestic
environmental protection and contribute to its green sustainable
development in order to meet the changing needs of an advancing
society. During the year, designated staff are assigned to enforce and
supervise the implementation of relevant ESG policies.

An ESG report is being prepared in accordance with the Appendix
27 Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting Guide to the
Rules and Guidance Governing the Listing of Securities on The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited and will be published on
the Company’s and the Stock Exchange's websites. This ESG report
is designed to allow the public to have a more comprehensive
and profound understanding of the Group's performance on
environmental protection and corporate social responsibility.
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DECISION OF THE LISTING (REVIEW) COMMITTEE
Following the Review Hearing held on 5 December 2017, the Listing
(Review) Committee informed the Company by a letter dated 12
December 2017 (the “LRC Decision Letter”) that it decided to set
aside the cancellation of the Company’s listing status to enable the
Company to proceed with implementing the Resumption Proposal.
This decision is subject to compliance with the following conditions to
the satisfaction of the Listing Department:

(a

34

submit (i) a letter addressing to the Company from the
Company'’s auditors explaining the impairment assessment of
certain intangible assets of the Company for the years 2014
to 2016; and (i) a written commentary from the Company
incorporating the views of its auditors on any material audit
qualifications on the Company’s next audited consolidated
financial statements and any material impairment of the
Company'’s intangible assets should the Resumption Proposal
be implemented as planned; to the Listing Department within
3 months from the date of the LRC Decision Letter (i.e. 12
March 2018);

the transactions and arrangements contemplated under the
Resumption Proposal shall be supported by signed and legally
binding agreements within 6 months from the date of the LRC
Decision Letter (i.e. 12 June 2018) and evidence thereof be
provided to the Listing Department by way of certified copies
of all such agreements;

a circular to the shareholders (in substantially final form)
regarding the implementation of the Resumption Proposal
shall be submitted to the Listing Department and, in relation
to Takeovers Code matters, the Securities and Futures
Commission for clearance within 6 months from the date
of the LRC Decision letter (i.e. 12 June 2018) and shall be
in form and content satisfactory to the Listing Department
both in relation to the implementation of the Resumption
Proposal itself and that the Company would be able to comply
with Rule 13.24 of the Listing Rules and meet all resumption
of trading conditions previously identified by the Listing
Department to the Company;
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(d) the documents necessary for the scheme of arrangement of
the Company shall be formalised within 6 months from the
date of the LRC Decision Letter (i.e. 12 June 2018);

(e) the implementation of the Resumption Proposal shall be
completed by 30 September 2018, should the Resumption
Proposal be approved by the Company’s shareholders; and

(f) the Company shall report to the Listing Department
on a 3-month basis, reporting on the progress of the
implementation of the Resumption Proposal.

It is also stated in the LRC Decision Letter that should the Company
fail to comply with any of the above conditions to the satisfaction of
the Listing Department, the listing of the Company’s shares on the
Stock Exchange will be cancelled.

FULFILMENTS OF THE RESUMPTION CONDITIONS
Pursuant to the LRC Decision Letter, details of which are set out
in the Company’s announcement dated 13 December 2017, the
Listing (Review) Committee decided to set aside the cancellation
of the Company’s listing status to enable the Company to proceed
with implementing the Resumption Proposal subject to certain
conditions. Since then, the Company has been working closely with
its professional advisers in fulfilling the conditions set out in the LRC
Decision Letter. According to the timeline, the Company submitted:

(i) a letter addressing to the Company from the Company’s
auditors explaining the impairment assessment of the
intangible assets of the Company for the years 2014 to 2016
and a written commentary from the Company incorporating
the views of its auditors on any material audit qualifications on
the Company’s next audited consolidated financial statements
and any material impairment of the Company’s intangible
assets should the Resumption Proposal be implemented as
planned to the Listing Department (i.e. condition (a) in the LRC
Decision Letter);
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(ii) certified copies of all the signed and legally binding
agreements in relation to the transactions and arrangements
contemplated under the Resumption Proposal to the Listing
Department (i.e. condition (b) in the LRC Decision Letter);

(iii) a draft circular to the regulators regarding the implementation
of the Resumption Proposal and the Company’s fulfilment
of Rule 13.24 of the Listing Rules and all other resumption
conditions imposed by the Listing Department (i.e. condition
(€) in the LRC Decision Letter);

(iv) the Scheme documents to the Hong Kong High Court and
the Grand Court of the Cayman Islands for leave to convene
the Schemes meetings (i.e. condition (d) in the LRC Decision
Letter); and

(v) reports dated 12 March 2018 and 12 June 2018 respectively,
on the progress of the implementation of the Resumption
Proposal to the Listing Department (i.e. condition (f) in the LRC
Decision Letter).

In June 2018, the Company reviewed its progress of the Resumption
Proposal and fulfillments of the Resumption Conditions and believed
that the Resumption Proposal would be completed by 30 September
2018 (i.e. condition (e) in the LRC Decision Letter).

DISRUPTION TO THE RESUMPTION PROPOSAL

In stark contrast to the above achievements, the Listing Department
issued a letter to the Company stating that the Listing Department
recommended the Listing Committee to cancel the Company's listing
status. It was followed by the Decision on 3 July 2018 which stated
that the Listing Committee was not satisfied that the Company had
fully met the conditions set out in the LRC Decision Letter and decided
to cancel the Company’s listing status under Practice Note 17 to the
Listing Rules.
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The Board strongly disagreed with such Decision and was most
concerned whether the Company’s case had been assessed fairly,
in particular the Company was aware of certain actual, perceived
or potential conflict of interest in the composition of the Listing
Committee.

More importantly, due to the uncertainty given rise by the Decision,
the court convening hearings in relation to the Schemes for the
Grand Court of the Cayman Islands and the Hong Kong High Court,
which had originally been scheduled for 3 July 2018 and 10 July
2018 respectively, were adjourned. The investors and creditors of the
Company are also concerned as to whether the Company will still be
able to continue with the implementation of the Resumption Proposal
and whether the resumption of the Company will take place and
have been reassessing whether to provide the Company with further
funding support.

The Decision has indeed caused substantial disruption to the
restructuring of the Company and hence adversely affected the
financial and operational performance of the Company which was
already picking up that time.

LATEST DEVELOPMENT

On 15 October 2018, the Company received a letter from the Listing
(Review) Committee stating that the Listing (Review) Committee was
not satisfied that the Company had fully met the condition imposed
by the Listing (Review) Committee set out in its letter dated 12
December 2017 and therefore decided to uphold the Listing (Review)
Committee’s decision to cancel the Company’s listing under Practice
Note 17 to the Listing Rules (the “LRC Decision”).

The Company does not understand the reasoning of the LRC Decision
and as the concern whether the Company’s case has been assessed
fairly remains un-resolved. Under Rule 2B.07 of the Listing Rules, the
Company referred the LRC Decision to the Listing Appeals Committee
for a further and final review. The review hearing of the Listing
Appeals Committee (the “LAC Review Hearing”) has been scheduled
for 5 June 2019.
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COMPLIANCE WITH RULE 13.24 OF THE LISTING
RULES

Pursuant to Rule 13.24 of the Listing Rules, an issuer shall carry out,
directly or indirectly, a sufficient level of operations OR have tangible
assets of sufficient value AND/OR intangible assets for which a
sufficient potential value can be demonstrated to the Stock Exchange
to warrant the continued listing of the issuer’s securities. This means
that an issuer shall be allowed to continue its listing if it is able to
meet any ONE of the above continuous listing requirements.

Despite the disruption to the Resumption Proposal as mentioned
in the paragraphs headed “DISRUPTION TO THE RESUMPTION
PROPOSAL" as set out on page 36 of this annual report, the Company
continued to utilise its existing assets to generate revenue and positive
gross profit in 2018. Revenue of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2018 was HK$448.2 million (2017: HK$296.4 million).
The Group has also recovered from a gross loss in 2015 and recorded
gross profit for three consecutive years since 2016.

Tangible assets values of the Group as at 31 December 2018 were
approximately HK$961.4 million (2017: HK$988.5 million), which
mainly consist of fixed assets by way of land and building and plant
and machineries for the generation of revenue and gross profit.

The book value of the intangible assets of the Group amounted to
approximately HK$2,384.5 million as at 31 December 2018 (2017:
HK$2,384.5 million), comprising the exclusive offtake right pursuant
to which the Group could purchase ores from Indonesia at a fix price.
On 11 March 2018 and 8 June 2018, the Company entered into the
disposal agreements to disposal in aggregate 14% equity interest
in SEAM, the subsidiary which held the exclusive offtake right, at a
total consideration of RMB420 million, representing a premium of
over 40% to its book value. Although the disposals are yet to be
completed, a consideration beyond the book value is already a good
enough indicator to justify the value of the intangible assets.

Given the foregoing, the Board considers that the Company has
already demonstrated its compliance with Rule 13.24 of the Listing
Rules to warrant its continued listing. This position will be enhanced
further should the Stock Exchange allow the Group to complete
the proposed restructuring, which was previously estopped by the
Decision, in the year ending 31 December 2019.
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DIRECTORS

Executive Directors

Mr. Dong Shutong, aged 67, was appointed as Director of the
Company on 16 March 2004 and is currently an Executive Director,
the Chairman, the Chief Executive Officer, a member of the
Remuneration Committee and the Chairman of the Nomination
Committee of the Company. He is responsible for formulating the
Group's overall business plans and strategies. Mr. Dong is the founder
of the Group. He has been the Director of Yongtong Special Steel,
an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, and a number
of subsidiaries of the Company since 1993. He was involved in the
management and day-to-day operations on a full time basis. He
served as the vice manager and senior economics and technology
consultant of Ministry of Metallurgical Industry Metallurgy News
Information Development Company (A€ T ¥ Z )8 & MiAEE
FEAA]) in 1989. Formerly, the said company was the Ministry’s
department responsible for news and major reports about the
metallurgical industry. Mr. Dong was also appointed as the director of
Synthesis Department of the World Metallurgical Products Exhibition
in 1990. The said organization was primarily involved in the activities
relating to exhibitions of metallurgical products. In 1992, he was
appointed as the general manager of Henan Sanen Industry Sci-
Tech Industrial Company CAE =B TE R EE R A]) . The said
company was primarily involved in research and development of
industrial technologies. Between October 1984 and April 2004, the
business of refractory materials factory, a factory principally involved in
production and management of refractory materials, was contracted
out to and managed by Mr. Dong. He was both the plant manager
and the sole legal representative of the refractory materials factory
from 1984 to 2004. He has also served as a part-time associate
professor in the field of economics at Wuhan University of Science
and Technology since 2002. He graduated from the Metallurgy
Department of Wuhan Iron and Steel College in 1989. He received
his Trade and Economics Degree from Graduate School of the
Chinese Academy of Social Sciences in 2000 too. During the years
from 1985 to 1994, he has been honoured many times by various
PRC government authorities for his outstanding achievement in
advancement of technology. He has also been awarded the “Award
for Achievement in Development of the World Patented Technologies”
for his outstanding contribution to the area of patented technologies.
In addition, he won a gold medal from Hong Kong Organising
Committee of the International Patent Technology Expo for his project
of condenser type bicomponent nozzle in 2001, and was named “The
World’'s Qutstanding Chinese Entrepreneur” by the World Chinese
Entrepreneur Association in 2004. Moreover, he was appointed
as a member of Zhengzhou Overseas Exchange Association, and
was elected as a joint-committee member as well as the member
representative of Zhengzhou Enterprises Association in 2003. In
2004, he was appointed as a representative of the Zhengzhou's
Twelfth National People’s Congress. Mr. Dong was awarded one of
the Hundred Outstanding People of the Year in Industrial Economics
by the People of the Year in China’s Industrial Economics Award’s
Organising Committee in April 2005. Mr. Dong also published two
books, CH &% % &) & 1& — ¥ 18 £ B ¥ /K H) (What's behind the
New Economy — The Emergence of Spiritual Economy) in 2001 and
CFEreEEEP R EE A ) (Spiritual Value and the Transformation
of the Chinese Economy) in 2002.
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Mr. Dong is the father of Mr. Dong Chengzhe, an Executive Director
of the Company. He is also the sole shareholder and sole director
of Easyman Assets Management Limited (“Easyman”), and the
substantial and controlling shareholder of the Company.

Mr. Dong Chengzhe, aged 40, was appointed as an Executive
Director of the Company on 12 March 2007 and was also appointed
as Deputy Chief Executive Officer of the Group. He graduated
from Wuhan University of Science and Technology with a Diploma
in International Trade. He also obtained a Bachelor Degree in
Accountancy from Royal Melbourne Institute of Technology and a
Master Degree of International Finance from Deakin University in
Australia. He joined the Group in 2007 and was responsible the
finance and international trading activities of Yongtong Special Steel,
an indirectly wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company. He was the
general manager of Yongtong Special Steel, an indirectly wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company. Prior to joining the Group, he
was an owner of an international trading company in Australia. He
is the son of Mr. Dong Shutong, Executive Director, Chairman, Chief
Executive Officer and the substantial and controlling shareholder of
the Company.

Mr. Wang Ping, aged 63, was appointed as an executive director of
the Company on 10 October 2014. Mr. Wang joined the Company as
deputy chief executive officer of the Company on 1 September 2014.
Mr. Wang graduated from the University of Science and Technology
Beijing with a doctor degree in 1991 and possessed certain
technology patents related to metallurgy of iron and steel. Mr. Wang
possesses over 24 years of experience in metallurgy of iron and steel.

Mr. Wang has held positions in various organisations, including being
associate professor and professor of Ministry of Metallurgical Industry
and commissioner of scientific research of University of Science and
Technology Beijing from 1992 to 2000. From 2000 to 2004, Mr
Wang was the general manager of Zhengzhou Yongtong Special
Steel Company Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company.
From 2004 to 2006, Mr. Wang was the general manager of Shenyang
Toyo Steel Company Limited and from 2007 to 2014, as the chief
engineer and deputy chief executive officer of the metallurgy division
under Hanking Industrial Group Co., Ltd. From 2013 to 2014, Mr.
Wang acted as the executive director and chief executive officer of
PT. Karyatama Kona Utara, PT. Konutara Prima and PT. Konutara
Sejati, companies incorporated in Indonesia and are the subsidiaries
of China Hanking Holdings Limited (stock code: 03788) whose shares
are listed on the Stock Exchange, and was responsible for their overall
management and daily operation.

From 2009 to 2013, Mr. Wang was also an non-executive director
of Shandong Molong Petroleum Machinery Company Limited (stock
code: 002490 and 0568), which shares are listed on Shenzhen Stock
Exchange and The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited.
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Mr. Song Wenzhou, aged 50, was appointed as an Executive
Director of the Company on 2 May 2005 and is responsible for the
Group's administrative, marketing and staff development matters.
Prior to joining the Group in July 1995, he had been a teacher at the
Zhengzhou Institute of Technology. He graduated from Beijing Open
University in 1987 with a Bachelor Degree in Linguistics and Phonetics.
He also received his Bachelor Degree in Chinese Language and
Literature from Henan Normal University in 1992 and Bachelor Degree
in Legal Studies from Central Broadcast and Television University in
2003. Since joining the Group in 1995 until February 2004, Mr. Song
was also responsible for the administrative matters at the refractory
materials factory.

Mr. Yang Fei, aged 41, was appointed as an Executive Director of the
Company on 30 August 2010 and was also appointed as Authorised
Representative of the Company on 1 August 2011. He has joined
the Company as the assistant to the Chairman of the Company
since 2006 and was also appointed as the Company Secretary and
Authorised Representative of the wholly owned subsidiary, Zhengzhou
Yongtong Special Steel Co., Ltd. Mr. Yang was the manager of the
Information Technology Department (October 2002 to August 2003)
and the general manager of the Market Development Department
(August 2003 to August 2006) of China Life — CMG Life Assurance
Company Limited. Prior to joining China Life — CMG Life Assurance
Company Limited, Mr. Yang was the assistant manager of the
International Business Department of Guangdong Branch, China Life
Insurance Company Limited from August 1998 to June 2001. Mr.
Yang graduated with a Bachelor Degree in Economics from Beijing
University in June 1998 and a Master of Science Degree in Economics
from London School of Economics and Political Science in June 2002.
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Non-executive Director

Mr. Yang Tianjun, aged 75, was appointed as a Non-executive
Director of the Company on 2 May 2005. He joined the Group
in 2005 and was appointed as a member of Audit Committee on
27 August 2018. Mr. Yang worked in Ministry of Metallurgy Forty
Company (V& € I Z A 7)) and then in Angang Steelwork (%
8ff] fs% 81 g ) for a total of 14 years as a technician and then an
engineer. He was the Principal of University of Beijing Science and
Technology for the period from 1993 to July 2004, and has been
a professor and mentor of doctorate students of the Metallurgy
Department of University of Beijing Science and Technology until
retirement in February 2015. Since 1989, he was honoured with
nine first-grade, second-grade or third-grade State Scientific and
Technological Progress Awards in both national and provincial levels
for his outstanding contributions to the State by conducting scientific
researches in metallurgical projects. He was the Chairman of Sino-
German Co-operative Research Project studying the multi-purpose
uses of niobium. He was invited by the Research Institute of Industrial
Science and Technology of Korea to lead the research in air-refined
coal spray in blast furnace, and participated in a research with the
Metallurgical Research Institute in coal spray in blast furnace and the
mathematical model. He published over 70 academic papers locally or
overseas and 6 books specialised in metallurgy. He was appointed as
the vice chairman of Chinese Society of Metals in 2001 and a member
of the Fifth Graduate Committee of the State Council ( B %z &1 &
S )in 2003.

Mr. Yang graduated in 1965 from the Metallurgical Department of
Beijing Iron and Steel College. He completed his postgraduate study
in 1981 and obtained a Master Degree in Metallurgy from the Beijing
Iron and Steel Institute. In 1985, he was granted scholarship from
Humboldt-University zu Berlin and conducted a joint research with the
RWTH-Aachen University in Germany, and was awarded a Doctorate
Degree in 1986.

Mr. Yang was the independent directors of Xinyu Iron & Steel Group
Co., Ltd. (FrertfE A H AR A R]) , Gansu Jiu Steel Group Hongxing
Iron & Steel Co., Ltd. (H 7R/ 5 & = B A% D AR A 7)) and
BGRIMM Magnetic Materials and Technology Co., Ltd. (It B &}
FRD AR A F]) . All of these companies are listed on the Shanghai
Stock Exchange. Mr. Yang resigned from the position of independent
directors of all these companies in December 2015.
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Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Bai Baohua, aged 77, was appointed as an Independent Non-
executive Director of the Company on 2 May 2005. He is also a
member of the Audit Committee and Nomination Committee of the
Company. Mr. Bai was appointed as the chairman of Remuneration
Committee on 27 August 2018. He has over 40 years' experience in
the metallurgy. He worked as an engineer, a manager and then the
general manager of China Metallurgical Products’ Import & Export
Company (B E#EH A2 7R]), a company primarily involved in
the trading of metals. He was also appointed as the general manager
of China International Steel Investment Company ( # B2 B8B5 8 &
& /A7]), a company primarily involved in promotion of foreign
investment in the steel industry in the PRC. In addition, he was the
general manager, the vice chairman and the legal representative
of China Iron and Steel Industry and Trade Group Corporation, a
company primarily involved in production and trade of steel. He
graduated from the Metal Pressure Processing Department at Beijing
Iron and Steel College in 1965.

Mr. Huang Changhuai, aged 83, was appointed as an Independent
Non-executive Director of the Company on 2 May 2005. He is the
Chairman of the Remuneration Committee and a member of the
Audit Committee and Nomination Committee of the Company. He
worked for a printing and dyeing mill as production supervisor, a
political director and then deputy director. He was appointed the
deputy director of the Municipal Economic System Reform Committee
of Zhengzhou Municipal Government, and as the director of the
Municipal Industrial and Communication Development Committee at
the Third Session of the Eighth People’s Congress of Zhengzhou City
in 1985. He was then appointed at the Twelfth Session of the Eighth
People’s Congress of Zhengzhou City as the director of the city’s
Economic Committee in 1986. He was also appointed the deputy
director of the Standing Committee of the People’s Congress of
Zhengzhou City. He graduated in September 1958 from Zhengzhou
Textile School. Mr. Huang resigned as an independent Non-executive
director, the chairman of the Remuneration Committee and a member
of the Audit Committee and Nomination Committee on 27 August
2018.
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Mr. Wong Chi Keung, FCCA, FCPA, ACMA, ACIS, aged 64, was
appointed as an Independent Non-executive Director of the Company
on 2 May 2005. He is the Chairman of the Audit Committee
and a member of the Remuneration Committee and Nomination
Committee of the Company. He joined the Company in May 2005.
Mr. Wong holds a Master Degree in Business Administration from
University of Adelaide in Australia. He is a Fellow Member of the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants, the Association
of Chartered Certified Accountants and CPA Australia. He is also
an Associate Member of both the Institute of Chartered Secretaries
and Administrators and the Chartered Institute of Management
Accountants. Mr. Wong was an executive director, the deputy
general manager, group financial controller and company secretary
of Guangzhou Investment Company Limited (now known as Yuexiu
Property Company Limited) for over ten years. Mr. Wong has over 40
years of experience in finance, accounting and management.

Mr. Wong is currently an independent non-executive director and
a member of the audit committee of Asia Orient Holdings Limited,
Asia Standard International Group Limited, Century City International
Holdings Limited, China Ting Group Holdings Limited, Fortunet
e-Commerce Group Limited, Golden Eagle Retail Group Limited,
Paliburg Holdings Limited, Regal Hotels International Holdings
Limited, TPV Technology Limited, Yuan Heng Gas Holdings Limited
and Zhuguang Holdings Group Company Limited, all of which are
listed on the Stock Exchange. He was also formerly an independent
non-executive director of China Shanshui Cement Group Limited (the
Shares of which are listed on the Stock Exchange) from 2 February
2016 to 22 May 2018), an independent non-executive director of
ENM Holdings Limited, the shares of which are listed on the Stock
Exchange, from 17 June 2010 to 8 June 2017, and independent non-
executive director of Heng Xin China Holdings Limited, the shares of
which are listed on the Stock Exchange, from 17 October 2016 to 18
September 2017.
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Mr. Fahmi Idris, aged 75, was appointed as an Independent Non-
executive Director of the Company on 24 August 2010. Mr. Idris
graduated with a Degree in Law from University of Padjadjaran
in 2010 and a Degree in Economics from University of Indonesia
in 1969. He is currently the Commissioner of Maskapai Asuransi
Parolamas (an insurance company), PT. Parama Bina Tani (an
agrochemical company), PT. Kodel Invesindo Nusa (a trading and
investment company), PT. Krama Yudha (an automotive company)
and the President Commissioner of PT. Permadani Khatulistiwa
Nusantara (a hotel and tourism company), PT. Permadani Propertindo
Development (a property company), PT. Tamarindo Nusa Hotel, PT.
Permadani Khatulistiva Dewata (a hotel and tourism company) and
PT. Kodel (a trade and investment company). From 1981 to 1987, he
was the President Commissioner of PT. Encontrade Pratama Indonesia
(an engineering and construction of electrical and mechanical
installation company). From 1984 to 1987, he was the Vice President
Commissioner of PT. Wahana Muda Indonesia (a construction and
engineering firm). From 1986 to 1992, he was the Commissioner
of Bank Susila Bhakti. From 1987 to 1990, he was the President of
PT. Permadani Teleconsult Pratama. From 1987 to 2004, he was the
President Director of PT. Niigata Santana (a diesel engine and injection
and moulding machine manufacturing company). From 1991 to 2003,
he was the President Commissioner of PT. Bintara Tani Nusantara (a
company engages in the plantation of palm oil and cocoa). From 1991
to 1994, he was the Commissioner of PT. Java Indonusa Motors and
from 2000 to 2003, he was the President Commissioner of PT. Kodel
Margahayu Telindo.
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Mr. Idris is currently a member of the Board of Fund Supporters of
Andalas University, Padang, West Sumatera. From 1967 to 1968, he
was Member of People’s Consultative Assembly of the Republic of
Indonesia. From 1987 to 2004, he was a member of Parliament of
the Republic of Indonesia. From 1967 to 1968, he was the Treasurer
of the Indonesian Chambers of Commerce and Industry. From 1994
to 1998, he was the Vice Chairman of the Supervisory Council
Indonesian Chamber of Commerce and Industry. Mr. Idris was the
Minister of Manpower of the Republic of Indonesia from 1998 to
1999 and from 2004 to 2005, he was also the Ministry of Industry of
the Republic of Indonesia from 2005 to 2009.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Choi Kwok Keung Sanvic, was appointed as the financial
controller and the company secretary of the Company with effect
from 3 June 2014. Mr. Choi, aged 51, is a qualified accountant
and a fellow member of Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. He has extensive experience in financial and auditing
field, and has experience in the position of the financial controller and
the company secretary in Hong Kong listed company.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company established an audit committee pursuant to a resolution
of the Directors passed on 2 May 2005 in compliance with Rule 3.21
of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange
(the “Listing Rules”). The primary duties of the audit committee are to
review the financial reporting process and internal control procedures
of the Group. The audit committee consists of three Independent
Non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Wong Chi Keung, Mr. Bai
Baohua, Mr. Huang Changhuai (resigned on 27 August 2018) and Mr.
Yang Tianjun (appointed on 27 August 2018). Mr. Wong Chi Keung
was elected chairman of the audit committee.

The audit committee’s specific terms of reference were posted on the
Company's website.
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The Directors present their report and the audited consolidated
financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December
2018.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activities of the Company are investment holding and
trading of ore. The Group is principally engaged in the manufacturing,
sub-contracting and sale of iron and steel products in the PRC and the
trading of ore. Details of the principal activities of the subsidiaries are
set out in Note 17 to the consolidated financial statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A review of the business of the Group during the year and a
discussion of the Group's future business development are set out
in the Chairman’s Statement on pages 8 to 9 of this annual report.
Description of the possible risks and uncertainties facing by the Group,
the Group's performance during the year and the key financial ratios
are set out in the Management Discussion and Analysis on pages 11
to 33 of this annual report.

SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Group's revenue and loss for the year ended 31 December 2018
were primarily derived from the manufacturing, sub-contracting and
sale of iron and special steel products to customers. Accordingly, no
segmental analysis by business is presented for the year ended 31
December 2018. Geographical information analysis is set out in Note
5 to the consolidated financial statements.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS
The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2018 are
set out in the consolidated income statement on page 87.

The Directors do not recommend the payment of a final dividend for
the year ended 31 December 2018 (2017: Nil).
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ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING AND CLOSURE OF
REGISTER OF MEMBERS

The Annual General Meeting (the “AGM") of the Company will be
held on Monday, 10 June 2019.

The register of members of the Company will be closed from Tuesday,
4 June 2019 to Monday, 10 June 2019, both days inclusive, during
which period no transfer of shares of the Company will be registered.
In order to be eligible to attend and vote at the AGM, all transfer
forms accompanied by the relevant share certificates must be lodged
with the Company’s share register in Hong Kong, Computershare
Hong Kong Investor Services Limited, at 17M Floor, Hopewell Centre,
183 Queen'’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong no later than 4:30 p.m.
on Monday, 3 June 2019.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the published results and of the assets, liabilities and
non-controlling interests of the Group for the last five financial years is
disclosed on page 4 of this annual report.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of the
Group during the year are set out in Note 14 to the consolidated
financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL, SHARE OPTIONS AND
CONVERTIBLE BONDS

Details of movements in the Company’s share capital, share options
and convertible bonds during the year are set out in Notes 29, 31 and
28 to the consolidated financial statements respectively.
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PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s
articles of association or the laws of the Cayman Islands which would
oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro rata basis to existing
shareholders.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT
The Company has maintained a sufficient public float throughout the
year ended 31 December 2018 and up to the latest practicable date
prior to the printing of this annual report.

PURCHASE, REDEMPTION OR SALE OF LISTED
SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries had purchased,
redeemed or sold any of the Company's listed securities during the
year.

EQUITY LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save for convertible bonds and share options granted to directors
and employees as disclosed in Notes 28 and 31 respectively to the
consolidated financial statements, no equity-linked agreements were
entered into by the Group, or existed during the year ended 31
December 2018.

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Company and of the
Group during the year are set out in Note 36 to the consolidated
financial statements and consolidated statement of changes in equity
set out on pages 91 to 92, respectively.
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DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 December 2018, the Company'’s reserves, including the share
premium account, available for distribution, calculated in accordance
with the provisions of Companies Law (2007 Revision) of the Cayman
Islands, amounted to HK$nil.

Under the laws of the Cayman Islands, the share premium account
and contributed surplus are distributable to the shareholders of the
Company provided that immediately following the date on which
the dividend is proposed to be distributed, the Company will be
in a position to pay off its debts as and when they fall due in the
ordinary course of business. The share premium account may also be
distributed in the form of fully paid bonus shares.

The reserves of the Group available for distribution depend on the
dividend distributable by the Company’s subsidiaries. For dividend
purpose, the amount which the Company’s subsidiaries in the PRC
can legally be distributed by way of a dividend is determined by
reference to their profits as reflected in the PRC statutory financial
statements which are prepared in accordance with accounting
principles generally accepted in the PRC. These profits differ from
those that are reflected in the Group’s consolidated financial
statements prepared in accordance with IFRS.
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

In the year under review, sales to the Group’s five largest customers
and to the largest customer accounted for 55% and 17% of the total
sales for the year respectively. Purchases from the Group's five largest
suppliers and from the largest supplier accounted for 34% and 13%
of the total purchases for the year respectively.

Apart from the information as disclosed in the paragraphs headed
“CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS” and “DIRECTORS' INTERESTS IN
TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS” in the Report
of the Directors, none of the Directors or any of their associates or
any shareholders of the Company (which, to the best knowledge of
the Directors, owned more than 5% of the Company’s issued share
capital) had any beneficial interest in any of the Group’s five largest
suppliers or customers.

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the year and as at the date of the report were:

Executive Directors

Mr. Dong Shutong (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Dong Chengzhe (Deputy Chief Executive Officer)

Mr. Wang Ping (Deputy Chief Executive Officer)

Mr. Song Wenzhou

Mr. Yang Fei

Non-executive Director
Mr. Yang Tianjun

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Bai Baohua

Mr. Huang Changhuai (resigned on 27 August 2018)
Mr. Wong Chi Keung

Mr. Fahmi Idris

Pursuant to article 87 of the Company’s article of association, Mr.
Dong Shutong, Mr. Wang Ping and Mr. Yang Tianjun, will retire as
Directors by rotation at the forthcoming annual general meeting of
the Company. All retiring Directors, being eligible for re-election,
will offer themselves for re-election at the forthcoming annual
general meeting. The Company has received annual confirmation of
independence from Mr. Bai Baohua, Mr. Wong Chi Keung and Mr.
Fahmi Idris and considers them to be independent.
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DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT'S
BIOGRAPHIES

Biographical details of the Directors and Senior Management are set
out on pages 39 to 46 of this annual report.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

None of the Directors proposed for re-election at the forthcoming
annual general meeting has entered into a service contract with
the Company which is not determinable by the Company within
one year without payment of compensation other than statutory
compensation.

DIRECTORS' REMUNERATION

The remuneration of the Directors is determined by the Remuneration
Committee with reference to the Directors’ duties, responsibilities and
performance and the results of the Group.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS

On 5 March 2007, SEAM, an indirect wholly owned subsidiary of
the Company, entered into the EOA with Yiwan, a limited company
incorporated in Indonesia and substantially owned by Mr. Soen Bin
Kuan, who at 31 December 2018 and the date of this report holds
more than 5% of the issued share capital of the Company. Pursuant
to the EOA, Yiwan agreed to exclusively sell and SEAM agreed to buy
the iron ores produced by Yiwan at a fixed price of US$16 per dry
tonne, for a minimum 40 million dry tonnes of iron ores throughout a
period of approximately 14 years expiring on 24 January 2021, which
has subsequently been extended by a supplemental agreement to
24 January 2036. Pursuant to the recommendation letter issued by
the Minister of Mineral and Coal on 25 June 2012 to the Minister of
Commerce which granted the export approval to Yiwan, the export
price of iron ore was changed to US$23.5 commencing from 1 July
2012. By virtue of the convertible bonds issued by Yiwan to S.E.A.
Mining Limited which is indirectly substantially owned by Mr. Dong
Shutong, Executive Director and Chairman of the Board, Mr. Dong
has an indirect interest in the EOA. Further details of the transaction
undertaken in connection therewith are included in Note 16 to the
consolidated financial statements.

Save for contracts amongst group companies and the aforementioned
transaction and in the paragraph headed “"CONNECTED
TRANSACTIONS” as set out on page 58 of this annual report, no
other transactions, arrangements or contracts of significance to which
the Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party in which a director
of the Company had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly,
subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during the year.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES
As at 31 December 2018, the interests and short positions of the
Directors in the shares, underlying shares (in respect of positions
held pursuant to equity derivatives) and debentures of the Company
and its associated corporation (within the meaning of Part XV of the
Securities and Futures Ordinance (“SFO")) which (a) were required
to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant
to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests and
short positions which they are taken or deemed to have under such
provisions of the SFO); or (b) were required, pursuant to Section 352
of the SFO, to be entered in the register referred to therein; or (c)
were required, pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions
by Directors of Listed Issuers as set out in Appendix 10 of the Listing
Rules (the “Model Code"), to be notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange were as follows:

(i) Long positions in the shares of the Company as at
31 December 2018:

Capacity in which interest

EERKRD HEROREERE ZEDZR
KB
R-E—N\E+-A=+—B EERARAR

HiguzE (E2RBFRBEHN ([EFEH LS
,\ﬂﬂﬁ‘JJ)%XV*B)ZHxT BB (AR

METERENRFEEMES) REEEY HH@IR
BEE M E GG EXVEET M ESH EAME R
REI BTz SRR R (BIEREES K
BRIz EBIEXHEWEERRIEHE 2R
KR ) b)) iRIEE 5 & B E 66 535216
BAHIAZIEH Pt & Re M 2 S AR (ORI
ETARBIMERI0ATH 2 ETBITAESETES

RSGHZXESTR (MZARSFA ) BN AR E) K

R ZRERNMARBIAT

i) R=FB-N\F+-A=+—HRZEXLQFH
BB ziFE:

Approximate
percentage to

the issued
voting shares

Name of Directors are held Number of shares of the Company

EEATERTH

ERERERGDZ

EENA BERZZSH RHEE BABEDL

Dong Shutong Held by controlled corporations (note) 1,465,898,410 47.47%
EE£8 RXEEEEE ()

Dong Chengzhe Beneficial owner 1,500,000 0.05%

EWE BEmEBA

Note: As at 31 December 2018, 1,441,042,410 shares and 24,856,000 shares
were held by Easyman and Sino Regent Worldwide Limited (“Sino
Regent”), respectively. As the entire issued share capital of each of
Easyman and Sino Regent is held by Mr. Dong, Mr. Dong is deemed to be
beneficially interested in such Shares by virtue of the SFO.
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(ii) Long positions in the underlying shares (in respect
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of positions held pursuant to equity derivatives) of

(i)
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the Company as at 31 December 2018: BHRMS)ZHR:

Approximate

percentage to

Number of the issued

Capacity in which interest share options voting shares

Name of Directors are held (note) of the Company

EAERTSBITH

BREHE BEREERGZ

EEHNE BEERZEH (HMiaE) BHABE D

Dong Shutong Held by spouse 1,500,000 0.05%
E5EB HECBEA

Dong Chengzhe Beneficial owner 1,500,000 0.05%
EE EmEEA

Song Wenzhou Beneficial owner 1,500,000 0.05%
RN EnfB A

Yang Fei Beneficial owner 1,500,000 0.05%
EFi EmfEEA

Note: The share options are unlisted equity-settled options granted pursuant to
the Company's share option scheme adopted on 2 May 2005 and expired
on 2 May 2015. Upon exercise of the share options in accordance with
such share option scheme. Shares are issuable to the option holder(s) who
exercise(s) the rights.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS' INTERESTS

AND SHORT POSITIONS IN THE SHARES AND
UNDERLYING SHARES (IN RESPECT OF POSITIONS
HELD PURSUANT TO EQUITY DERIVATIVES) OF THE
COMPANY

As at 31 December 2018, shareholders (other than the interest
disclosed above in respect of the Director who is also a substantial
shareholder of the Company) who had interests and short positions in
the shares and underlying shares (in respect of positions held pursuant
to equity derivatives) of the Company which have been disclosed to
the Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of
the SFO, or which were recorded in the register required to be kept by
the Company under Section 336 of the SFO were as follows:

Long positions in the shares and underlying shares (in
respect of positions held pursuant to equity derivatives)
of the Company as at 31 December 2018:

FERRNAQATRMD REERD (FAR
BERETETABANERAMS) P2k

BmRAR

RZF-NF+ZA=1T—H BR(FEELX
BERBSARBEIZRRZEZMSED) XA
NERGD AR (MRERETETARA
MRS )P BAREESF MG GOIEXVER
F2RFINEZREC AAR A - HAERA
NRARBESMEIGRDIFEIBGERERAFELE
ALz s FOA BT -

RZZB-NF+ZA=1+T—-HBREQTIARHG
REERS (BRERETETIASENER
MmE)ZER:

Number of shares/

underlying shares Approximate
(in respect of percentage to
positions held the issued
pursuant to equity voting shares
Name of Shareholders Capacity in which interest are held derivatives) of the Company
B 10 18 B AR 12
(RRERAE HARDAFDBHITH
FTETAEBFEN EREERGZ
EEHA BEERZEH BREMmMS)&E BHABEDE
Easyman Beneficial owner 1,441,042,410 46.66%
EmEBA
Soen Bin Kuan Beneficial owner 182,734,104 5.92%
TR##E ERnBBA
Sun Qiaodian (note 1) Beneficial owner 1,500,000 (note 2) 0.05%
FRIT8h (ML 1) EmEBA (MI5E 2)
Held by spouse 1,465,898,410 47 .47 %
HEERE
Notes: B 5E
1. Ms. Sun Qiaodian is the spouse of Mr. Dong Shutong, whose interest was 1. ROMLLTNEEREECERB ELENERNA—
disclosed in previous section. B B o
2. The share option are unlisted equity-settled options granted pursuant to the 2. ZERBREABRBEARANR-_STAFAA-HARAR

Company'’s share option scheme adopted on 2 May 2005 and expired on 2 May
2015. Upon exercise of the share options in accordance with such share option
scheme. Shares are issuable to the option holder(s) who exercise(s) the rights.
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Save as disclosed above, so far as was known to the Directors, there
was no other person who, as at 31 December 2018, had an interest
or short position in the shares, underlying shares (in respect of
positions held pursuant to equity derivatives) and debentures which
would fall to be disclosed to the Company under the provisions of
Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or, who was, directly or
indirectly, beneficially interested in 5% or more of the issued voting
shares of the Company; or were, directly or indirectly, interested
in 10% or more of the nominal value of any class of share capital
carrying rights to vote in all circumstances at general meetings of any
member of the Group.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

Pursuant to an ordinary resolution passed on 2 May 2005, the
Company adopted a share option scheme (the “Share Option
Scheme”) for the purpose of enabling the Company to recruit and
retain high-calibre employees and attract resources that are valuable
to the Group and to provide the Company with a means of giving
incentive to, rewarding, remunerating, compensating and/or providing
benefits to such persons who contribute or may bring benefit to the
Group. The Share Option Scheme remained in force for a period of 10
years from adoption of such scheme and expired on 2 May 2015.
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The options granted under the Share Option Scheme have an exercise
period of 10 years from the date of acceptance of the options, which
is in compliance with the terms of the Share Option Scheme, subject
to a vesting schedule of 5 years whereby only 20% of the options is
exercisable 12 months after the date of acceptance of the options and
an additional 20% of the options shall be exercisable by the grantee
in each subsequent year until the last day of the 5-year period after
the date of acceptance of the options when 100% of the options
become exercisable. Details of movements in the Company’s share
options during the year are as follows:

RIBBEAERT 8 2 650 REBREA IR L 2B
B ITERRZMABRES BEA S5
WX D FRBERERMAR B £20%2 BEHE
AREMIBREEE B12 A RITE - MARAR
WEEEZ —FITHERRI20%BARE  BEBARE
EZMARARRAFH &R AT AITEZERE
Pekg e FARRBBAME 2 ZEEFFHBWT

No. of share options

BREYA
Price of
Exercise Company's
Outstanding Outstanding price of shares at
as at Granted Exercised Lapsed as at share exercise date
1 January during the during the during the 31 December options of options
2018 period period period 2018 (note 1) (note 2)
ARARG
R=B-N% R=B-N% BRE RiERE
-A-H ‘I'— =t-H | TERNRE
HRTE RBRELT RERTE RBRENR HRTE (GER)) (HaE 2)
HKS HKS
B B
Directors Bz
Mr. Dong Chengzhe Bmiak 1,500,000 - - - 1,500,000 063 NATE S
Mr. Song Wenzhou RNk 1,500,000 - - - 1,500,000 063 NATE S
Mr. Yang Fei BREE 1,500,000 - - - 1,500,000 0.63 NATER
Sub-total for number of RYESZBRE
share options to Directors EEDS 4,500,000 - - - 4,500,000 - -
Employees and others EERAMAL 6,585,000 - - (6,585,000) - 245 NATER
22,300,000 - - - 22,300,000 0.63 NATE
Sub-total for number of RTEMERZ
share options to other employees  EEIREZIE /\if 28,885,000 - - (6,585,000) 22,300,000
Total b 33,385,000 - - (6,585,000) 26,800,000
Notes: s -
1. The exercise price of the share options is subject to adjustment in the case of rights 1. B 2 TR E AT AL A AR SR AL AR B AT A R RIR A 2

or bonus issues, or other similar changes in the Company's share capital.

2. The price of the shares of the Company as at the date of exercise of the share
options is the Stock Exchange’s closing price on the trading date immediately prior
to the date on which the share options were exercised.

H b BN By i 35 2
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DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed in the Share Option Scheme as set out in Note 31
to the consolidated financial statements, at no time during the year
ended 31 December 2018 was the Company, its holding company,
or any of its subsidiaries and fellow subsidiaries, a party to any
arrangements to enable the Directors to acquire benefits by means
of the acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any
other body corporate.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

Pursuant to the extraordinary general meetings of the Company
held on 28 January 2010 and 22 June 2012, the Company's
independent shareholders approved the continuing connected
transactions in relation to the exclusive ores purchase from Yiwan.
According to the EOA and supplemental agreements entered into
between Yiwan and SEAM in connection with the purchasing of ore,
Yiwan agreed to supply ore to the Group until 24 January 2036.
According to the EOA and supplemental agreements, the prices for
these continuing connected transactions would be US$16 per dry
tonne and subsequently adjusted to the new export price (“New
Export Price”) pursuant to the recommendation letter issued by the
Minister of Mineral and Coal on 25 June 2012 to the Minister of
Commerce of Indonesia. Pursuant to the terms of the EOA, SEAM
and Yiwan may agree to alter the purchase price if being directed by
the relevant governmental authorities. Since the New Export Price is a
price directed by the relevant governmental authorities of Indonesia,
SEAM and Yiwan have agreed to adopt the New Export Price as the
ore purchase price commencing from 1 July 2012 under the EOA.
These transactions will be entered into in usual and ordinary course
of business of the Group and the annual cap for these transactions
for the years ended 31 December 2012, 2013 and 2014 will not
exceed HK$998.4 million, HK$1,248 million and HK$1,248 million,
respectively. After the Export Ban, the Group did not purchase any ore
from Yiwan during the year ended 31 December 2018.

Save as disclosed in this annual report, none of the related party

transactions constitutes a continuing connected transactions or
connected transaction as defined under the Listing Rules.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN A COMPETING BUSINESS
During the year, none of the Directors had any interest in a business
which competes or is likely to compete, either directly or indirectly,
with the businesses of the Group.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

The Company has arranged for appropriate insurance cover for
Directors’ and officers’ liabilities in respect of legal actions against its
Directors and officers arising from corporate activities. The permitted
indemnity provision is in force for the benefit of the Directors and
officers throughout the year and remained in force up to the date of
this report.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company established an audit committee pursuant to a resolution
of the Directors passed on 2 May 2005 in compliance with Rule 3.21
of the Listing Rules. The primary duties of the audit committee are to
review the financial reporting process and internal control procedures
of the Group.

The audit committee consists of Mr. Wong Chi Keung, Mr. Bai
Baohua, Mr. Huang Changhuai (resigned on 27 August 2018) and
Mr. Yang Tianjun (appointed on 27 August 2018) — Independent Non-
executive Directors of the Company and Mr. Wong Chi Keung is the
Chairman of the audit committee.

The audit committee has reviewed with management the accounting
principles and practices adopted by the Group and discussed auditing,
internal control and financial reporting matters including the review of
the financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2018.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Company established a remuneration committee pursuant to a
resolution of the Directors passed on 10 April 2006 in compliance
with the Corporate Governance Code as set out in Appendix 14 of
the Listing rules (“CG Code”).

The remuneration committee consists of Mr. Wong Chi Keung, Mr.
Bai Baohua, Mr. Huang Changhuai (resigned on 27 August 2018) —
Independent Non-executive Directors of the Company and Mr. Dong
Shutong — Executive Director of the Company. Mr. Huang Changhuai
(resigned on 27 August 2018) and Bai Baochua (appointed on 27
August 2018) are the chairmen of the remuneration committee.
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Company established a nomination committee pursuant to
a resolution of the Directors passed on 30 December 2011 in
compliance with the CG Code.

The nomination committee consists of Mr. Wong Chi Keung, Mr.
Bai Bachua, Mr. Huang Changhuai (resigned on 27 August 2018) —
Independent Non-executive Directors of the Company and Mr. Dong
Shutong — Executive Director of the Company. Mr. Dong Shutong is
the chairman of the nomination committee.

EMPLOYEES REMUNERATION POLICY

As at 31 December 2018, the Group had approximately 900
employees, of whom 30 were management personnel. The
remuneration policy of the Group to reward its employees and
Executive Directors is based on their performance, qualifications,
competence displayed, market comparable and the performance of
the Group. Remuneration packages typically comprise salary, housing
allowances, discretionary bonus, other fringe benefits and the Group's
contribution to retirement benefits schemes. The remuneration
of Executive Directors/senior management are determined by the
Remuneration Committee which will review them regularly.

AUDITOR
The financial statements have been audited by PricewaterhouseCoopers
who retires and, being eligible, offers themselves for re-appointment.

ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD

Dong Shutong
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

29 March 2019
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ERELIRSE

The Company recognises the value and importance of achieving
high corporate governance standards to enhance corporate
performance, transparency and accountability, earning the confidence
of shareholders and the public. The Board strives to adhere to the
principles of corporate governance and adopt sound corporate
governance practices to meet the legal and commercial standards
by focusing on areas such as internal control, fair disclosure and
accountability to all shareholders.

COMPLIANCE WITH CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
CODE

The Company has applied the principles and complied with the code
provisions of the CG Code throughout the year ended 31 December
2018 except for code provisions A.1.1, A.2.1 and A.4.1, details of
which are disclosed below. Save for deviation from code provisions
A.1.1, A2.1 and A.4.1, in the opinion of the Board, the Company has
been in compliance with the CG Code in all material respects.

THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The overall management of the Company’s operation is vested in the
Board. The Board takes responsibility to oversee all major matters of
the Company, including the formulation and approval of all policy
matters, overall strategies, internal control and risk management
systems, and monitoring of the performance of the senior
management. The Directors make decisions objectively in the interests
of the Company. Currently, the Board comprises 9 Directors, including
5 Executive Directors, 1 Non-executive Director and 3 Independent
Non-executive Directors:

ARBIRRAEISKELERE AZEERERE
HAPRRAGERR ERAELHERZENE
BERRERAZNEL-EFERNETEXER
ZRATRAGEZEREAERUTEIEER
BREE HEINHESEARESR 2 FEE
A EEERER-

B FhEERTA

HE-Z-N\E+-A=1+—HIEAFEE AQ
A EHEACEERTRIZRANETEEE AT
Bl 2 SPRMEST  HESFRMESCE AT ~A2.1 KA 41
IRBRIN - BT - BRIRBETAMEXE AT A2
RAAVEZIN BEEERE ANARESERNSE
—EHEBETREEARTA -

EEg
EZe2RAAARRKERBNERER &
ERARERARAMATESRR BREHIER
HAEMABEKEE BEKK AEZERERE
BES AREBRREBENRRE -FERER
AMAEEREBENRE - EFERKRAENA
EF NERVMTES —BRIWTES =4
REIERITES:

Executive Directors HITES

Mr. Dong Shutong (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer) EERAE (FEHFAH)

Mr. Dong Chengzhe (Deputy Chief Executive Officer) EWEE L (BIAEE)

Mr. Wang Ping (Deputy Chief Executive Officer) TVRA (BI#EE)

Mr. Song Wenzhou RO A

Mr. Yang Fei BRI E

Non-executive Director FHITES

Mr. Yang Tianjun BRBEE

Independent Non-executive Directors BYHTES

Mr. Bai Baohua HRERSE

Mr. Huang Changhuai (resigned on 27 August 2018) HEELRE (RZE-N\FNAAZT+HEE)
Mr. Wong Chi Keung BZREE

Mr. Fahmi Idris EREAE
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Their biographical details and relationships (some of the Directors are
related to each other) are set out in the section entitled “Directors,
Senior Management and Audit Committee” in this annual report.

The Board delegates the authority and responsibility for implementing
day-to-day operations, business strategies and management of the
Group’s businesses to the Executive Directors, senior management
and certain specific responsibilities to the Board committees.

Composition and Appointment

As at 31 December 2018, the Board comprises 9 Directors, including
5 Executive Directors, 1 Non-executive Director and 3 Independent
Non-executive Directors.

The Company has complied with Rules 3.10 (1) and (2) of the Listing
Rules of having three Independent Non-executive Directors and one
of the Independent Non-executive Directors possesses the requisite
appropriate professional qualifications. The Board confirmed that
the independence and eligibility of the Independent Non-executive
Directors are in compliance with the relevant requirements of the
Listing Rules.

Save that Mr. Dong Shutong and Mr. Dong Chengzhe are father and
son, the Directors confirmed that there was no connection amongst
the Directors that should be disclosed relating to finance, business,
relation or other significant events or relevant matters.

The Board has effectively overseen and monitored the activities of
the Company and the decisions were made in the best interests of
the Company. During the year, the Board convened a total of 14
meetings, performing its duties in considering, inter alia, discloseable
transactions and financial and other matters under the provisions of
the articles of association of the Company. If a Director has a conflict
of interest in relation to a transaction or proposal to be considered
by the Board, the individual is required to declare such interest
and to abstain from voting. The matter is considered at a Board
meeting attended by Directors who have no material interest in the
transaction.
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During the year, 14 Board meetings, 2 of which were reqular #R EF@A3MI4ReH EbmIAle &

meetings, were held and the attendance of each Director is set outas B R HFEEZ 2 BRI 0T
follows:

Times of attendance/
No. of meetings held during

Name of Directors the tenure of directorship Title

HERE TRESHB
EEpE BERRE B
Dong Shutong 13/14 Chairman, Executive Director, Chief Executive Officer
BE® ITFEBITES B
Dong Chengzhe 3/14 Executive Director, Deputy Chief Executive Officer
=7 MITES  BIRH
Wang Ping 2/14 Executive Director, Deputy Chief Executive Officer
¥ WMITES  IAH
Song Wenzhou 2/14 Executive Director
RSN HITES
Yang Fei 14/14 Executive Director
(N WITES
Yang Tianjun 2/14 Non-executive Director
BRE FHITEF
Bai Baohua 3/14 Independent Non-executive Director
BERE BUFHTES
Huang Changhuai 0/8 Independent Non-executive Director

(resigned on 27 August 2018)

4=V BYFATEEF (RZE-N\FNAZTLHET)
Wong Chi Keung 3/14 Independent Non-executive Director
w258 BIUFHTES
Fahmi Idris 114 Independent Non-executive Director
ERK BUFHTEF
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Only 2 regular Board meetings were held as the Company does not
announce its quarterly results and hence not consider the holding
of quarterly meetings as necessary. This constitutes a deviation from
Code Provision A.1.1.

Under Code Provision A.4.1, Non-executive Directors should be
appointed for a specific term. Except for Mr. Fahmi Idris, Independent
Non-executive Director, who were appointed for a term of three
years, Mr. Yang Tianjun, Non-executive Director, and the remaining
Independent Non-executive Directors including Mr. Bai Baohua, Mr.
Huang Changhuai (resigned on 27 August 2018) and Mr. Wong
Chi Keung were not appointed for a specific term. This constitutes
a deviation from Code Provision A.4.1. However, according to the
articles of association of the Company, one-third of the Directors
for the time being shall retire from office by rotation at each annual
general meeting and the Directors to retire by rotation shall be
those who have been longest in office since their last re-election
or appointment. As such, the Company considers that sufficient
measures have been taken to ensure that the Company's corporate
governance practice in this respect is in line with that provided in the
Code.

Chairman and Chief Executive

The Executive Director, Mr. Dong Shutong, served as the chairman
and chief executive of the Company. The chairman is responsible for
overseeing the Company’s operations in respect of compliance with
both internal rules and statutory requirements, and promoting the
corporate governance of the Company. The Company did not appoint
another individual to act as the chief executive for the year ended 31
December 2018 and up to the date of this report. This constitutes a
deviation from code provision A.2.1. The Board believes that it is in
the best interests of the Company and the shareholders as a whole
since Mr. Dong Shutong is knowledgeable in the business of the
Group and possesses the essential leadership skills to guide discussions
of the Board.

Important decision-making and the day-to-day management of the
Company are carried out by all of the Executive Directors. Although
the roles of the chairman and the chief executive of the Company are
not segregated, the functions of the chief executive were carried out
by all of the Executive Directors collectively.

The Board considered that the Group’s prevailing structures and
systems met the code provisions in the CG Code. The current practices
will be reviewed and updated regularly to follow the latest practices in
corporate governance.
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Independent Non-executive Directors

Independent Non-executive Directors play a significant role in the
Board by virtue of their independent judgment and their views
carry significant weight in the Board’'s decision. In particular, they
bring an impartial view to bear on issues of the Company's strategy,
performance and control. All Independent Non-executive Directors
possess extensive academic, professional and industry expertise
and management experience and have provided their professional
advices to the Board. The Board also considers that Independent Non-
executive Directors can provide independent advice on the Company’s
business strategy, results and management so that all interests of
shareholders can be taken into account, and the interests of the
Company and its shareholders can be protected.

The Company has received annual confirmations of independence
from each of the existing Independent Non-executive Directors
in accordance with Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company
considers that all the Independent Non-executive Directors are
independent in accordance with the Listing Rules.

Training and Support for Directors

Directors must keep abreast of their collective responsibilities. Each
newly appointed Director would receive an induction package
covering the Group's businesses and the statutory and regulatory
obligations of a director of a listed company. The Group also provides
briefings and other training to develop and refresh the Directors’
knowledge and skills. The Group continuously updates Directors
on the latest developments regarding the Listing Rules and other
applicable regulatory requirements, to ensure compliance and
enhance their awareness of good corporate governance practices.
Circulars or guidance notes are issued to Directors and senior
management where appropriate, to ensure awareness of best
corporate governance practices.

During the year 2018, the Directors have attended seminars and/or
conferences and/or forums relating to directors’ duties and/or read
newspapers, journals and updates relating to the economy, general
business or directors’ duties etc.

Directors’ and Officers’ Insurance

The Company has arranged appropriate insurance cover in respect of
potential legal actions against its Directors and officers.
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Model Code

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions
by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code"”) as set out in
Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules as the code for securities transactions
by Directors. Having made specific enquiries, the Company has
confirmed that all Directors have compiled with the requirements set
out in the Model Code.

Board Committees

The Board has established audit committee, remuneration committee
and nomination committee (collectively “Board Committees”) with
defined terms of reference. The terms of reference of the Board
Committees are posted on the websites of the Company and the
Stock Exchange. The Board Committees are provided with sufficient
resources to discharge their duties and, upon reasonable request,
are able to seek independent professional advice in appropriate
circumstances, at the Company’s expenses.

No corporate governance committee has been established but
respective board committees are responsible for performing corporate
governance functions set out in the terms of reference in code
provision D.3.1 of the CG Code.

Audit Committee

The audit committee comprises three Independent Non-executive
Directors, and Mr. Wong Chi Keung serves as the chairman of
the audit committee. During the year, the audit committee held
2 meetings on 28 March 2018 and 30 August 2018. Except for
Mr. Huang Changhuai and Mr. Yang Tianjun, all other committee
members attended the meetings.

During the year, the audit committee had performed the following
work:

(1) reviewed the financial reports for the year ended 31 December
2017 and for the six months ended 30 June 2018;

(2) reviewed the Group's internal control system and financial
reporting system review performed by an external consultant;

(3) reviewed the effectiveness of internal control system;

(4) reviewed the external auditor’s statutory audit plan and
engagement letter;

(5) reviewed the management letter from the external auditor
in relation to the audit of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2017;

(6) reviewed and recommended for approval by the Board the 2018
audit scope and fees; and

(7)  discussed the reappointment of external auditor.
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Responsibilities of the audit committee include:

(1)  reviewing the financial reporting process, internal control system
and the completeness of financial reports of the Company;

(2)  to be in charge of the appointment of external auditor, auditing
expenses and any matters regarding the resignation or dismissal
of the external auditor;

(3) to review the independence of the external auditor;

(4)  to discuss with the external auditor on the nature and scope of
audit prior to the commencement of the auditing procedures;

(5)  to review the interim and annual financial statements. The audit
committee has reviewed the auditing performance, the internal
controls and the audited financial statements of the Company;
and

(6) to discuss the reappointment of external auditor.

Remuneration Committee

The remuneration committee of the Company was established on 10
April 2006 and comprises 1 Executive Director and 2 Independent
Non-executive Directors. The members of the remuneration
committee are: Mr. Dong Shutong, Mr. Bai Baohua, Mr. Huang
Changhuai (resigned on 27 August 2018) and Mr. Wong Chi Keung.
Mr. Huang Changhuai (resigned on 27 August 2018) and Mr. Bai
Baohua (appointed on 27 August 2018) serve as the chairmen of
the remuneration committee during the relevant appointed period
respectively. During the year, the remuneration committee held 1
meeting on 28 March 2018. Except for Mr. Huang Changhuai, all
other committee members attended the meeting to review the
performance and incentives of Executive Directors and terms of
employment of the management staff within the Group in 2018.

Responsibilities of the remuneration committee include:

(1) to make recommendation to the Board on the Company’s
policy and structure for all remuneration of Directors and
senior management and on the establishment of a formal
and transparent procedure for developing policy on such
remuneration;
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(2) to have the delegated responsibility to determine the specific
remuneration packages of all Executive Directors and senior
management, including benefits in kind, pension rights and
compensation payments, including any compensation payable
for loss or termination of their office or appointment, and
make recommendations to the Board of the remuneration of
Non-executive Directors. The remuneration committee should
consider factors such as salaries paid by comparable companies,
time commitment and responsibilities of the Directors,
employment conditions elsewhere in the Group and desirability
of performance-based remuneration;

(3) to review and approve performance-based remuneration by
reference to corporate goals and objectives resolved by the
Board from time to time;

(4) to review and approve the compensation payable to Executive
Directors and senior management in connection with any loss or
termination of their office or appointment;

(5) to review and approve compensation arrangements relating to
dismissal or removal of Directors for misconduct; and

(6) to ensure that no Director is involved in deciding his own
remuneration.

Nomination Committee

The nomination committee was established on 30 December
2011 and is chaired by Mr. Dong Shutong, an Executive Director.
Other members of the Committee are Mr. Bai Baohua, Mr. Huang
Changhuai (resigned on 27 August 2018) and Mr. Wong Chi Keung,
who are Independent Non-executive Directors.

The nomination committee is responsible for formulating policy and
making recommendations to the Board on nominations, appointment
of Directors and Board succession. The committee develops selection
procedures for candidates, and will consider different criteria including
appropriate professional knowledge and industry experience, as well
as consult external recruitment professionals when required. The
committee also reviews the size, structure and composition of the
Board and assesses the independence of Independent Non-executive
Directors.

During the year, the remuneration committee held 1 meeting on 28
March 2018. Except for Mr. Huang Changhuai, all other committee
members attended the meeting to review the structure and
composition of the Board and independence of the Independent Non-
executive Directors.
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BOARD POLICY

The following are the summaries of the major policies adopted by the
Board:

(1)

(2)

(3

Board Diversity Policy

The Board approved and adopted the Board Diversity Policy in
December 2018 which provides that selection of candidates
during the nomination process will be based on a range of
diversity perspectives. These perspectives include but not be
limited to gender, age, cultural and educational background,
professional qualifications, skills, knowledge and industry and
regional experience.

Nomination Policy

The Board approved and adopted the Nomination Policy in
December 2018 which sets out the principles guiding the
Nomination Committee to identify and evaluate a candidate for
nomination to the Board for appointment or to the shareholders
of the Company for election as a Director of the Company. The
policy contains a number of factors to which the Nomination
Committee has to adhere when considering nominations.

Dividend Policy

The Board approved and adopted the Dividend Policy in
December 2018 which sets out the guidelines for the Board
to determine whether to pay a dividend and the level of such
dividend to be paid. The policy contains a number of factors for
which the Board has to consider in determining the frequency,
amount and form of any dividend in any financial year/period.

The full text of the above Board policies are available on the
Company'’s website.
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Company Secretary

Mr. Choi Kwok Keung Sanvic, the Company Secretary of the
Company, is a full time employee of the Company and has day-to-day
knowledge of the Company’s affairs. During the financial year, the
Company Secretary has duly complied with the relevant professional
training requirement under Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules.

The biographical details of Mr. Choi are set out on in the section
entitles “Directors, Senior Management and Audit Committee” in this
annual report.

FINANCIAL REPORTING

Directors’ and Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Financial
Statements

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for the preparation
of consolidated financial statements which give a true and fair view
of the state of affairs of the Group. In preparing the consolidated
financial statements which give a true and fair view, it is fundamental
that appropriate accounting policies are selected and applied
consistently. The statement of the external auditor about the reporting
responsibilities on the consolidated financial statements is set out in
the Independent Auditor’s Report on pages 81 to 86 of this annual
report.

Going Concern and Mitigation Measures
The Group is a party to various legal claims as detailed in Note 32 to
the consolidated financial statements.

During the year ended 31 December 2018, the Group incurred a loss
of approximately HK$509.0 million and had a net operating cash
outflow of approximately HK$49.7 million. As at 31 December 2018,
the Group's had a shareholders’ deficit of HK$1,240.2 million and
current liabilities exceeded its current assets by HK$4,172.1 million. Its
total bank and other borrowings amounted to HK$2,562.9 million are
overdue or repayable on demand. The cash and cash equivalents of
the Group amounted to HK$4.3 million as at 31 December 2018.

These conditions together with others described in Note 2.1(a) to
the consolidated financial statements, have indicated the existence
of material uncertainties which might cast significant doubt on the
Group'’s ability to continue as a going concern and therefore it might
not be able to realise its assets and discharge its liabilities in the
normal course of business.
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The Directors have given careful consideration to the future liquidity
and performance of the Group and its available sources of financing
in assessing whether the Group will have sufficient financial resources
to continue as a going concern. Certain measures have been taken
to mitigate the liquidity pressure and to improve its financial position
which include, but not limited to, the following:

(1)  On 5 March 2016, the Company and a potential investor
(the "Potential Investor” or “Subscriber”) entered into a
share subscription agreement to subscribe for a total of
1,465,898,410 new ordinary shares of the Company at a
subscription price of HK$0.1876 per share (the “Subscription
Shares”), with proposed gross proceeds totalling approximately
HK$275 million (the "Subscription”), subject to certain
conditions precedent which, among others, include the
following:

o approval from the Company’s shareholders, or
independent shareholders when appropriate, for (i)
allotment and issuance of the Subscription Shares; (ii) a
Whitewash Waiver; and (iii) a Special Deal (as defined
hereunder), at the extraordinary general meeting of the
Company ("EGM");

J Whitewash Waiver being granted by The Securities and
Futures Commission of Hong Kong (“SFC”) in respect
of any obligation of the Subscriber and parties acting in
concert with it to make a mandatory general offer in cash
for all the issued shares and other relevant securities of the
Company not already owned (or agreed to be acquired) by
the Subscriber and parties acting in concert with it which
might otherwise arise as a result of the Subscription;

o the consent from the SFC for repayment to any creditor
who is a shareholder of the Company using the proceeds
from the Subscription under a proposed debt restructuring
as mentioned below (the “Special Deal”);

o approval of resumption of trading of the Company’s
shares, and listing of the Subscription Shares from the
Stock Exchange; and
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° completion of a debt restructuring by the Company by
way of the “Schemes” (Note) (the “Debt Restructuring
Proposal”). The debt restructuring refers to a plan for
restructuring of the indebtedness of the Company which
involves, among other things: (i) the reduction and
cancellation of the outstanding principal amount of the
Bonds by at least 80%; (ii) the reduction and cancellation
of all the outstanding accrued interests of the Bonds; (iii)
the release and discharge of all security collateral provided
in relation to the 12% Coupon Senior Bonds and the 8%
Coupon Convertible Bonds; and (iv) the reduction and
cancellation of all other indebtedness and contingent
liabilities of the Company as referred to in the Debt
Restructuring Proposal, by at least 80%.

In respect of the above, the Company appointed a financial
advisor and debt restructuring scheme advisor to facilitate the
Subscription and Debt Restructuring Proposal.

At the meetings of the holders of the 12% Coupon Senior
Bonds and the 8% Coupon Convertible Bonds held on 21
June 2016 and 6 July 2016, respectively, separate extraordinary
resolutions (“Extraordinary Resolutions”) were passed and
resolved, among others, to approve the Debt Restructuring
Proposal, not to enforce any security of the Bonds until
approval of the Schemes and release the security as required
under the Schemes following the Schemes becoming effective,
vote the entire principal amount in favour of the Schemes at
the meetings of the Schemes, waive any event of default or
potential event of default which might or has occurred and not
to demand repayment of any amount due under the Bonds.

Following the passing and effectiveness of the Extraordinary
Resolutions by 6 July 2016, the Company is preparing the
necessary documents to submit to the courts for the relevant
creditors’ approval and court sanction for the Cayman Scheme
and the Hong Kong Scheme under the Debt Restructuring
Proposal.
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The Company is also actively negotiating with other creditors
of the Company for the execution of the Debt Restructuring
Proposal.

Note:

The proposed scheme of arrangement pursuant to Section 86 of the Companies
Law (2007 Revision) of the Cayman Islands between the Company and the
creditors under such scheme (the “Cayman Scheme”) and the proposed scheme
of arrangement of pursuant to Sections 670, 673 and 674 of the Companies
Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong) between the Company and
the creditors under such scheme (the “Hong Kong Scheme”), collectively are
referred to as the “Schemes”.

In relation to the secured bank loan of HK$95,811,000 which
contains a repayable on demand clause, the Group is actively
negotiating with the bank for waiver of the relevant clause and
renewal of the loan, including extension of the related interest
payments.

In relation to the syndicated bank loan and the bank loan under
the Unsecured Loan Facility to the extent of HK$568,409,000
and HK$404,777,000, respectively, the Group is actively
negotiating with the respective banks for the waiver of
the breach of the undertaking and restrictive covenant
requirements; and the renewal of these loans, including
extension of the related interest payments.

On 21 January 2013, the Group entered into a non-binding
framework agreement with Beijing Wincapital Management
Co., Ltd. (“Beijing Wincapital”) in relation to the disposal of
a 30% equity interest in SEAM, a wholly-owned subsidiary of
the Group. The aggregate disposal consideration is expected
to be approximately US$150 million (approximately HK$1,170
million). The proposed transaction is yet to complete and no
formal sales and purchase agreement has been entered into up
to the date of approval of the consolidated financial statements.
Longer than expected time was spent on negotiation of the
detailed terms and conditions because of the rapid change
in operating and regulatory environment of SEAM since the
framework agreement was signed. The Group is currently
negotiating with Beijing Wincapital to modify the structure and
detailed terms of the disposal on equity interest in SEAM.
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In connection with the proposed disposal, Beijing Wincapital
arranged certain loan finance to the Group (“Financing
Loans”), which can be settled by offsetting against the disposal
consideration should the proposed disposal be completed.

During the year ended 31 December 2017, a loan arranged
by Beijing Wincapital of RMB200,000,000 (equivalent to
HK$239,263,000) has been novated to Henan Pingyuan
Holding Group Co., Ltd (A ¥ RIZREE RN BR AR or
“Pingyuan”).

As at 31 December 2018, the outstanding Financing Loans
amounted to approximately RMB200 million (equivalent to
HK$228,258,000) were overdue for repayments. Up to the date
of approval of the consolidated financial statements, the Group
has not received any letter from the lender demanding for
repayment of these loans. Management is currently negotiating
with the relevant parties to formally extend the repayment of
these borrowings to facilitate the completion of the proposed
disposal. Management believes that with bona fide intention for
all relevant parties, the proposed disposal will be completed and
the Group will be able to offset all these borrowings against the
disposal consideration.

On each of 11 March 2018 and 8 June 2018, the Group
entered into a sale and purchase agreement with Mr. Sun Gang
("Mr. Sun”), who is also a substantial shareholder of Pingyuan,
pursuant to which the Group agreed to sell an aggregate
14% equity interest in SEAM to Mr. Sun at an aggregate
consideration of RMB420,000,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$479,343,000) conditional upon, amongst others, obtaining
approval from shareholders of the Company at an extraordinary
general meeting and resumption of trading of the Company’s
shares.

Apart from the borrowings mentioned in (1) to (4) above, the
Group had other borrowings from certain related parties of the
Group, the Potential Investor, related parties of the Potential
Investor and other third parties (secured and unsecured) of
HK$88,809,000, HK$225,976,000, HK$300,057,000 and
HK$184,611,000, respectively that were either overdue or due
for immediate repayment as at 31 December 2018. The Group
has been actively negotiating with the lenders for the renewal
and extension of the repayment dates of these borrowings, of
which an extension of the repayments of the borrowings from
related parties of the Potential Investor for a term of 2 years is
currently under discussion.
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(6) The Group is also negotiating with various financial institutions
and identifying various options for financing the Group’s
working capital and commitments in the foreseeable future,
including identification of potential investors to invest in various
projects undertaken by the Group.

(7)  The Group is also maximizing its sales effort, including speeding
up of sales of its existing inventories and seeking new orders
from overseas markets or new customers on developed
new products, exploring new business opportunities and
implementing more stringent cost control measures with a view
to improving operating cash flows. The Group has also engaged
in providing sub-contracting services to external customers
since 2017 and entered into a cooperation agreement with a
potential business partner in August 2018 to better utilise the
Group's production capacities. Management believes that the
Group will be able to record a significant increase in revenue in
the coming twelve months after the reporting period.

(8)  The Group has engaged legal advisors to handle all claims and
disputes as detailed in Note 32. The Directors have also obtained
advice from legal advisors on these matters and, based upon
which, are of the view that the Group will be able to resolve
those outstanding claims and disputes, with no significant cash
outflows in the next twelve months.

Remuneration of Directors and senior management
Particulars of the Directors’ remuneration for the year are set out in
note 10 to the consolidated financial statements.

Pursuant to code provision B.1.5. of the CG Code, the remuneration
of the members of the senior management (other than the Directors)
whose particulars are contained in Note 10 to the consolidated
financial statements.

Auditor’s Remuneration

The remuneration paid/payable to the Company’s auditor,
PricewaterhouseCoopers, for its audit and non-audit services for the
year ended 31 December 2018 were HK$4.4 million and HK$43,000
respectively.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board acknowledges its responsibility for overseeing the Group's
risk management and internal control systems and reviewing their
effectiveness at least annually through the Audit Committee. The
Audit Committee assists the Board in fulfilling its oversight and
corporate roles in the Group’s financial, operational, compliance,
risk management and internal controls, while senior management
designs, implements and monitors the risk management and internal
control systems, and provides reports to the Board and the Audit
Committee on the effectiveness of these systems. However, systems
and internal controls can only provide reasonable and not absolute
assurance against material misstatement or loss, as they are designed
to manage, rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve the
Group's business objectives.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL
FRAMEWORK

Risk Management

The Company has established formal risk assessment criteria for the
Group. Senior management and department heads identify risks that
potentially impact the key processes of their operations on an annual
basis. Risks are scored and ranked by their impact on the business
and the likelihood of their occurrence. Senior management and
department heads assess the effectiveness of the existing controls
and formulate risk mitigating activities. Results of the annual risk
assessment are coordinated by the Financial Controller and Company
Secretary and reported to the Audit Committee, including amongst
other things, significant risks of the Group and the appropriate control
activities to mitigate and/or transfer the identified risks.

Internal Control

The Company has established defined levels of responsibilities and
reporting procedures. Controls have been designed and established to
ensure that assets are safeguarded against improper use or disposal,
financial and accounting records are maintained in accordance with
relevant accounting standards and regulatory reporting requirements,
and key risks that may impact on the Group’s performance are
identified and assessed.

In the year of 2017, in order to fully satisfy one of the Resumption
Conditions, the Company engaged an external consultant to perform
a review of the internal control system and the financial reporting
system. The review was completed in 2018 and the Company has
started to implement certain recommendations from the review report
accordingly.
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The Company currently does not have a formal internal audit
function. The Audit Committee is fully aware of the requirement
under Code Provision C. 2.5 of the CG Code that the Company
should have an internal audit function in place, but a full-scale internal
audit function is not considered necessary as the Audit Committee
relied on the periodic internal control reviews performed by the
external consultant. However, the Audit Committee will continue
to assess and review the need for an internal audit function for the
Group on an annual basis.

Review of Risk Management and Internal Control
Systems

The Audit Committee assists the Board in the review of the
effectiveness of the Group's risk management and internal control
systems on an ongoing basis. The directors through the Audit
Committees are kept informed of significant risks that may impact on
the Group's performance. For the year ended 31 December 2018, the
Board considered the risk management and internal control systems of
the Group to be effective and adequate.

The Audit Committee has reviewed and is satisfied with the adequacy
of resources, staff qualifications and experience, training programmes
and budget of the Group’s accounting, and financial reporting
function.

Inside Information

The Company has developed a monitoring system for inside
information to ensure prompt identification, evaluation and
submission of material information to the Board to determine whether
such information constitutes as inside information and requires
disclosure. The Company strictly complies with the Inside Information
Provisions and disclosure requirements set out in the relevant
sections of the SFO and Listing Rules. Staff who have access to inside
information is required to keep the unpublished inside information
strictly confidential until relevant announcement is made.

SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS AND COMMUNICATIONS
WITH SHAREHOLDERS

The management believes that it is essential to maintain effective
communication with the investment community in a timely manner
through various media and channels. The Company holds regular
briefings, attends investor conferences and participates in one-on—
one meetings and conversations with institutional investors and
analysts in Hong Kong, PRC and overseas countries to keep them
abreast of the Company’s business and development.
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Communications with Shareholders

As the key principle of corporate governance, the Company has a set
of values and behaviors to ensure transparency and fair dealing and to
protect and facilitate the exercise of shareholder’s rights. Shareholders
are provided with contact details of the Company, such as telephone
hotline, fax number and postal address, which enable them to engage
actively with the Company and make any query with respect to the
Company.

To promote open, efficient and transparent communications
with shareholders, investors and analysts, the Investor Relations
Department commits to promptly responding to their enquiries and
also providing them with the necessary information in a timely manner
so as to facilitate the investment community to better understand
the Company’s strategy and latest developments. Shareholders,
investors and analysts can also send enquires and concerns to the
Board by addressing them to the Investor Relations Department of
the Company by letter, telephone or fax. In addition, if shareholders
have any enquiries about their shares and dividends, they can contact
Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited, the Hong Kong
branch share registrar of the Company. The contact details of the
Company are stated in the section entitled “Corporate Information”
on pages 2 to 3 in this annual report.

The Board endeavors to provide timely and accurate information
equally to shareholders and investors. The Company’s website
(http://irnickelholdings.com) facilitates effective communications with
shareholders, investors and other stakeholders of the Company by
providing up-to-date information relating to the Company’s latest
development, corporate events, press releases, financial reports
and other information on a timely basis. Annual reports, interim
reports and other relevant information, including announcements in
accordance with the Company’s continuous disclosure obligations
are available and also posted on the respective websites of the Stock
Exchange and the Company for the public’s review.

Shareholders’ Meetings

The Company regards the Annual General Meeting ("AGM") as an
important event as it provides invaluable opportunity for the Directors
to meet and communicate with the shareholders. The Company
ensures that shareholders’ views are extended to the Board. Chairman
of the AGM proposes separate resolutions for each issue to be
considered. Members of the audit, remuneration and nomination
committees and the external auditor also attend the AGM to answer
guestions from shareholders.
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AGM proceedings are reviewed from time to time to ensure that the
Company follows best corporate governance practices. The notice
of AGM is distributed to all shareholders at least 20 clear business
days prior to the AGM, and the accompanying circular also sets out
details of each proposed resolution and other relevant information as
required under the Listing Rules. Chairman of the AGM exercises his
power under the articles of association of the Company to put each
proposed resolution to the vote by way of a poll. The procedures for
demanding and conducting a poll are explained at the beginning of
the meeting. Voting results are posted on the respective websites of
the Stock Exchange and the Company in a timely manner.

The 2018 AGM was held on 20 June 2018. Except for Mr. Wang Ping,
Mr. Dong Chengzhe, Mr. Song Wenzhou, Mr. Yang Tianjun, Mr. Bai
Baohua, Mr. Huang Changhuai (resigned on 27 August 2018), Mr.
Wong Chi Keung and Mr. Fahmi Idris, all other members of the Board
has attended the 2018 AGM.

Under the code provision A.6.7 of CG Code, Independent Non-
executive Directors and other Non-executive Directors should attend
general meetings and develop a balanced understanding of the
views of shareholders. Mr. Yang Tianjun, a Non-executive Director
and Mr. Bai Baohua, Mr. Wong Chi Keung and Mr. Fahmi Idris, the
Independent Non-executive Directors of the Company were unable
to attend the 2018 AGM due to other business commitment.
Mr. Huang Changhuai (resigned on 27 August 2018), an Independent
Non-executive Director of the Company, was also unable to attend the
2018 AGM due to his health conditions.

Under code provision E.1.2 of CG Code, the Chairman of the Board
should invite the Chairman of the audit committee, the remuneration
committee and the nomination committee to attend and answer
questions at the AGM. Mr. Huang Changhuai (resigned on 27 August
2018), the Chairman of the remuneration committee, was unable to
attend the 2018 AGM due to his health conditions. Mr. Wong Chi
Keung, the Chairman of the audit committee, was unable to attend
the 2018 AGM due to the other business commitment.
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Shareholders’ Rights

Shareholder(s) holding not less than one-tenth of the paid-up capital
of the Company can make a written requisition to the Board or the
Company Secretary to convene an extraordinary general meeting
pursuant to article 58 of the Company’s articles of association. The
written requisition must state the objects of the meeting, and must be
signed by the relevant shareholder(s) and deposited at the head office
of the Company, which is presently situated at Room 2003, West
Tower, Shun Tak Center, 168-200 Connaught Road Central, Hong
Kong.

There are no provisions under the Company's articles of association
or the Companies Law, Cap 22 (Law 3 of 1961, as consolidated and
revised) of the Cayman Islands regarding procedures for shareholders
to put forward proposals at general meetings other than a proposal
of a person for election as director. Shareholders may follow the
procedures set out above to convene an extraordinary general
meeting for any business specified in such written requisition.
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To the Shareholders of Nickel Resources International Holdings
Company Limited
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

DISCLAIMER OF OPINION
We were engaged to audit the consolidated financial statements
of Nickel Resources International Holdings Company Limited (the
“Company”) and its subsidiaries (together, the “Group”) set out on
pages 87 to 232, which comprise:

o the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31
December 2018;

. the consolidated income statement for the year then ended;

o the consolidated statement of comprehensive income for the
year then ended;

o the consolidated statement of changes in equity for the year
then ended;

o the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then
ended; and

. the notes to the consolidated financial statements, which
include a summary of significant accounting policies.

We do not express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements of the Group because we have not been able to obtain
sufficient appropriate audit evidence and due to the potential
interaction of the multiple uncertainties and their possible cumulative
effect on the consolidated financial statements as described in the
Basis for Disclaimer of Opinion section of our report. In all other
respects, in our opinion the consolidated financial statements
have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
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BASIS FOR DISCLAIMER OF OPINION

Impairment of intangible asset

As at 31 December 2018, the carrying amount of the Group's
intangible asset amounted to HK$2,384,543,000. As detailed in Note
16 to the consolidated financial statements, such intangible asset
represents an exclusive offtake right secured from PT. Yiwan Mining
("Yiwan"), a limited company incorporated in Indonesia, whereby
Yiwan agreed to exclusively sell the limonitic ores produced by Yiwan
to the Group at pre-determined prices within a specific period of time.

During the year 2012, certain Indonesian governmental authorities
promulgated several new rules and regulations regarding ores
export approval and export tax. During the year 2013, the relevant
Indonesian governmental authorities further promulgated that
unprocessed ore export by mining business licence holders in
Indonesia (“IUP Holders”) will be banned from 12 January 2014
onwards unless the IUP Holders have carried out processing and
refining domestically according to the relevant regulations regarding
implementation of activities of business of minerals and coal mining
and have conducted refining and smelting in accordance with those
relevant laws. Consequently, the export of unprocessed iron ores from
Yiwan to the Group ceased with effect from 12 January 2014.

As further explained in Note 16 to the consolidated financial
statements, in determining the recoverable amount of the intangible
asset as at 31 December 2018, the directors of the Company,
amongst other considerations, made reference to the disposal
consideration as stipulated in a non-binding framework agreement
entered into between the Group and Beijing Wincapital Management
Co., Ltd. (“Beijing Wincapital”), an independent third party, on 21
January 2013, pursuant to which the Group proposed to dispose
of a 30% equity interest in S.E.A. Mineral Limited (“SEAM"), a
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Group, which holds the intangible
asset of the Group and was engaged in the trading of ores, to
Beijing Wincapital. In addition, the directors also take into account
of the sale and purchase agreements entered into between the
Group and a purchaser during the year ended 31 December 2018
pursuant to which the Group agreed to sell an aggregate the 14%
equity interest in SEAM to the purchaser conditional upon, amongst
others, obtaining approval from shareholders of the Company at
an extraordinary general meeting and resumption of trading of
the Company’s shares. As these proposed disposal considerations
substantially exceed the attributable carrying amounts of the aforesaid
intangible asset, the directors are of the opinion that there was no
impairment of the intangible asset as at 31 December 2018.
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However, as there is no formal sales and purchase agreement
entered into for the proposed disposal of the 30% equity interest to
Beijing Wincapital; and the disposal of the 14% equity interest to
the purchaser is yet to complete up to the date of this audit report,
we were unable to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence
we consider necessary to assess the recoverable amount of the
intangible asset. There were no alternative audit procedures that we
could perform to satisfy ourselves as to the recoverable amount of
the intangible asset and whether any impairment charge should be
made. Any adjustment to the carrying amount of the intangible asset
found to be necessary would affect the Group’s net liabilities as at 31
December 2018, the Group's loss for the year then ended and the
related note disclosures to the consolidated financial statements.

Impairment of property, plant and equipment and
prepaid land lease payments

As detailed in Note 14 to the consolidated financial statements,
an impairment assessment was carried out by the directors of the
Company on the Group’s property, plant and equipment and prepaid
land lease payments in respect of the cash generating unit for the
manufacturing and sales of iron and steel products in Zhengzhou
(the “Zhengzhou Plants”). As a result of the assessment, the
directors considered that no further provision for impairment of the
property, plant and equipment and prepaid land lease payments
of Zhengzhou plants is required for the year ended 31 December
2018. The recoverable amount of the cash generating unit has been
determined by the directors based on value-in-use calculations. These
calculations included applying certain assumptions in preparing cash
flows projections for the cash generating unit. In preparing these
projections, the directors assumed that, amongst other factors,
business performance of the Zhengzhou Plants can be gradually
improved noticeably during the projection period as a result of
improving operating environment and by launching new products
and seeking new orders from new customers with improved gross
margins.
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However, we were unable to obtain sufficient appropriate audit
evidence we consider necessary as to the basis upon which the
directors have formed in determining the recoverable amounts
of these property, plant and equipment and prepaid land lease
payments and thus to assess the valuation of these assets. There
were no alternative audit procedures that we could perform to
satisfy ourselves as to the recoverable amounts of these assets
totalling HK$352,323,000 as at 31 December 2018 and whether any
impairment charge should be made for the year ended 31 December
2018. Any adjustment to the carrying amounts of property, plant and
equipment and prepaid land lease payments of the Zhengzhou Plants
found to be necessary would affect the Group’s net liabilities as at 31
December 2018, the Group's loss for the year then ended and the
related notes disclosures to the consolidated financial statements.

Impairment of the Company’s interests in subsidiaries

In addition, as the intangible asset, property, plant and equipment
and prepaid land lease payments as stated above were held by various
subsidiaries of the Company, any adjustment on the carrying amounts
of these assets found to be necessary would also affect the carrying
amount of the Company’s interests in subsidiaries and its accumulated
losses which amounted to HK$Nil and HK$4,965,969,000 respectively
as at 31 December 2018 and the related notes disclosures in the Note
36 to the consolidated financial statements.

Multiple uncertainties relating to going concern

As described in Note 2.1(a) to the consolidated financial statements,
the Group incurred a net loss of HK$508,996,000 and had a net
operating cash outflow of HK$49,736,000 during the year ended
31 December 2018. As at 31 December 2018, the Group had a
shareholders’ deficit of HK$1,240,151,000; its current liabilities
exceeded its current assets by HK$4,172,126,000; and its total
borrowings amounted to HK$2,577,080,000 while its cash and
cash equivalents amounted to HK$4,256,000 only. In addition,
as at 31 December 2018, the Group's borrowings to the extent
of HK$2,562,873,000 were either overdue or due for immediate
repayment. The Group also involved in various claims and disputes as
detailed in Note 32 to the consolidated financial statements. These
conditions, along with other matters as described in Note 2.1(a) to the
consolidated financial statements, indicate the existence of material
uncertainties that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern.
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The directors of the Company have been undertaking a number of
measures to improve the Group's liquidity and financial position,
which are set out in Note 2.1(a) to the consolidated financial
statements, and to resolve the outstanding claims and disputes
detailed in Note 32 to the consolidated financial statements. The
consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a going
concern basis, the validity of which depends on the outcome of
these measures and litigation matters, which are subject to multiple
uncertainties, including (i) whether the Group is able to successfully
complete the issuance of certain new ordinary shares after fulfilling
all conditions precedent as detailed in Note 2.1(a) to the consolidated
financial statements, and in particular by the successful completion
of a debt restructuring proposal; (i) whether the Group is able to
successfully negotiate with banks for the waiver of the repayable
on demand clause and breach of the undertaking and restrictive
covenant requirements of certain bank loans; and for the extension
of these bank loans including all relevant interest expense that
became overdue during the year ended 31 December 2018; (iii)
whether the Group is able to successfully negotiate for an extension
of the repayment date of certain borrowings until completion of the
proposed disposal of interest in SEAM under the relevant framework
agreement at the prescribed consideration and be able to collect
the disposal consideration in full immediately upon completion of
the transaction after properly offsetting the relevant borrowings;
(iv) whether the Group is able to successfully negotiate with certain
related parties of the Group and other lenders as detailed in Notes
27(e) to (h) to the consolidated financial statements for extension of
their relevant borrowings, by maintaining relationship with them such
that no action will be taken by these lenders to demand immediate
repayment of the overdue borrowings under negotiation; (v) whether
the Group is able to obtain additional new financing and other
sources of funding as and when required; (vi) whether the Group is
able to implement its operation plans to control costs and to generate
more revenue for adequate cash flows from operations; and (vii)
whether the Group is able to resolve the outstanding claims and
disputes, without significant cash outflows in the next twelve months.

Should the Group fail to achieve the above-mentioned plans and
measures, it might not be able to continue to operate as a going
concern, and adjustments would have to be made to write down the
carrying values of the Group's assets to their recoverable amounts, to
provide for any further liabilities which might arise and to reclassify
non-current assets and non-current liabilities as current assets and
current liabilities. The effects of these adjustments have not been
reflected in the consolidated financial statements.
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RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND AUDIT
COMMITTEE FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view
in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards and
the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance,
and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to
enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors
either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no
realistic alternative but to do so.

The audit committee is responsible for overseeing the Group's
financial reporting process.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our responsibility is to conduct an audit of the Group’s consolidated
financial statements in accordance with International Standards on
Auditing and to issue an auditor’s report. We report solely to you, as
a body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility
towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report. However, because we have not been able to obtain sufficient
appropriate audit evidence and due to the potential interaction of
the multiple uncertainties and their possible cumulative effect on
the consolidated financial statements as described in the Basis for
Disclaimer of Opinion section of our report, it is not possible for us to
form an opinion on these consolidated financial statements.

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the
International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants’ Code of Ethics
for Professional Accountants (“IESBA Code”), and we have fulfilled
our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the IESBA Code.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Mak Tze Leung, William.

PricewaterhouseCoopers
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 29 March 2019
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 HE —Z—N\F+-_A=+—HILFE

2018 2017
—E-N\E —E—tF
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
B 5 FET F#ET
Revenue Wz 6 448,207 296,430
Cost of sales $HE AR 7 (440,684) (257,559)
Gross profit EF 7,523 38,871
Other gains, net H b B F)F 58 6 26,566 42,414
Selling and distribution expenses SHE R HMAX 7 (2,399) (2,255)
Administrative expenses TBR X 7 (194,699) (214,330)
Finance income R E WA 9 118 139
Finance costs & AR 9 (341,168) (343,919)
(Provision for)/reversal of impairment of £ & & ERE (¥E)
financial assets, net beJEpE L (815) 10,096
Other expenses HEMAx 7 (4,122) (3,705)
Loss before income tax kTS E R E 1R 7 (508,996) (472,689)
Income tax expense FrBfi 2 11 = =
Loss for the year FANEE (508,996) (472,689)
Attributable to: BR:
Owners of the Company FiN/NETEZ ¥ =N (508,966) (472,372)
Non-controlling interests TR E R (30) (317)
(508,996) (472,689)
Loss per share attributable to owners RARHAE ARG EZRERE
of the Company
— Basic (HK dollar) —HAKX(ETT) 13 (0.16) (0.15)
— Diluted (HK dollar) —#5E (&) 13 (0.16) (0.15)

The notes on pages 96 to 232 are

consolidated financial statements.
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 HE —ZE—N\F+_-_A=+—HILFE

2018 2017
—E-)N\F —E—+tF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHAIT
Lossfortheyear _ _  _________________FEER GOEa erz e
Other comprehensive income/(loss) Hib2mEWKzE (F8)
Items that have been reclassified or may be AEE BT 5 A FE R H 1
subsequently reclassified to profit or loss B R Bm s HA
Exchange differences on translation BIMSEMERITE
of foreign operations fE N =5 101,617 (84,708)
Release of exchange reserve on deconsolidation  KiB AR ILEGE AR Z
of subsidiaries PE & (R mE = (6,873)
Other comprehensive income/(loss) FERBEEMEE
__fortheyearnetoftax b (B 101617 _______| (91,581)_
Total comprehensive loss for the year FEXEEEA (407,379) (564,270)
Attributable to: BR:
Owners of the Company iNNETEZ SN (407,367) (563,975)
Non-controlling interests e AR A 2 (12) (295)
(407,379) (564,270)

The notes on pages 96 to 232 are an integral part of these 596E232E 2 Ml ARG AMIBHRERN—EH -

consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

REMBRAR

As at 31 December 2018 R=—ZE—N\E+=-HA=+—8H

As at 31 December

BR+=—BA=+—H
2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—t5F

Notes HK$’000 HK$'000

B 5 FET FAET
ASSETS BE
Non-current assets IRBEE
Property, plant and equipment e 14 395,499 428,917
Prepaid land lease payments TEfT L & IR 15 159,271 171,610
Intangible asset mEAE 16 2,384,543 2,384,543
Interest in an associate R—EBENE 2 Ex 18 = =
Other non-current assets HEMIERBEE 1,458 1,531
294070 2,986,601
Current assets REBEE
Inventories 7E 20 184,675 179,392
Trade receivables UK BR 3R 21 77,021 74,906
Prepayments, deposits and other FERFIE e Rk

receivables B W IR 22 139,177 112,023
Pledged time deposits B E BT 5K 23 24 25
Cash and cash equivalents BeMRESEEY 23 4,256 20,046
_______________________________________________________________ 405153 = 386392
Total assets WEE 3,345,924 3,372,993
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES BERk AR
Equity attributable to owners RATEEAEEES
of the Company
Share capital % A 29 308,813 308,813
Reserves i 30 (1,548,596) (1,141,229)
(1,239,783) (832,416)

Non-controlling interests TR ER (368) (356)
Total shareholders’ deficit BB A4 5 (1,240,151) (832,772)
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

meMEBERAR

As at 31 December 2018 R=—ZE—N\E+=-_F=+—8H

As at 31 December

R+=BA=+—H
2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—+F
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
B 5 FET T T
LIABILITIES =K
Non-current liabilities kRBERE
Deferred government grants i A AT i B 24 7,567 7,932
Deferred tax liabilities BERIEER 19 1,229 1,288
e _____ B9 9,220
Current liabilities REBAEE
Trade payables FEATBR IR 25 187,514 133,008
Notes payables FET 5 25 14,207 1,436
Other payables and accruals Hip et RIE N EETEE 26 1,804,315 1,512,790
Bank and other borrowings RITERKEMEE 27 2,516,098 2,493,776
Convertible bonds Al E S 28 46,775 46,775
Derivative financial instruments PTESBTA 28 = =
Tax payable FES IR 8,370 8,760
4,577,279 4,196,545
Total liabilites ~~~~~ ®&®% 4,586,075 ____ __ 4,205,765 _
Total equity and liabilities ke EHEE 3,345,924 3,372,993

The financial statements on pages 87 to 232 were approved by the SE87E232EMEBREEETEN —T—HF=
Board of Directors on 29 March 2019 and were signed on its behalf. A t+thBEMERBERRESZ-

Dong Shutong Yang Fei
EER R
Director Director

o o

The notes on pages 96 to 232 are an integral part of these 596ZE232E Ml ARG AMIBHREN—5H -
consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
SeERBEE

For the year ended 31 December 2018 HE —Z—N\F+-_A=+—HILFE

Attributable to owners of the Company

EOTHA AL
Share Non-
Share Share  Contributed Capital Statutory option Exchange  Accumulated controlling
capital premium surplus reserve reserves reserve reserve losses Sub-total interests Total
R& REEE Rizs ERRRE EERE  BRERE EXfRE RitER Nt FBRRER @it
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
ik TAL TERL TERL TERL TERL TERL TERL TERL TERL T TR
(Note 29) (Note 30) (Note 30) (Note 30) (Note 30)
(BH29) (Bi3E30) (BizE30) (BizE30) (Hi3H30)
For the year ended BE-®-tF
31 December 2017 TZB=t-ALEE
At 1 January 2017 R=2-t&£-5-R 308,813 3,237,017 47514 115,807 89,774 37,387 531,451 (4,636,286) (268,463) 6,006 (262,457)
Loss for the year EEEE - - - - - - - (472,3712) (472372 (317) (472,689)
Other comprehensive loss for the year:  SEH 2 EHHE:
Exchange differences on tranglation of  EMIERENHES 28
foreign operations - - - - - - (84,730) - (84,730) 2 (84,708)
Release of exchange reserve on HERADRIHRAAEL
deconsolidation of subsidiaries RERE 8 - - - - - - (6,873) - (6:873) - (6:873)
Total comprehensive loss FEREFRAH
for the year - - - - - - (91,603) (472,372 (563,975) (295) (564,270)
Equity-settled share based IAREE E 2 ROBERX
compensation expense 31 - - - - - 2 - - 2 - 2
Deconsolidation of subsidiaries HBARKLGANE 8 - - - - - - - - - (6,067) (6,067)
At 31 December 2017 R=B-t£+=A=t-H 308813 3,231,077 47514 115,807 89,774 37,409 439,848 (5,108,658) (832,416) (356) 832,772)
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
SeEEnE

For the year ended 31 December 2018 HE —ZE—N\F+_-_A=+—HILFE

Attributable to owners of the Company

EOTHA AL
Share Non-
Share Share  Contributed Capital Statutory option Exchange  Accumulated controlling
capital premium surplus reserve reserves reserve reserve losses Sub-total interests Total
B& REEE RizH EAGE EERE  BRERE EXfRE ZithE Nt FBRER @it

Notes HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Wit TR TR TR TiEn TiEn TiEn TiEn TR TR TR TR
(Note 29) (Note 30) (Note 30) (Note 30) (Note 30)
(Ri&29) (H¥3E30) (H¥3E30) (H¥3E30) (H¥3E30)

For the year ended BE-®-N\F

31 December 2018 TZB=t-ALEE
At 1 January 2018 W=%-7\§-A-A 308,813 3,237,011 41,514 115,807 89,774 37,409 439,848 (5,108,658) (832,416) (356) (832,772)
Loss for the year EEEE - - - - - - - (508,966) (508,966) (30) (508,996)
Other comprehensive income EREMEENE:

for the year:

Exchange differences on translation of  SESMIERENEEL£E

foreign operations - - - - - - 101,599 - 101,599 18 101,617

Total comprehensive loss FEXEEBLE

for the year - - - - - - 101,599 (508,966) (407,367) (12) (407,379)
At31 December 2018 RZ®-NF+2A=1-A 308813 3,237,077 4751 115,807 89,774 37,409 541447 (5617624)  (1,239.783) (368)  (1,240,151)

The notes on pages 96 to 232 are an integral part of these 596%2328 it AALREMIEHRERN —25H -
consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

FERERER

For the year ended 31 December 2018 HE —Z—N\F+-_A=+—HILFE

///;/’

2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—tF
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
Bt 5 FET FHAIT
Cash flows from operating activities E&EFEH 2 HERE
Loss before income tax BRET{S TR E 18 (508,996) (472,689)
Adjustments for: BTN BIEFE
Finance costs & KA 9 341,168 343,919
Finance income A& WA 9 (118) (139)
Gain on disposal of property, HEME- - BERZEZ
plant and equipment, net W 558 6 (5,064) (185)
Gain on deconsolidation of ME AR IEEGRE AR Z
subsidiaries, net W e 58 6.8 - (44,455)
Depreciation e 7,14 66,398 72,260
Amortisation of prepaid land lease A 1~ £ b 72 & 2R E B
payments 7,15 4,610 4,506
Provision for/(reversal of) impairment JE U BR R E B,
of trade receivables (#mE) 7,21 2,069 (11,571)
Provision for impairment of TE BB E R &
prepayments 7 4,122 3,705
(Reversal of)/provision for impairment i fth 8 U I8 Rl (B
of other receivables (Bm) i (1,254) 1,475
Provision for impairment of inventories 7% & @ (B B & 7,20 24,273 12,360
Equity-settled share-based AR AR 2 R 1
compensation expense HERMX 10 - 22
Write off of other payables S EL A FE A< RRIE (3.779) =
Operating loss before working LEESEHRIZ
capital changes: KRR (76,571) (90,792)
Changes in working capital: BELESEE:
(Increase)/decrease in inventories =& (#Em),wmd (57,074) 23,671
Increase in trade receivables JIE W2 B SR 38 1 (7,629) (33,457)
(Increase)/decrease in prepayments, TERTFRIE e KA E
deposits and other receivables WeskaE (360n) A (36,699) 31,375
Increase in trade and notes payables JE A< BR SR % FE A R AR A A0 73,282 4,587
Increase in other payables and accruals £ fth &~ FUE K2
FEET & RIE N 54,955 60,724
Net cash flows used in operating KETEBFTA 2
activities REMEFHE (49,736) (3,892)
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

HReReRER

For the year ended 31 December 2018 HE —ZE—N\F+_-_A=+—HILFE

2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—tF
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
Bt FET FAIT
Cash flows from investing activities RETFEH2HERE
Interest received 28 118 139
Payments for property, X% BB &R
plant and equipment (46,190) (1,738)
Decrease in pledged time deposits B 4K 3 % BT 5RO - 1,663
Net cash disposed on deconsolidation /B QA A& IL&z & ABRES
of subsidiaries i ZIRE FEE 8 = (257)
Net cash flows used in investing REFREMAZ
e SenEam . C507) I (158
Cash flows from financing activities BEEFEH2HERE
Addition of bank and other borrowings #2881 R EMEE 200,785 296,642
Repayment of bank and ERBITRAMEE
other borrowings (81,702) (267,346)
Interest paid B F B (38,800) (26,655)
Net cash flows generated from BEESEE L
financing activities ReREFHE 80,283 2,641
Net decrease in cash and cash ReRBESEEYEDIZ
equivalents FEE (15,525) (1,444)
Cash and cash equivalents at FzRERASEEY
beginning of year 20,046 20,143
Effect of foreign exchange rate SN [ 2% B B 0 B R B
changes, net (265) 1,347
Cash and cash equivalents FRZEAERESEEY
at end of year 4,256 20,046
Analysis of balances of cash and RERBESENERDINT
cash equivalents
Cash and bank balances B e MIRITHE R 23 4,256 20,046
The notes on pages 96 to 232 are an integral part of these 596%2328 v Wizt AR E MIEREAR —Z5 -

consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

FERERER

For the year ended 31 December 2018 HE —Z—N\F+-_A=+—HILFE

(@) Recondiliation of liabilities arising from financing activities (@) RERMETHZBEYHER
This section sets out an analysis of liabilities arising from RENEF R ERMEEE 2 BENDITARF
financing activities and the movements in liabilities arising from NRERMEEB 2 BENES-

financing activities for the year.

Bank and other

borrowings

RIRHEMESE

HK$'000

FHBT

At 1 January 2017 R=—ZE—+tH&—HA—H 2,331,498
Cash inflows BERA 296,642
Cash outflows b e gt (267,346)
Exchange difference MEHZR 132,982
At 31 December 2017 R-E—+tF+=-A=+—H 2,493,776
At 1 January 2018 R=-ZE—N\E—HF—H 2,493,776
Cash inflows BERA 200,785
Cash outflows Be&m (81,702)
Exchange difference PE X ZRE (96,761)
At 31 December 2018 R-ZEBE-NE+=-A=+—8H 2,516,098
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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96

GENERAL INFORMATION

Nickel Resources International Holdings Company Limited
(the “"Company”) was incorporated as an exempted company
with limited liability in the Cayman Islands on 11 March 2004
under the Companies Law, Chapter 22 (Law 3 of 1961, as
consolidated and revised) of the Cayman Islands. The registered
office of the Company is located at Cricket Square, Hutchins
Drive, P.O. Box 2681, Grand Cayman, KY1-1111, Cayman
Islands. The principal place of business of the Company and its
subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) is located at
No. 7, Block F, Runhua Business Garden, No. 24, Jinshui Road,
Jinshui District, Zhengzhou City, Henan Province, the People’s
Republic of China (the “PRC"), 450012. The principal place of
business of the Company is located at Room 2003, West Tower,
Shun Tak Centre, 168-200 Connaught Road Central, Hong
Kong.

The principal activity of the Company is investment holdings.
The Group is principally engaged in the manufacturing, sub-
contracting and sale of iron and steel products in the PRC and
the trading of ore. The Company’s shares are listed on the Main
Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”).

In the opinion of the directors of the Company, Easyman Assets
Management Limited (“Easyman”), a company incorporated in
the British Virgin Islands (“BVI") and wholly owned by Mr. Dong
Shutong (“Mr. Dong”), is the ultimate holding company of
the Company. Mr. Dong is regarded as the ultimate controlling

party.
These consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong

Kong dollar (“HK$"), unless otherwise stated, and have been
approved for issue by the board of Directors on 29 March 2019.

RERERERAR AR

—RER

BEREAEERBR AR (TRAR]) R
—ETENE="AT—BRBHREHEAF
EEBNE (—NA—FE=ZREH - &ix
aREEREHETMKR LRER R
AR A A AR B 5t 3 E B AL Cricket
Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681, Grand
Cayman, KY1-1111, Cayman Islands ° 252 &]
LEWBAR (#il [ AEE]) 2L EM
BRALPA R ZE AR KEFE ([ ))A & &
M 27K E KB 2458 B S IE R FEET 57
(E#HAS0012) e KRR E B Z E MBI
BATHBF168-2005% =12+ L F 22003

=
2°

ARBZETBEBRREER - AEEBTE
R B FME R mAE T RHE MR
ABSHER - ARANBOHRBLHAERS
FrBR AR ([BEAFT]) ERET -

BRERARABZEZER RREBELES
(REBRLZES])AMA I REE R L
& ([ERAE]) R EHEB ZEasyman Assets
Management Limited ([Easyman ]) &4 A
Bl Z BRI A R - B E R BRI
Eo

ZERAMBEmRAETT (1B7T]) 55k (B

FREHE) AEEHEEER-F—AN
= A=+ AAIETE-
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

R MEBRRME

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES
The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation
of these consolidated financial statements are set out below.
These policies have been consistently applied to all the years
presented, unless otherwise stated.

2.1 Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements of the Company
have been prepared in accordance with International
Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance
Cap.622. The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared under the historical cost convention except that
certain financial assets and liabilities (including derivative
financial instruments) are measured at fair value, as
appropriate.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity
with IFRS requires the use of certain critical accounting
estimates. It also requires management to exercise
its judgement in the process of applying the Group's
accounting policies. The areas involving a higher degree
of judgment or complexity, or areas where assumptions
and estimates are significant to the consolidated financial
statements, are disclosed in Note 4.

(@) Going concern
During the year ended 31 December 2018, the
Group incurred a net loss of HK$508,996,000
and had a net operating cash outflow of
HK$49,736,000. As at 31 December 2018,
the Group had a shareholders’ deficit of
HK$1,240,151,000 and net current liabilities
of HK$4,172,126,000, and the Group's total
borrowings amounted to HK$2,577,080,000 which
comprised bank and other borrowings, convertible
bonds and notes payables of HK$2,516,098,000,
HK$46,775,000 and HK$14,207,000, respectively
as at 31 December 2018. Cash and cash equivalents
of the Group amounted to HK$4,256,000 as at 31
December 2018.

2

TEEHBRUE

ZE%*?% FEMBEHRRARANER ST
RFIWT R BB RAN ZFHRER
MBE2RFEEREKRA -

2.1

mEEE

$/‘ Al4R B B SRR TH IR IR BR B 75
HAEER ([RRFHREER]) RE

ﬁé/& AMEPIZE622E M IR R ERE -

BRETEREERARE (BETESHR

TE)EAAEEE (WER) I 47

AU BHRRCIRBELRNA LR -

BIEBIRR B R S R AR R T R
FEFERETEANGHET - EAE
BEASHBRNBREREY  TEEERE
B HE -5 R E R RE KSR H
B €05 - SOp RIRR A G ET ¥ 4R AR
BRERABERTEZEE KK
5" o

(@) HFELKE
HE-_Z—N\F+=-—A=+—
BIEFE AEBELAEBEEF
%8508,996,0008 T & & & 1]
% 7 % 5849,736,00078 It ©
RZE—NE+_A=+—
H A&EEBHNRREBEAAR
1,240,151,000/8 7.~ A B & &
SE{E 54,172,126,0005% 7T K& A
EE/4LREEA2,577,080,000
BT BREBOTEREMEER-
TR EFREMEER-Z
—NEFE+-_A=+—8B23 A
2,516,098,0007% 7T * 46,775,000
77T 214,207,000 Lo A — &
—N\E+-—A=+—HB x&£H
e KIREEEYA4,256,00075
=
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)
2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)
(@) Going concern (Continued)

As at 31 December 2018, the Group’s borrowings
to the extent of HK$2,562,873,000 were either
overdue or due for immediate repayment despite
the original contractual repayment dates of some of
these borrowings are still within twelve months as at
the reporting date. This is mainly because:

()

(ii)

on 19 December 2014, the Group failed
to make interest payment totalling
HK$16,108,000 under the relevant terms
and conditions of its Modified 10% Coupon
Bonds, 12% Coupon Senior Bonds and 8%
Coupon Convertible Bonds (together the
"Bonds"”), details of which are disclosed in
Notes 27 and 28. This constituted an event
of default under the respective terms of
the Bonds. The Bonds had become overdue
as at 31 December 2018 and the Group
failed to pay interest payment of the Bonds
in aggregate of HK$184,432,000 up to 31
December 2018.

as at 31 December 2018, a secured bank
loan of HK$95,811,000 which contains a
repayable on demand clause was immediately
due and payable and the Group failed to pay
interest expense amounting to approximately
HK$8,868,000 up to 31 December 2018;

RERERERAR AR

2

TR HERME (F)

21 mEEE (HF)
(a) HELZE (A
RZZE—NF+ZA=+—8"
REEE 2 {£52,562,873,000/8 7T
DEHAs ANEEE BEE P
EETEEZRANEZBHMN
ARNREEHAN+—ER -2
B

) RZE—EmF+=A+AN
B AEBERERBEELE
FI0%EmMEES 12%
EHMEEBLEFKSNEA
BEAMmRES (5l %E
&%) 2 IR R AR
S FI 24 $£16,108,0007%
TC B BERM 27 R
28 - RIEZEEH 2 HBIE
HOEEKENEH -ZE
BEER-_ZE—N\FE+=
A=+—H#®#& BEZ—=
T—N\Ft+=-—A=+—8"
AEBREZTZEESH
") F B A 184,432,000
=

—E2-NEFE+ = A
+—H BESREXE
BIERBEBRITER
95,811,000/ 7T B B 21 Hf
REMS MAKEEE -
—N\NFE+-_A=+—8F
8E 7 1+ £98,868,0007%8 7T 2
@B

(ii)

%
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)
2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)
(@) Going concern (Continued)

(i) the Group has obtained a 3-year syndicated

Annual Report 2018

loan of approximately RMB498 million
(equivalent to HK$556,859,000) in January
2016 from a syndicate of banks in the
PRC (i) to replace certain outstanding bank
loans and notes payable of the Group as
at 31 December 2015 to the extent of
RMB268,620,000 and RMB79,737,000,
respectively with the syndicated loan of the
same amount; and (ii) to provide additional
loan facilities to the Group as working capital
for an amount of RMB 150,000,000 (the “New
Facilities”) for a 3-year term. The New Facilities
had been fully drawn down during the year
ended 31 December 2016. The syndicated
loan is secured by certain property, plant and
equipment and prepaid land lease payments
of certain subsidiaries of the Group. However,
the Group failed to fulfil certain undertakings
and restrictive covenant requirements under
these syndicated loan facilities upon signing
the syndicated loan agreement; and the
Group also failed to pay interest totalling
HK$34,003,000 up to 31 December 2018. As
a result, the outstanding amount of the 3-year
syndicated loan of HK$568,409,000 and
the related interest expense are immediately
due and payable as at 31 December 2018.
In addition, the Group failed to repay the
principal amount of the loan together with the
related interest in January 2019; and

2

/’/,
FESTBERBE (8)
21 REEE (/E)
(a) FELE (ME)
iy N-ZZT—XRF— A" Zk‘i

EE a+TE—REERE

HABR=-FHNREERLD
ARB498E T (HER
556,859,000/ 7T ) * ()it
NEZEMREEREAR
EER-_ZT—HF+=A
—t+—HHKREENET
RITERNMENEE €%
7 Bl & A R #268,620,000
TR AR#79,737,0007T
RNaAREBIREEINE
HBMEEREEES ©
%A AR ®150,000,000
T (FE/E]) A=
F-BE_T—RF+-A
=t+—HILFE FHEpE
B2 - REERER

SEETHEBARNET
VE RN S DS LN

T F EFIESER - SR
AEBREZBREEND
B REEETTZESRER
HEEETHE TEAER
MR 12233 5E &zﬁﬁl
NMABEEINEEZZT—N
F+-_A=+—HzaH
34,003,000/ 7T 2 #) 8 o A&
It = FHRSRE B KA R (E
i& 4 %3568,409,00078 7T &
HEMERIRZE—N
F+-—RA=+—HEBK
EIJH}%J*H AN - AR EE R
—NF—AREEE
mmzr'i/f EEEE RS
&
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)
2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)
(@) Going concern (Continued)

(iv)

(vi)

the Group has obtained an unsecured
3-year loan facility from a PRC bank for an
amount of RMB360 million (equivalent to
HK$430,674,000) (the "Unsecured Loan
Facility”) in June 2016. As at 31 December
2018, approximately RMB355 million
(equivalent to HK$404,777,000) of the
Unsecured Loan Facility has been drawn
down mainly to replace part of the loans in
relation to the proposed disposal of a 30%
equity interest in S.E.A. Mineral Limited
("SEAM"), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Group, as detailed in Note 27(d). However,
the Group failed to fulfil certain undertakings
and restrictive covenant requirements under
this Unsecured Loan Facility upon signing the
loan agreement. In addition, the Group also
failed to pay interest totalling HK$34,286,000
up to 31 December 2018. As a result,
the outstanding amount of this loan of
HK$404,777,000 and the related interest
expense are immediately due and payable as
at 31 December 2018.

as at 31 December 2018, other loans to
the extent of HK$228,258,000 had become
overdue;

other borrowings to the extent of
HK$652,226,000 were overdue and
HK$147,227,000 were on repayable on
demand terms;

RERERERAR AR

2

TR HERME (F)

21 mEEE (HF)
(a) HELZE (A

(iv) R-ZT—NFNA KEE
EEPE—RERITERE—
HAB = FEEKRER
BEARE3 60T (HHE
430,674,000/ 7T) ([
EHEERME]) - H=F
—NEFE+=-—A=+—8"
BEREA ARMEIS5ET
(8% 404,777,000/ 7T)
REEFEESREE  FEH
MERBAOREZHER
EE2EMBARETRE
EBRAA ([FEFERE])
30% B2 EE KK
27(d)FFi o PR T - AN S B
SEERMERE KR
TZERBERMEERET
B T ARERR SIS
T o LN NEBRAE
NEZE-_Z—N\F+_-A
=+—H2z&#34,286,000
I ZF B e Bt ZE K
B 7K 18 38 £ %8404,777,000
BT RABNERZR
E—-NE+-_A=+—8
BB X /4 Bl B FE A ©

vy RZ=ZF-NF+=A
=-+—H" 228,258,000/
THEMERE BN

(Vi)  652,226,0005% 7T ) H b &
KB 8 E K 147,227,000
TLARENREE-
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2

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)
2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)

(a)

Annual Report 2018

Going concern (Continued)

Together with the accrued interest for borrowings
to the extent of HK$1,154,620,000 (included
those overdue bank loan interest mentioned in (ii)
to (iv) above) as at 31 December 2018 included
in other payables and accruals, the aggregate
borrowings and interest that were either overdue
or due for immediate repayment amounted to
HK$3,717,493,000 as at 31 December 2018.

In addition, the Group is involved in various
claims and dispute as detailed in Note 32 to the
consolidated financial statements.

The aforementioned conditions indicate the
existence of material uncertainties which may cast
significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue
as a going concern such that it may not be able to
realise its assets and discharge its liabilities in the
normal course of business.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)
2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)
(@) Going concern (Continued)

In view of such circumstances, the directors of
the Company have given careful consideration to
the future liquidity and performance of the Group
and its available sources of financing in assessing
whether the Group will have sufficient financial
resources to continue as a going concern. Certain
measures have been taken to mitigate the liquidity
pressure and to improve its financial position which
include, but not limited to, the following:

)

On 5 March 2016, the Company and a
potential investor (the "Potential Investor”
or “Subscriber”) entered into a share
subscription agreement to subscribe for a
total of 1,465,898,410 new ordinary shares
of the Company at a subscription price of
HK$0.1876 per share (the “Subscription
Shares”), with proposed gross proceeds
totalling approximately HK$275 million (the
“Subscription”), subject to certain conditions
precedent which, among others, include the
following:

o approval from the Company’s
shareholders, or independent
shareholders when appropriate, for
(i) allotment and issuance of the
Subscription Shares; (i) a Whitewash
Waiver; and (iii) a Special Deal (as
defined hereunder), at the extraordinary
general meeting of the Company
("EGM");
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)
2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)
(@) Going concern (Continued)

(M

Annual Report 2018

(Continued)

Whitewash Waiver being granted by
The Securities and Futures Commission
of Hong Kong (“SFC”) in respect of
any obligation of the Subscriber and
parties acting in concert with it to make
a mandatory general offer in cash for
all the issued shares and other relevant
securities of the Company not already
owned (or agreed to be acquired) by the
Subscriber and parties acting in concert
with it which might otherwise arise as a
result of the Subscription;

the consent from the SFC for repayment
to any creditor who is a shareholder of
the Company using the proceeds from
the Subscription under a proposed debt
restructuring as mentioned below (the
“Special Deal”);

approval of resumption of trading of
the Company’s shares, and listing of
the Subscription Shares from the Stock
Exchange; and
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)

Going concern (Continued)

(a)

(M

(Continued)

completion of a debt restructuring by
the Company by way of the “Schemes”
(Note) (the "Debt Restructuring
Proposal”). The debt restructuring
refers to a plan for restructuring of
the indebtedness of the Company
which involves, among other things: (i)
the reduction and cancellation of the
outstanding principal amount of the
Bonds by at least 80%; (ii) the reduction
and cancellation of all the outstanding
accrued interests of the Bonds; (iii) the
release and discharge of all security
collateral provided in relation to the
12% Coupon Senior Bonds and the 8%
Coupon Convertible Bonds; and (iv) the
reduction and cancellation of all other
indebtedness and contingent liabilities
of the Company as referred to in the
Debt Restructuring Proposal, by at least
80%.

In respect of the above, the Company
appointed a financial advisor and debt
restructuring scheme advisor to facilitate the
Subscription and Debt Restructuring Proposal.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)
2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)
(@) Going concern (Continued)

(M

Annual Report 2018

(Continued)

At the meetings of the holders of the 12%
Coupon Senior Bonds and the 8% Coupon
Convertible Bonds held on 21 June 2016
and 6 July 2016, respectively, separate
extraordinary resolutions (“Extraordinary
Resolutions”) were passed and resolved,
among others, to approve the Debt
Restructuring Proposal, not to enforce any
security of the Bonds until approval of the
Schemes and release the security as required
under the Schemes following the Schemes
becoming effective, vote the entire principal
amount in favour of the Schemes at the
meetings of the Schemes, waive any event
of default or potential event of default which
might or has occurred and not to demand
repayment of any amount due under the
Bonds.

Following the passing and effectiveness of
the Extraordinary Resolutions by 6 July 2016,
the Company is preparing the necessary
documents to submit to the courts for the
relevant creditors’ approval and court sanction
for the Cayman Scheme and the Hong
Kong Scheme under the Debt Restructuring
Proposal.

The Company is also actively negotiating
with other creditors of the Company for the
execution of the Debt Restructuring Proposal.

Note:

The proposed scheme of arrangement pursuant to Section
86 of the Companies Law (2007 Revision) of the Cayman
Islands between the Company and the creditors under such
scheme (the “Cayman Scheme”) and the proposed scheme
of arrangement of pursuant to Sections 670, 673 and 674
of the Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the Laws of
Hong Kong) between the Company and the creditors under
such scheme (the “Hong Kong Scheme”), collectively are
referred to as the “Schemes”.

Nickel Resources International Holdings Company Limited
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)
2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)
(@) Going concern (Continued)

)

In relation to the secured bank loan of
HK$95,811,000 which contains a repayable
on demand clause, the Group is actively
negotiating with the bank for waiver of the
relevant clause and renewal of the loan,
including extension of the related interest
payments.

In relation to the syndicated bank loan and
the bank loan under the Unsecured Loan
Facility to the extent of HK$568,409,000 and
HK$404,777,000, respectively, the Group
is actively negotiating with the respective
banks for the waiver of the breach of
the undertaking and restrictive covenant
requirements; and the renewal of these loans,
including extension of the related interest
payments.

On 21 January 2013, the Group entered
into a non-binding framework agreement
with Beijing Wincapital Management Co.,
Ltd. (“Beijing Wincapital”) in relation to
the disposal of a 30% equity interest in
SEAM, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Group. The aggregate disposal consideration
is expected to be approximately US$150
million (approximately HK$1,170 million).
The proposed transaction is yet to complete
and no formal sales and purchase agreement
has been entered into up to the date of
approval of these consolidated financial
statements. Longer than expected time was
spent on negotiation of the detailed terms
and conditions because of the rapid change
in operating and regulatory environment of
SEAM since the framework agreement was
signed. The Group is currently negotiating
with Beijing Wincapital to modify the structure
and detailed terms of the disposal on equity
interest in SEAM.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)
2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)
(@) Going concern (Continued)

()

Annual Report 2018

(Continued)

In connection with the proposed disposal,
Beijing Wincapital arranged certain loan
finance to the Group (“Financing Loans”),
which can be settled by offsetting against the
disposal consideration should the proposed
disposal be completed, details of which are
disclosed in Note 27(d).

During the year ended 31 December 2017,
a loan arranged by Beijing Wincapital
of RMB200,000,000 (equivalent to
HK$239,263,000) has been novated to Henan
Pingyuan Holding Group Co., Ltd (“a & F
[RIZEAREEE I BBR AR or “Pingyuan”),
details of which are disclosed in Notes 27(d)
and 27(f).

As at 31 December 2018, the
outstanding Financing Loans amounted to
approximately RMB200 million (equivalent
to HK$228,258,000) were overdue for
repayments. Up to the date of approval of the
consolidated financial statements, the Group
has not received any letter from the lender
demanding for repayment of these loans.
Management is currently negotiating with
the relevant parties to formally extend the
repayment of these borrowings to facilitate
the completion of the proposed disposal.
Management believes that with bona fide
intention for all relevant parties, the proposed
disposal will be completed and the Group will
be able to offset all these borrowings against
the disposal consideration.

Nickel Resources International Holdings Company Limited
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)
2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)
(@) Going concern (Continued)

(@)

(Continued)

On each of 11 March 2018 and 8 June
2018, the Group entered into a sale and
purchase agreement with Mr. Sun Gang (“Mr.
Sun”), who is also a substantial shareholder
of Pingyuan, pursuant to which the Group
agreed to sell an aggregate 14% equity
interest in SEAM to Mr. Sun at an aggregate
consideration of RMB420,000,000 (equivalent
to approximately HK$479,343,000)
conditional upon, amongst others, obtaining
approval from shareholders of the Company
at an extraordinary general meeting and
resumption of trading of the Company’s
shares.

Apart from the borrowings mentioned in (1)
to (4) above, the Group had other borrowings
from certain related parties of the Group,
the Potential Investor, related parties of the
Potential Investor and other third parties
(secured and unsecured) of HK$88,809,000,
HK$225,976,000, HK$300,057,000 and
HK$184,611,000, respectively that were either
overdue or due for immediate repayment as
at 31 December 2018. The Group has been
actively negotiating with the lenders for the
renewal and extension of the repayment dates
of these borrowings, of which an extension
of the repayments of the borrowings from
related parties of the Potential Investor for a
term of 2 years is currently under discussion.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)
2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)
(@) Going concern (Continued)

(6)

Annual Report 2018

The Group is also negotiating with various
financial institutions and identifying various
options for financing the Group’s working
capital and commitments in the foreseeable
future, including identification of potential
investors to invest in various projects
undertaken by the Group.

The Group is also maximizing its sales
effort, including speeding up of sales of its
existing inventories and seeking new orders
from overseas markets or new customers
on developed new products, exploring new
business opportunities and implementing
more stringent cost control measures with a
view to improving operating cash flows. The
Group has also engaged in providing sub-
contracting services to external customers
since 2017 and entered into a cooperation
agreement with a potential business partner
in August 2018 to better utilise the Group’s
production capacities. Management believes
that the Group will be able to record a
significant increase in revenue in the coming
twelve months after the reporting period.

The Group has engaged legal advisors to
handle all claims and disputes as detailed
in Note 32 to the consolidated financial
statements. In preparing these consolidated
financial statements, the directors have also
obtained advice from legal advisors on these
matters and, based upon which, are of the
view that the Group will be able to resolve
those outstanding claims and disputes, with
no significant cash outflows in the next twelve
months.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)
2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)

(a)

Going concern (Continued)

The directors have reviewed the Group's cash flow
projections prepared by management that covered
a period of not less than twelve months from the
end of the reporting period and considered that,
taking into account the above-mentioned plans and
measures, the Group will have sufficient working
capital to finance its operations and to meet its
financial obligations as and when they fall due
within the next twelve months from the end of the
reporting period, and therefore it is appropriate to
prepare the consolidated financial information on a
going concern basis.

Notwithstanding the above, significant multiple
uncertainties exist as to whether management of
the Company will be able to achieve its plans and
measures as described above. Whether the Group
will be able to continue as a going concern would
depend upon the Group’s ability to manage its
indebtedness, and generate adequate financing and
operating cash flows through:

(1) successful completion of the issuance
of the Subscription Shares after fulfilling
all conditions precedent as detailed, but
not limited to, above and in particular
by the successful completion of the Debt
Restructuring Proposal;

(2)  successful negotiation with the banks for the
waiver of the repayable on demand clause
and breach of the undertaking and restrictive
covenant requirements, and the renewal of
these loans totalling HK$1,068,997,000;
together with the extension of the
related overdue interest expense totalling
HK$77,157,000 up to 31 December 2018 and
any further default in repayment of principal
and interest after the year end date;
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)
2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)
(@) Going concern (Continued)

3)

Annual Report 2018

successful negotiation with the financiers
to extend the repayment date of a loan
arranged by Beijing Wincapital (see Note
27(d)) of RMB200 million (equivalent to
HK$228,258,000) until completion of the
proposed disposal of interest in SEAM under
the above-mentioned framework agreement
at the prescribed consideration and be
able to collect the disposal consideration
in full immediately upon completion of
the transaction after properly offsetting
the above-mentioned borrowings of
approximately RMB200 million;

successful completion of the disposal of an
aggregate 14% equity interest in SEAM to
Mr. Sun under the above-mentioned sale
and purchase agreements at the prescribed
consideration and be able to collect the
disposal consideration of RMB420,000,000
(equivalent to HK479,343,000) in full
immediately upon completion of the
transactions;

successful negotiation with the related parties
of the Group, the Potential Investor, related
parties of the Potential Investor and other third
party lenders for extension of their relevant
borrowings by maintaining relationship with
them, and such that no action will be taken
by those lenders to demand immediate
repayment of the overdue borrowings under
negotiation;
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)
2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)

(a)

(b)

Going concern (Continued)

(6) successful negotiation with the lenders for
obtaining additional new financing and other
sources of funding as and when required;

(7)  successful implementation of its operation
plans described above to control costs
and generate more revenue for adequate
operating cash flows; and

(8)  successful resolution of the outstanding claims
and disputes, and without significant cash
outflows in the next twelve months.

Should the Group fail to achieve the above
mentioned plans and measures, it might not be
able to continue to operate as a going concern,
and adjustments would have to be made to write
down the carrying values of the Group’s assets to
their recoverable amounts, to provide for any further
liabilities which might arise and to reclassify non-
current assets and non-current liabilities as current
assets and current liabilities, respectively. The effects
of these adjustments have not been reflected in
these consolidated financial statements.

Changes in accounting policy and disclosures
(1) New and amended standards adopted by the
Group
The Group has applied the following standards
and amendments for the first time for their
annual reporting period commencing 1
January 2018:

° IFRS 9 — Financial Instruments
. IFRS 15 — Revenue from Contracts with
Customers
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R MEBRRME

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)
2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)

(b) Changes in accounting policy and disclosures
(Continued)

(1)

Annual Report 2018

New and amended standards adopted by the

Group (Continued)

o Amendments to IFRS 2 — Classification
and Measurement of Share-based
Payment Transactions

o Amendments to IFRS 4 — Applying IFRS
9 Financial Instruments with IFRS 4
Insurance Contracts

. Amendments to IFRS 15 — Clarifications
to IFRS 15

. Amendments to IFRSs — Annual
Improvements 2014-2016 cycle

. Amendments to IAS 40 — Transfers of
Investment Property

° Interpretation 22 — Foreign Currency
Transactions and Advance Consideration

The Group had to change its accounting
policies and make retrospective adjustments,
where relevant, as a result of adopting IFRS
9 and IFRS 15. The impact of the adoption
of these standards are disclosed below.
Reclassification of impairment losses on
financial assets is also required as a result
of consequential changes made to IAS
1 Presentation of Financial Statements.
Impairment losses on financial assets that
were previously classified as administrative
expenses are now presented separately in the
consolidated income statement.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)
2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)

(b)

Changes in accounting policy and disclosures

(Continued)

(1) New and amended standards adopted by the
Group (Continued)
Saved as disclosed below, the adoption
of other amendments on standards and
interpretation did not have any material
impact on the consolidated financial
statements of the Group for the year.

(a

Adoption of IFRS 9

IFRS 9 replaces the provisions of IAS
39 that relate to the recognition,
classification and measurement of
financial assets and financial liabilities,
derecognition of financial instruments,
impairment of financial assets and
hedge accounting.

The adoption of IFRS 9 from 1 January
2018 resulted in changes in accounting
policies and adjustments to the amounts
recognized in the consolidated financial
statements. The new accounting
policies are set out in Notes 2.11
and 2.14 below. In accordance with
the transitional provisions in IFRS 9,
comparative figures have not been
restated.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)

Changes in accounting policy and disclosures
(Continued)

New and amended standards adopted by the
Group (Continued)

(b)

(1)

Annual Report 2018

(a)

Adoption of IFRS 9 (Continued)

Classification and measurement of
financial instruments

On 1 January 2018 (the date of initial
application of IFRS 9), the Group’s
management has assessed which
business models apply to the financial
assets held by the Group and has
classified its financial instruments into
the appropriate IFRS 9 categories.
There were no impact on the amounts
recognised in relation to these assets
from the adoption of IFRS 9.

There is also no impact on the Group's
accounting for financial liabilities, as
the new requirements only affect the
accounting for financial liabilities that
are designated at fair value through
profit or loss and the Group does not
have any such liabilities.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group has two types of financial
assets that are subject to IFRS 9's new
expected credit loss model:

- trade receivables
- other financial assets at amortised

cost

The Group was required to revise its
impairment methodology under IFRS 9
for each of these classes of assets.

Nickel Resources International Holdings Company Limited
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)

Changes in accounting policy and disclosures
(Continued)
New and amended standards adopted by the
Group (Continued)

Adoption of IFRS 9 (Continued)

(b)

(1)

(a

Impairment of financial assets
(Continued)

(i)

RERERERAR AR

Trade receivables

The Group applies the simplified
approach to provide for expected
credit losses prescribed by IFRS
9, which permits the use of the
lifetime expected losses for all
trade receivables. To measure
the expected credit losses, trade
receivables have been grouped
based on shared credit risk
characteristics. Future cash flows
for each group receivables are
estimated on the basis of historical
loss experience, adjusted to reflect
the effects of current conditions
as well as forward looking
information.

The Group has assessed the
expected credit loss model applied
to the trade receivables as at 1
January 2018 and the change in
impairment methodologies did
not have any material impact on
the Group's consolidated financial
statements and the opening loss
allowance is not restated in this
respect. The adoption of expected
loss approach under IFRS 9 has not
resulted in any material additional
impairment loss for trade

receivables as at 1 January 2018.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)

Changes in accounting policy and disclosures
(Continued)
New and amended standards adopted by the
Group (Continued)

Adoption of IFRS 9 (Continued)

(b)

(1)

Annual Report 2018

(a

Impairment of financial assets
(Continued)

(ii)

Other financial assets at amortised
cost

For other financial assets at
amortised cost, the expected
credit loss is based on the
12-month expected credit loss. It
is the portion of lifetime expected
credit loss that results from default
events on a financial instrument
that are possible within 12
months after the reporting date.
However, when there has been a
significant increase in credit risk
since origination, the allowance
will be based on the lifetime
expected credit loss. Management
has closely monitored the credit
qualities and the collectability
of the other financial assets at
amortised cost and considers that
the expected credit loss is relatively
insignificant.

While cash and cash equivalents
are also subject to the impairment
requirements of IFRS 9, the
identified impairment loss was
immaterial.

Nickel Resources International Holdings Company Limited
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)

Changes in accounting policy and disclosures
(Continued)

New and amended standards adopted by the
Group (Continued)

(b)

(1)

(b)

Adoption of IFRS 15

IFRS 15 establishes a comprehensive
framework for recognizing revenue
and some costs from contracts with
customers. IFRS 15 replaces IAS 18,
Revenue, which covered revenue arising
from sale of goods and rendering of
services, and IAS 11, Construction
contracts, which specified the
accounting for construction contracts.
The Group has elected to use the
modified retrospective approach which
means that the cumulative impact of
the adoption will be recognised in
retained earnings at 1 January 2018.
Therefore, comparative information has
not been restated and continues to be
reported under IAS 18. As allowed by
IFRS 15, the Group has applied the new
requirements only to contracts that were
not completed before 1 January 2018.
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R MEBRRME

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)
(b) Changes in accounting policy and disclosures
(Continued)
New and amended standards adopted by the
Group (Continued)
(b)  Adoption of IFRS 15 (Continued)

(1)

Annual Report 2018

(i

Timing of revenue recognition
Previously, revenue from sale of
goods was generally recognised
at a point in time when the
risks and rewards of ownership
of the goods had passed to
the customers. Under IFRS 15,
revenue is recognised when the
customer obtains control of the
promised good or service in the
contract. This may be at a single
point in time or over time. IFRS
15 identifies the following three
situations in which control of
the promised good or service is
regarded as being transferred over
time:

Nickel Resources International Holdings Company Limited
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)
(b) Changes in accounting policy and disclosures

(Continued)

(1) New and amended standards adopted by the
Group (Continued)
(b)  Adoption of IFRS 15 (Continued)

(i

BRERERZERERARF

Timing of revenue recognition
(Continued)

When the customer
simultaneously receives
and consumes the benefits
provided by the Group's
performance, as the Group
performs;

When the Group's
performance creates or
enhances an asset that the
customer controls as the
asset is created or enhanced,;
or

When the Group's
performance does not create
an asset with an alternative
use to the Group and the
Group has an enforceable
right to payment for
performance completed to
date.

2

TR HERME (F)

21 wREE (R

(b) EBFBEXRBEEZ2S (&)

(1) FEERRZ 5] RAEE

FTER (&

)

(b) FRABERMBREE
AZ155% (&)
Y 25 B 50 By

0

(%)

EEFPHE
AEHERE
#) Y R By
BU1§ &R
EAKE
J& K P
= O

o s

E\

EAKHE
J& %) Bl &
HHR —
HRNEE
% Al & =%
MR i
TP RTE
IOy
Bk

EAKHE
J& #) I
BlEH A
SEME
EZRH
w0 A
E AAX
SEHE
% TR H
J& % 14 5K
HAMA
i B 1T #E
Ak

“E-N\FEEHRE



..//

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

R MEBRRME

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)
(b) Changes in accounting policy and disclosures
(Continued)
New and amended standards adopted by the
Group (Continued)
(b)  Adoption of IFRS 15 (Continued)

(1)

Annual Report 2018

(i

Timing of revenue recognition
(Continued)

If the contract terms and the
Group's activities do not fall
into any of these 3 situations,
then under IFRS 15 the Group
recognises revenue for the sale of
that goods or services at a single
point in time, being when control
has passed. Transfer of risks and
rewards of ownership is only one
of the indicators that is considered
in determining when the transfer
of control occurs. The adoption of
IFRS 15 does not have a significant
impact on the Group’s financial
position and results of operation
for the period. There is also no
material impact to the Group's
retained earnings as at 1 January
2018.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)

Changes in accounting policy and disclosures
(Continued)
New and amended standards adopted by the
Group (Continued)

Adoption of IFRS 15 (Continued)

(b)

(1)

(b)

(ii)

RERERERAR AR

Presentation of contract assets and
liabilities

Upon entering into a contract with
a customer, the Group obtains
rights to receive consideration
from the customer and assume
performance obligations to
transfer goods or services to the
customer. The combination of
those rights and performance
obligations give rise to a net
asset or net liability depending
on the relationship between
the remaining rights and the
performance obligations. The
contract is an asset and recognised
as contract assets if the measure
of the remaining conditional rights
to consideration exceeds the
satisfied performance obligations.
Conversely, the contract is a
liability and recognised as contract
liabilities if consideration received
(or an amount of consideration is
due) from the customer exceed
the measure of the remaining
unsatisfied performance
obligations. The impact on the
Group’s financial position by
the application of IFRS 15 as
compared to IAS 18 that was
previously in effect before the
adoption of IFRS 15 is as follows:
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2

POLICIES (Continued)
2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)
(b)
(Continued)
(1)
Group (Continued)
(b)

(ii)

g /
> P
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
FTESTTEEHE (F)
21 mEEE(HF)
Changes in accounting policy and disclosures (b) EBFBREREEZEE (&)
New and amended standards adopted by the (1) FEERDFETRAENE
ETERI (&)
Adoption of IFRS 15 (Continued) (b)  BR 4N B R A 75 5 4
BIZE155% (4&)
Presentation of contract assets and iy ZIEHNEE
liabilities (Continued) kafE (&)
As at 1 January 2018
R=Z-NE-B-H
As
previously  Reclassification
stated  under IFRS 15 As restated
REERTE
FERE5H
BEAZT EfifE mEy
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT Fhx FHT
Consolidated Statement of Financial SEMEMRE (Fix)
Position (Extract)
Current liabilities: RBRE:
Other payables and accurals At FERETAE 34,799 (34,799) -
Other payables and accruals EhEMTERETAR
- Contract liabilities -ANaR - 34,799 34,799
34,799 - 34,799
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)
2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)
(b) Changes in accounting policy and disclosures
(Continued)

@)

Impact of standards issued but not yet applied
by the Group
IFRS 16 Leases

IFRS 16 was issued in January 2016. It will
result in almost all leases being recognised
on the consolidated statement of financial
position, as the distinction between operating
and finance leases is removed. Under the new
standard, an asset (the right to use the leased
item) and a financial liability to pay rentals are
recognised. The only exceptions are short-term
and low-value leases.

The accounting for lessors will not significantly
change.

The standard will affect primarily the
accounting for Group's operating leases. As
at 31 December 2018, the Group has non-
cancellable operating lease commitments in
respect of certain properties of HK$4,444,000.
Upon the initial adoption of IFRS 16, the
opening balances of lease liabilities and the
corresponding right-of-use assets will be
recognised, after taking into account the
effects of discounting, as at 1 January 2019.
The application of the new accounting model
is expected to lead to an increase in both
assets and liabilities and to impact on the
timing of the expense recognition in the profit
or loss over the period of the lease.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)
2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)
(b) Changes in accounting policy and disclosures
(Continued)

@)

Annual Report 2018

Impact of standards issued but not yet applied
by the Group (Continued)
IFRS 16 Leases (Continued)

The Group has not yet assessed the
adjustments, if any, that are necessary for
example because of the change in the
definition of the lease term and the different
treatment of variable lease payments and
of extension and termination options. It is
therefore not yet possible to estimate the
amount of right-of-use assets and lease
liabilities that will have to be recognised on
adoption of the new standard and how this
may affect the Group's profit or loss and
classification of cash flows going forward.

IFRS 16 is mandatory for financial years
commencing on or after 1 January 2019.
The Group will apply the standard from its
mandatory adoption date. The Group intends
to apply the simplified transition approach and
will not restate comparative amounts for the
year prior to first adoption.

There are no other standards and
interpretations that are not yet effective
that would be expected to have a material
impact on the entity in the current or future
reporting periods and on foreseeable future
transactions.

Nickel Resources International Holdings Company Limited
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

2.2 Principles of consolidation and equity
accounting

(a)

(b)

Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are all entities over which the Group
has control. The Group controls an entity when
the Group is exposed to, or has rights to, variable
returns from its involvement with the entity and has
the ability to affect those returns through its power
to direct the activities of the entity. Subsidiaries are
fully consolidated from the date on which control is
transferred to the Group. They are deconsolidated
from the date that control ceases.

The acquisition method of accounting is used to
account for business combinations by the Group.

Intercompany transactions, balances and unrealised
gains on transactions between group companies
are eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated
unless the transaction provides evidence of an
impairment of the transferred asset. Accounting
policies of subsidiaries have been changed where
necessary to ensure consistency with the policies
adopted by the Group.

Non-controlling interests in the results and equity of
subsidiaries are shown separately in the consolidated
income statement, consolidated statement of
comprehensive income, consolidated statement of
changes in equity and consolidated statement of
financial position respectively.

Associated companies

Associated companies are all entities over which
the Group has significant influence but not control
or joint control. This is generally the case where
the Group holds between 20% and 50% of the
voting rights. Investments in associated companies
are accounted for using the equity method of
accounting (see (c) below), after initially being
recognised at cost.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)
2.2 Principles of consolidation and equity
accounting (Continued)

(9]

Annual Report 2018

Equity accounting

Under the equity method of accounting, the
investments are initially recognised at cost and
adjusted thereafter to recognise the Group's
share of the post-acquisition profits or losses of
the investee in consolidated income statement,
and the Group's share of movements in other
comprehensive income of the investee in other
comprehensive income. Dividends received or
receivable from associated companies are recognised
as a reduction in the carrying amount of the
investment.

When the Group's share of losses in an equity-
accounted investment equals or exceeds its interest
in the entity, including any other unsecured long-
term receivables, the Group does not recognise
further losses, unless it has incurred obligations or
made payments on behalf of the other entity.

Unrealised gains on transactions between the Group
and its associated companies are eliminated to the
extent of the Group's interest in these entities.
Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the
transaction provides evidence of an impairment of
the asset transferred. Accounting policies of equity
accounted investees have been changed where
necessary to ensure consistency with the policies
adopted by the Group.

The carrying amount of equity-accounted
investments is tested for impairment in accordance
with the policy described in Note 2.10.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

2.2 Principles of consolidation and equity
accounting (Continued)

(d)

Changes in ownership interests

The Group treats transactions with non-controlling
interests that do not result in a loss of control as
transactions with equity owners of the Group.
A change in ownership interest results in an
adjustment between the carrying amounts of
the controlling and non-controlling interests to
reflect their relative interests in the subsidiary. Any
difference between the amount of the adjustment
to non-controlling interests and any consideration
paid or received is recognised in a separate
reserve within equity attributable to owners of the
Company.

When the Group ceases to consolidate or equity
account for an investment because of a loss of
control or significant influence, any retained
interest in the entity is remeasured to its fair value
with the change in carrying amount recognised
in consolidated income statement. This fair
value becomes the initial carrying amount for
the purposes of subsequently accounting for the
retained interest as an associated company, joint
venture or financial asset. In addition, any amounts
previously recognised in other comprehensive
income in respect of that entity are accounted for
as if the Group had directly disposed of the related
assets or liabilities. This may mean that amounts
previously recognised in other comprehensive
income are reclassified to profit or loss or transferred
to another category of equity as specified/permitted
by applicable IFRSs.

If the ownership interest in an associated company
is reduced but significant influence is retained, only
a proportionate share of the amounts previously
recognised in other comprehensive income are
reclassified to profit or loss where appropriate.
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R MEBRRME

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2
POLICIES (Continued)
2.3 Business combinations

FESTBERBE (8)
23 EKEH

Annual Report 2018

The acquisition method of accounting is used to account
for all business combinations, regardless of whether
equity instruments or other assets are acquired. The
consideration transferred for the acquisition of a subsidiary
comprises the:

. fair values of the assets transferred

. liabilities incurred to the former owners of the
acquired business

o equity interests issued by the Group

o fair value of any asset or liability resulting from a
contingent consideration arrangement, and

o fair value of any pre-existing equity interest in the
subsidiary.

Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and contingent
liabilities assumed in a business combination are, with
limited exceptions, measured initially at their fair values
at the acquisition date. The Group recognises any
non-controlling interest in the acquired entity on an
acquisition-by-acquisition basis either at fair value or at
the non-controlling interest's proportionate share of the
acquired entity’s net identifiable assets.

Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred.
The excess of the
o consideration transferred,

o amount of any non-controlling interest in the
acquired entity, and

o acquisition-date fair value of any previous equity
interest in the acquired entity
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.3

2.4

Business combinations (Continued)

over the fair value of the net identifiable assets acquired
is recorded as goodwill. If those amounts are less
than the fair value of the net identifiable assets of the
business acquired, the difference is recognised directly in
consolidated income statement as a bargain purchase.

Contingent consideration is classified either as equity or a
financial liability. Amounts classified as a financial liability
are subsequently remeasured to fair value with changes in
fair value recognised in consolidated income statement.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the
acquisition date carrying value of the acquirer’s previously
held equity interest in the acquiree is remeasured to fair
value at the acquisition date. Any gains or losses arising
from such remeasurement are recognised in consolidated
income statement.

Separate financial statements

Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost less
impairment. Cost includes direct attributable costs of
investment. The results of subsidiaries are accounted for
by the Company on the basis of dividend received and
receivable.

Impairment testing of the investments in subsidiaries is
required upon receiving a dividend from these investments
if the dividend exceeds the total comprehensive income
of the subsidiary in the period the dividend is declared or
if the carrying amount of the investment in the separate
financial statements exceeds the carrying amount in the
consolidated financial statements of the investee’s net
assets including goodwill.

RERERERAR AR

2

TR HERME (F)

2.3

24

EBE6t (#)

BEpr B BRI EEFERAEE
ZER DIARIERE - % F5 A
KR FTU BB 75 1 A BRI B B R E
RABE MEBEFERNFARER
THRERASEERE-

IRREDELEEXEHEE - DR
REMBENSBEERBERRARN
EBEFE MAABEZBNES WS
RAMER

R 0B BOETT - BT B/
FrAMRWIE D IR RN Y s B 8
MREEEHNZNWE R R ER
& EMEZAER G EE LN RS
B BN AR A W & T R

B R

RHB QR 2 RE THRKARIREA
fRe KA BB EEREHKA I 8
REZEBTIRAREIRE W R
BB EEARK-

fief BB 1t B R P B A R R4 B I 2 @)
ZEEREER B BRR
REREEBLAREWBHREM TR
BRERABEFE (BREEE) ZKR
B AIZBRUWEUR B % FRE 2B
HZEMB AR ZREETRERR -

R N\FEERSE



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

R MEBRRME

2

Annual Report 2018

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.5 Segment reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent
with the internal reporting provided to the chief
operations decision-maker. The chief operating decision-
maker, who is responsible for allocating resources and
assessing performance of the operating segments, has
been identified as the executive directors of the Company
who make strategic decisions.

2.6

Foreign currency translation

(a)

(b)

Functional and presentation currency

Items included in the financial statements of each of
the Group's entities are measured using the currency
of the primary economic environment in which the
entity operates (the “functional currency”). The
consolidated financial statements are presented in
HK$, which is the Company’s functional and the
Group's presentation currency.

Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into
the functional currency using the exchange rates
prevailing at the dates of the transactions or
valuation where items are re-measured. Foreign
exchange gains and losses resulting from the
settlement of such transactions and from the
translation at year-end exchange rates of monetary
assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies are recognised in the income statement,
except when deferred in equity as qualifying net
investment hedges.

All other foreign exchange gains and losses are
presented in the consolidated income statement
within “other gains, net”.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)
2.6 Foreign currency translation (Continued)

(9]

Group companies

The results and financial position of all the group
entities (none of which has the currency of a
hyper-inflationary economy) that have a functional
currency different from the presentation currency
are translated into the presentation currency as
follows:

(i) assets and liabilities for each statement of
financial position presented are translated at
the closing rate at the end of the reporting
period;

(i) income and expenses for each income
statement are translated at average exchange
rates (unless this average is not a reasonable
approximation of the cumulative effect of
the rates prevailing on the transaction dates,
in which case income and expenses are
translated at the rate on the dates of the
transactions); and

(i) all resulting currency translation differences
are recognised in other comprehensive
income.

On consolidation, exchange differences arising from
the translation of any net investment in foreign
entities, and of borrowings, are recognised in other
comprehensive income. When a foreign operation
is sold or any borrowings forming part of the net
investment are repaid, the associated exchange
differences are reclassified to consolidated income
statement, as part of the gain or loss on sale.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the
acquisition of a foreign entity are treated as assets
and liabilities of the foreign entity and translated
at the closing rate. Currency translation differences
arising are recognised in other comprehensive
income.
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R MEBRRME

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 FESHBEXRHEE (#)
POLICIES (Continued)
2.6 Foreign currency translation (Continued)

26 SMEBRE (R

Annual Report 2018

(d) Disposal of foreign operation and partial

disposal

On the disposal of a foreign operation (that is, a
disposal of the Group's entire interest in a foreign
operation, or a disposal involving loss of control over
a subsidiary that includes a foreign operation, or a
disposal involving loss of significant influence over
an associate that includes a foreign operation), all
of the currency translation differences accumulated
in equity in respect of that operation attributable to
the equity holders of the Company are reclassified
to profit or loss.

In the case of a partial disposal that does not result
in the Group losing control over a subsidiary that
includes a foreign operation, the proportionate
share of accumulated currency translation
differences are re-attributed to non-controlling
interests and are not recognised in the income
statement. For all other partial disposals (that is,
reductions in the Group’s ownership interest in an
associate that do not result in the Group losing
significant influence) the proportionate share of the
accumulated exchange difference is reclassified to
the consolidated income statement.

2.7 Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment, other than construction in
progress, are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation
and impairment losses. Historical cost includes expenditure
that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the items.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset's carrying
amount or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate,
only when it is probable that future economic benefits
associated with the item will flow to the Group and the
cost of the item can be measured reliably. The carrying
amount of the replaced part is derecognised. All other
repairs and maintenance are charged to the consolidated
income statement during the financial period in which
they are incurred.

2.7
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)
2.7 Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

Depreciation is calculated using the straight-line method
to allocate their cost to their residual values over their
estimate useful lives, as follows:

— Buildings 15-25 years
— Plant and machinery 8-15 years
— Office equipment 3-5 years
— Motor vehicles and other 5-25 years

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed,
and adjusted if appropriate, at the end of each reporting
period.

An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately
to its recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount
is greater than its estimated recoverable amount (Note
2.10).

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by
comparing the proceeds with the carrying amount and are
recognised within “other gains, net” in the consolidated
income statement.

Construction-in-progress represents buildings, plant and
machinery under construction and pending installation
and is stated at cost less accumulated impairment losses.
Cost includes the costs of construction of buildings, the
costs of plant and machinery and, for qualifying assets,
borrowing costs capitalised in accordance with the
Group's accounting policies. No provision for depreciation
is made on construction-in-progress until such time as
the relevant assets are completed and ready for intended
use. When the assets concerned are brought to use, the
costs are transferred to property, plant and equipment and
depreciated in accordance with the policy as stated above.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.8

2.9

Prepaid land lease payments

Prepaid land lease payments are stated at cost less
accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment
losses. Cost represents consideration paid for the rights
to use the land on which various plants and buildings are
situated for a period of 20 to 50 years. Amortisation of
prepaid land lease payments is calculated on a straight-line
basis over the period of leases.

Intangible assets

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on
initial recognition at cost. The cost of intangible assets
acquired in a business combination is the fair value at the
date of acquisition. The useful lives of intangible assets are
assessed to be either finite or indefinite. Intangible assets
with finite lives are subsequently amortised over the useful
economic life and assessed for impairment whenever
there is an indication that the intangible asset may be
impaired. The amortisation period and the amortisation
method for an intangible asset with a finite useful life are
reviewed at least at each financial reporting date.

Exclusive offtake right

The exclusive offtake right represents the exclusive right to
purchase iron ore by the Group from an iron ore supplier
for a period of 28 years ending 24 January 2036. The
exclusive offtake right is stated at cost less accumulated
amortisation and any impairment losses. The exclusive
offtake right is amortised based on the unit of purchase
method.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)
2.10 Impairment of non-financial assets

Assets that have an indefinite useful life or not ready to
use are not subject to amortisation and are tested annually
for impairment. Assets that are subject to amortisation
are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes
in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may
not be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised
for the amount by which the asset's carrying amount
exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount
is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and
value in use. For the purposes of assessing impairment,
assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are
separately identifiable cash flows (cash-generating units).
Non-financial assets other than goodwill that suffered
an impairment are reviewed for possible reversal of the
impairment at each reporting date.

2.11 Investments and other financial assets

(a) Classification
From 1 January 2018, the Group classifies its
financial assets in the following measurement
categories:

- those to be measured subsequently at fair
value (either through other comprehensive
income, or through profit or loss), and

- those to be measured at amortised cost.
The classification depends on the entity’s business

model for managing the financial assets and the
contractual terms of the cash flows.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)
2.11 Investments and other financial assets
(Continued)

(a)

(b)

(9]

Annual Report 2018

Classification (Continued)

For assets measured at fair value, gains and losses
will either be recorded in profit or loss or other
comprehensive income. For investments in equity
instruments that are not held for trading, this
will depend on whether the Group has made an
irrevocable election at the time of initial recognition
to account for the equity investment at fair value
through other comprehensive income.

The Group reclassifies debt investments when and
only when its business model for managing those
assets changes.

Recognition and derecognition

Regular way purchases and sales of financial assets
are recognised on trade-date, the date on which
the Group commits to purchase or sell the asset.
Financial assets are derecognised when the rights
to receive cash flows from the financial assets have
expired or have been transferred and the Group has
transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership.

Measurement

At initial recognition, the Group measures a financial
asset at its fair value plus, in the case of a financial
asset not at fair value through profit or loss,
transaction costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition of the financial asset. Transaction costs
of financial asset carried at fair value through profit
or loss are expensed in profit or loss.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

2.11 Investments and other financial assets
(Continued)

Measurement (Continued)

Financial assets with embedded derivatives are

considered in their entirety when determining

whether their cash flows are solely payments of

principal and interest.

(o)

Debt instruments

Subsequent measurement of debt instruments
depends on the Group’s business model for
managing the asset and the cash flow characteristics
of the asset. There are three measurement
categories to classify the debt instruments:

M

Amortised cost

Assets that are held for collection of
contractual cash flows where those cash
flows represent solely payments of principal
and interest are measured at amortised cost.
Interest income from these financial assets is
included in finance income, except for interest
income generated from loan receivables which
is included in revenue, using the effective
interest rate method. Any gain or loss arising
on derecognition is recognised directly in
consolidated income statement. Impairment
losses are presented as separate line item in
the consolidated income statement.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)
2.11 Investments and other financial assets
(Continued)
(c) Measurement (Continued)
Debt instruments (Continued)

@)

Annual Report 2018

Fair value through other comprehensive
income

Assets that are held for collection of
contractual cash flows and for selling the
financial assets, where the assets’ cash flows
represent solely payments of principal and
interest, are measured at fair value through
other comprehensive income. Movements
in the carrying amount are taken through
other comprehensive income, except for
the recognition of impairment gains or
losses, interest income and foreign exchange
gains and losses which are recognised in
consolidated income statement. When the
financial asset is derecognised, the cumulative
gain or loss previously recognised in other
comprehensive income is reclassified from
equity to profit or loss. Interest income from
these financial assets is included in finance
income using the effective interest rate
method. Impairment expenses are presented
as separate line item in the consolidated
income statement.

Fair value through profit or loss

Assets that do not meet the criteria for
amortised cost or fair value through other
comprehensive income are measured at fair
value through profit or loss. A gain or loss
on a debt investment that is subsequently
measured at fair value through profit or loss
is recognised in profit or loss in the period in
which it arises.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

2.11 Investments and other financial assets
(Continued)

Measurement (Continued)

Debt instruments (Continued)

(o)

(d)

3)

Fair value through profit or loss (Continued)

Equity instruments

The Group subsequently measures all equity
investments at fair value. Where the Group’s
management has elected to present fair
value gains and losses on equity investments
in other comprehensive income, there is no
subsequent reclassification of fair value gains
and losses to profit or loss following the
derecognition of the investment. Dividends
from such investments continue to be
recognised in profit or loss as other gains, net
when the Group'’s right to receive payments is
established.

Changes in the fair value of financial asset at
fair value through profit or loss are recognised
in other gains, net in the consolidated income
statement as applicable. Impairment losses
(and reversal of impairment losses) on equity
investments measured at fair value through
other comprehensive income are not reported
separately from other changes in fair value.

Impairment

From 1 January 2018, the Group assesses on a
forward looking basis the expected credit losses
associated with its debt instruments carried at
amortised cost. The impairment methodology
applied depends on whether there has been a
significant increase in credit risk.

For trade receivables, the Group applies the
simplified approach permitted by IFRS 9, which
requires expected lifetime losses to be recognised
from initial recognition of the receivables.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)
2.11 Investments and other financial assets

2 FEETEESE (&)
211 REREMEBMEE (F)

(Continued)

(e)

Annual Report 2018

Accounting policies applied until 31 December
2017

The Group has applied IFRS 9 retrospectively, but
has elected not to restate comparative information.
As a result, the comparative information provided
continues to be accounted for in accordance with
the Group's previous accounting policy.

Until 31 December 2017, the Group classifies
its financial assets in loans and receivables. The
classification depends on the purpose for which
the financial assets were acquired. Management
determines the classification of its financial assets at
initial recognition.

(i) Subsequent measurement
The measurement at initial recognition did
not change on adoption of IFRS 9. Loans and
receivables are carried at amortised cost using
the effective interest method.

(e)
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

2.11 Investments and other financial assets
(Continued)

Accounting policies applied until 31 December

2017 (Continued)

(e)

(ir)

Impairment

The Group assesses at each of the balance
sheet date whether there is objective evidence
that a financial asset or group of financial
assets is impaired. A financial asset or a group
of financial assets is impaired and impairment
losses are incurred only if there is objective
evidence of impairment as a result of one or
more events that occurred after the initial
recognition of the asset (a “loss event”) and
that loss event (or events) has an impact
on the estimated future cash flows of the
financial asset or group of financial assets that
can be reliably estimated.

Assets carried at amortised cost

For loans and receivables category, the
amount of the loss is measured as the
difference between the asset’s carrying
amount and the present value of estimated
future cash flows (excluding future credit
losses that have not been incurred) discounted
at the financial asset’s original effective
interest rate. The carrying amount of the
asset is reduced and the amount of the loss
is recognised in the consolidated income
statement.

If, in a subsequent period, the amount
of the impairment loss decreases and the
decrease can be related objectively to an event
occurring after the impairment was recognised
(such as an improvement in the debtor’s
credit rating), the reversal of the previously
recognised impairment loss is recognised in
the consolidated income statement.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)
2.12 Offsetting financial instruments

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net
amount reported in the consolidated statement of
financial position when there is a legally enforceable
right to offset the recognised amounts and there is an
intention to settle on a net basis or realise the asset and
settle the liability simultaneously. The legally enforceable
right must not be contingent on future events and must
be enforceable in the normal course of business and in the
event of default, insolvency or bankruptcy of the company
or the counterparty.

2.13 Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Cost is determined using the weighted
average method. The cost of finished goods and work in
progress comprises direct materials, direct labour, other
direct costs and related production overheads (based on
normal operating capacity). It excludes borrowing costs.
Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the
ordinary course of business, less applicable variable selling
expenses.

2.14 Trade and other receivables

Trade receivables are amounts due from customers for
merchandise sold or services performed in the ordinary
course of business. If collection of trade and other
receivables is expected in one year or less (or in the
normal operating cycle of the business if longer), they are
classified as current assets. If not, they are presented as
non-current assets.

Trade receivables are recognised initially at the amount
of consideration that is unconditional unless they
contain significant financing components, when they
are recognised at fair value. The Group holds the trade
receivables with the objective to collect the contractual
cash flows and therefore measures them subsequently at
amortised cost using the effective interest method less
provision for impairment.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)
2.15 Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash
flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand,
demand deposits and short-term highly liquid investments
that are readily convertible into known amounts of cash,
are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value, and
have a short maturity of generally within three months
when acquired, and are not restricted as to use.

2.16 Share capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equity.

Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new
shares or options are shown in equity as a deduction, net
of tax, from the proceeds.

2.17 Trade payables

Trade payables are obligations to pay for goods or services
that have been acquired in the ordinary course of business
from suppliers. Accounts payable are classified as current
liabilities if payment is due within one year or less (or in
the normal operating cycle of the business if longer). If
not, they are presented as non-current liabilities.

Trade payables are recognised initially at fair value and
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the
effective interest method.

2.18 Financial guarantee contracts

Financial guarantee contracts are recognised as a financial
liability at the time the guarantee is issued. The liability
is initially measured at fair value and subsequently at the
higher of

. the amount determined in accordance with the
expected credit loss model under IFRS 9 Financial
Instruments and

o the amount initially recognised less, where
appropriate, the cumulative amount of income
recognised in accordance with the principles of IFRS
15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)
2.18 Financial guarantee contracts (Continued)

The fair value of financial guarantees is determined
based on the present value of the difference in cash
flows between the contractual payments required under
the debt instrument and the payments that would be
required without the guarantee, or the estimated amount
that would be payable to a third party for assuming the
obligations.

Where guarantees in relation to loans or other payables
of associates are provided for no compensation, the fair
values are accounted for as contributions and recognised
as part of the cost of the investment.

2.19 Borrowings

Borrowings are initially recognised at fair value, net of
transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are subsequently
measured at amortised cost. Any difference between the
proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the redemption
amount is recognised in profit or loss over the period of
the borrowings using the effective interest method. Fees
paid on the establishment of loan facilities are recognised
as transaction costs of the loan to the extent that it is
probable that some or all of the facility will be drawn
down. In this case, the fee is deferred until the draw
down occurs. To the extent there is no evidence that it
is probable that some or all of the facility will be drawn
down, the fee is capitalised as a prepayment for liquidity
services and amortised over the period of the facility to
which it relates.

Borrowings are removed from the balance sheet when
the obligation specified in the contract is discharged,
cancelled or expired. The difference between the carrying
amount of a financial liability that has been extinguished
or transferred to another party and the consideration
paid, including any non-cash assets transferred or liabilities
assumed, is recognised in profit or loss.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

2.19 Borrowings (Continued)
Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the
Group has an unconditional right to defer settlement
of the liability for at least 12 months after the reporting
period.

2.20 Convertible bonds

If the conversion option of convertible bonds is an equity
instrument, the host of convertible bonds is recognised
as a financial liability in the consolidated statement of
financial position, net of transaction costs. On issuance
of convertible bonds, the fair value of the host liability
component is determined using a market rate for an
equivalent non-convertible bond; and this amount is
carried as a financial liability on the amortised cost basis
until extinguished on conversion or redemption. The
remainder of the proceeds is allocated to the conversion
option that is recognised and included in shareholders’
equity, net of transaction costs. The carrying amount of
the conversion option is not remeasured in subsequent
years. Transaction costs are apportioned between the
liability and equity components of the convertible bonds
based on the allocation of proceeds to the liability and
equity components when the instruments are initially
recognised.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)
2.20 Convertible bonds (Continued)

If the conversion option of convertible bonds is not an
equity component, it is bifurcated from the host liability
component and separately accounted for as a derivative.
Redemption rights are also embedded derivatives and
accounted for together with conversion option as a single
derivative. On initial recognition, the derivative component
of the convertible bonds is measured at fair value and
presented as part of derivative financial instruments. Any
excess of proceeds over the amount initially recognised
as the derivative component is recognised as the host
liability component. Transaction costs are apportioned
between the host liability and derivative components of
the convertible bonds based on the allocation of proceeds
to the host liability and derivative components when the
instruments are initially recognised. The portion of the
transaction costs relating to the host liability component
is recognised initially as part of the liability. The portion
relating to the derivative component is recognised
immediately in the consolidated income statement.

When the convertible bonds with an equity component
are extinguished before maturity through an early
redemption or repurchase by the issuer in which
the original conversion privileges are unchanged,
the consideration and transaction costs paid for the
redemption or repurchase is allocated to the liability
and equity components of the instrument at the date
of the transaction. The method used in allocating the
consideration paid and transaction costs to the separate
components is consistent with that used in the original
allocation to the separate components of the proceeds
received when the convertible instrument was issued.
The difference between the carrying amount of the
liability component and the liability component from
the allocation of consideration and transaction costs
paid for the redemption or repurchase is recognised
in the consolidated income statement, whereas the
difference between the carrying amount of the equity
component and the equity component from the allocation
of consideration and transaction costs paid for the
redemption or repurchase is recognised in equity.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

2.21 Derivative financial instruments
Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value on the date
a derivative contract is entered into and are subsequently
re-measured at their fair value.

(a)

(b)

Initial recognition and subsequent
measurement

The derivative financial instruments of the Group
represent the conversion option and redemption
option bifurcated from the host contract of
convertible bonds. These derivative financial
instruments are initially recognised at fair value on
the date on which a derivative contract is entered
into and are subsequently remeasured at fair value.
Derivatives are carried as assets when the fair value
is positive and as liabilities when the fair value is
negative.

Any gains or losses arising from changes in fair value
of derivatives are taken directly to the profit or loss.

Classification

Derivative financial instruments that are not
designated as effective hedging instruments are
classified as current or non-current or separated
into current and non-current portions based on an
assessment of the facts and circumstances (i.e., the
underlying contracted cash flows).

Embedded derivatives that are not closely related to
the host contract are classified consistently with the
cash flows of the host contract.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

2.22 Current and deferred income tax
The income tax expense or credit for the period is the
tax payable on the current period’s taxable income based
on the applicable income tax rate for each jurisdiction
adjusted by changes in deferred tax assets and liabilities
attributable to temporary differences and to unused tax
losses.

(@) Current income tax

The current income tax charge is calculated on
the basis of the lax laws enacted or substantively
enacted at the end of the reporting period in the
places where the Company and its subsidiaries and
associate operate and generate taxable income.
Management periodically evaluates positions taken
in tax returns with respect to situations in which
applicable tax regulation is subject to interpretation.
It establishes provisions where appropriate on the
basis of amounts expected to be paid to the tax
authorities.

(b) Deferred income tax

Deferred income tax is provided, using the liability
method, on temporary differences arising between
the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their
carrying amounts in the consolidated financial
statements. However, deferred tax liabilities are not
recognised if they arise from the initial recognition
of goodwill. Deferred income tax is also not
accounted for if it arises from initial recognition
of an asset or liability in a transaction other than
a business combination that at the time of the
transaction affects neither accounting nor taxable
profit or loss. Deferred income tax is determined
using tax rates (and laws) that have been enacted
or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting
period and are expected to apply when the related
deferred income tax asset is realised or the deferred
income tax liability is settled.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)
2.22 Current and deferred income tax (Continued)

(b)

Deferred income tax (Continued)

Deferred tax assets are recognised only if it is
probable that future taxable amounts will be
available to utilise those temporary differences and
losses.

Deferred tax liabilities and assets are not recognised
for temporary differences between the carrying
amount and tax bases of investments in foreign
operations where the company is able to control the
timing of the reversal of the temporary differences
and it is probable that the differences will not
reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when
there is a legally enforceable right to offset current
tax assets and liabilities and when the deferred
tax balances relate to the same taxation authority.
Current tax assets and tax liabilities are offset
where the entity has a legally enforceable right
to offset and intends either to settle on a net
basis, or to realise the asset and settle the liability
simultaneously.

Current and deferred tax is recognised in
consolidated income statement, except to the
extent that it relates to items recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity. In
this case, the tax is also recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity,
respectively.

Companies within the Group may be entitled
to claim special tax deductions for investments
in qualifying assets or in relation to qualifying
expenditure. The Group accounts for such
allowances as tax credits, which means that the
allowance reduces income tax payable and current
tax expense. A deferred tax asset is recognised for
unclaimed tax credits that are carried forward as
deferred tax assets.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)
2.23 Employee benefits

2.23.1 Retirement benefit schemes

Obligatory retirement benefits in the form of
contributions under defined contribution retirement
schemes administered by local government agencies
are charged to the consolidated income statement
as incurred.

The PRC subsidiaries of the Company participate in
defined contribution retirement plans. All employees
of these companies are entitled to an annual
pension equal to a fixed proportion of the average
basic salary amount within the geographical area.
The subsidiaries are required to make contributions
to the local social security bureau at rates ranging
from 20% to 21% of the previous year's average
basic salaries within the geographical area where
the employees are under employment. The Group
has no obligations for the payment of pension
benefits beyond the annual contributions as set out
above. The contributions are charged to the income
statement as they become payable.

The Group also operates a defined contribution
Mandatory Provident Fund retirement benefit
scheme (the “MPF Scheme") under the Mandatory
Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance for all
employees of the companies in Hong Kong who
are eligible to participate in the MPF Scheme.
Contributions are made based on a percentage
of the employees’ basic salaries and are charged
to the income statement as they become payable
in accordance with the rules of the MPF Scheme.
The assets of the MPF Scheme are held separately
from those of the Group in an independently
administered fund. The Group’'s employer
contributions vest fully with the employees when
contributed to the MPF Scheme.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)
2.23 Employee benefits (Continued)

2.23.2 Termination benefits

Termination benefits are payable when employment
is terminated by the Group before the normal
retirement date, or whenever an employee accepts
voluntary redundancy in exchange for these
benefits. The Group recognises termination benefits
at the earlier of the following dates: (a) when the
Group can no longer withdraw the offer of those
benefits; and (b) when the entity recognises costs
for a restructuring that is within the scope of I1AS 37
and involves the payment of termination benefits.
In the case of an offer made to encourage voluntary
redundancy, the termination benefits are measured
based on the number of employees expected to
accept the offer. Benefits falling due more than 12
months after the end of the reporting period are
discounted to their present value.

2.23.3Employee leave entitlements

Employee entitlements to annual leave are
recognised when they accrue to employees. A
provision is made for the estimated liability for
annual leave as a result of services rendered by
employees up to the end of reporting period.

Employee entitlements to sick leave and maternity
leave are not recognised until the time of leave.

RERERERAR AR

2

TR HERME (F)

223 EEER (&)
2.23.2 BER A

BRENNEEELERINEA
RAKBERILERAEREETA
P B BBk LA $4R B 6 48 N By S A
AEERAT BHMZRFEEER
BERLGEA - ()N RE NS B HGHE
REZFENE Rb)EEHRER
BREREEEITRAR
W M BB AR A 2 EAE 2 AR
IR o TE1R I E 4 LA BR D B e At B
BB T - BERL AR D IR IR TR HR
EXBHNEEABE -ER
SHIREZEB12(8 A 2/ B 19
&I ERL IR AIRE -

2.233 EERBRIER

BEEZANFEROEERAREE
BEERBRYRER BEREH
R ANEE5ES RREFRE M
EENERNMGEFT BB ER
ffae

BEZFAENHRBRERRIKRE
TTHERARR-

R N\FEERSE



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

R MEBRRME

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)
2.23 Employee benefits (Continued)
2.23.4 Share-based payments

(@)
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Equity-settled share-based payment
transactions

The Company operates an equity-settled,
share-based compensation plan, under which
the entity receives services from employees
as consideration for equity instruments
(options) of the Company. The fair value of
the employee services received in exchange
for the grant of the options is recognised as
an expense. The total amount to be expensed
is determined by reference to the fair value of
the options granted:

o including any market performance
conditions (for example, an entity’s
share price);

o excluding the impact of any service
and non-market performance vesting
conditions (for example, profitability,
sales growth targets and remaining an
employee of the entity over a specified
time period); and

o including the impact of any non-vesting
conditions (for example, the requirement
for employees to save).

Non-market performance and service
conditions are included in assumptions about
the number of options that are expected to
vest. The total expense is recognised over the
vesting period, which is the period over which
all of the specified vesting conditions are to be
satisfied.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

2.23 Employee benefits (Continued)
2.23.4Share-based payments (Continued)

(a)

(b)

Equity-settled share-based payment
transactions (Continued)

In addition, in some circumstances employees
may provide services in advance of the grant
date and therefore the grant date fair value is
estimated for the purposes of recognising the
expense during the period between service
commencement period and grant date.

At the end of each reporting period, the
Group revises its estimates of the number of
options that are expected to vest based on
the non-marketing performance and service
conditions. It recognises the impact of the
revision to original estimates, if any, in the
income statement, with a corresponding
adjustment to equity.

When the options are exercised, the Company
issues new shares. The proceeds received net
of any directly attributable transaction costs
are credited to share capital (nominal value)
and share premium.

Share-based payment transactions among
group entities

The grant by the Company of options over
its equity instruments to the employees
of subsidiary undertakings in the Group
is treated as a capital contribution. The
fair value of employee services received,
measured by reference to the grant date fair
value, is recognised over the vesting period
as an increase to investments in subsidiaries
undertakings, with a corresponding credit to
equity in the Company’s financial statements.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)
2.24 Borrowing costs

General and specific borrowing costs directly attributable
to the acquisition, construction or production of qualifying
assets, which are assets that necessarily take a substantial
period of time to get ready for their intended use or sale,
are added to the cost of those assets, until such time as
the assets are substantially ready for their intended use or
sale.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in the
consolidated income statement in the period in which
they are incurred.

2.25 Leases (as the lessee for operating leases)

Leases in which a significant portion of the risks and
rewards of ownership are retained by the lessor are
classified as operating leases. Payments made under
operating leases (net of any incentives received from the
lessor), are charged to the consolidated income statement
on a straight-line basis over the period of the lease.

2.26 Government grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair value
where there is reasonable assurance that the grant will
be received and all attaching conditions will be complied
with. When the grant relates to an expense item, it is
recognised as income on a systematic basis over the
periods that the costs, which it is intended to compensate,
are expensed.

Where the grant relates to an asset, the fair value is
credited to other long-term payables and is released to the
consolidated income statement over the expected useful
life of the relevant asset by equal annual instalments or
deducted from the carrying amount of the asset and
released to the consolidated income statement by way
of a reduced depreciation charge when all attaching
conditions are complied with.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)
2.27 Provisions

Provision for restructuring costs and legal claims are
recognised when: the Group has a present legal or
constructive obligation as a result of past events; it is
probable that an outflow of resources will be required
to settle the obligation; and the amount has been
reliably estimated. Restructuring provisions comprise
lease termination penalties and employee termination
payments. Provisions are not recognised for future
operating losses.

Where there are a number of similar obligations, the
likelihood that an outflow will be required in settlement
is determined by considering the class of obligations as a
whole. A provision is recognised even if the likelihood of
an outflow with respect to any one item included in the
same class of obligations may be small.

Provisions are measured at the present value of the
expenditures expected to be required to settle the
obligation using a pre-tax rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks
specific to the obligation. The increase in the provision due
to passage of time is recognised as interest expense.

2.28 Contingent liabilities

Contingent liabilities are possible obligations that arise
from past events and whose existence will only be
confirmed by the occurrence of one or more future events
not wholly within the control of the Group. Where it is
not probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be
required, or the amount cannot be estimated reliably, the
obligation is disclosed as a contingent liability.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)
2.29 Revenue recognition
(a) Sales of goods

Sales are recognised when control of the products
has transferred, being when the products are
delivered to the customers, the customer has
accepted the products and there is no unfulfilled
obligation that could affect the customer’s
acceptance of the products. Delivery occurs when
the products have been shipped to the specified
location, the risks of obsolescence and loss have
been transferred to the customer, and either the
customer has accepted the products in accordance
with the sales contract, the acceptance provisions
have lapsed, or the Group has objective evidence
that all criteria for acceptance have been satisfied.

Revenue from these sales is recognised based on
the price specified in the contract, net of discounts,
returns and value added taxes.

A receivable is recognised when the goods are
delivered as this is the point in time that the
consideration is unconditional because only the
passage of time is required before the payment is
due.

(b) Provision of sub-contracting income
Revenue from sub-contracting services is recognised
in the accounting period in which the services are
rendered.

(c) Interest income
Interest income is recognised on a time-proportion
basis using the effective interest method.

2.30 Dividend distribution
Dividend distribution to the Company’s shareholders is
recognised as a liability in the Group’s and the Company’s
financial statements in the period in which the dividends
are approved by the Company’s shareholders or board of
directors, as appropriate.
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

3.1 Financial risk factors
The Group's activities expose it to a variety of financial
risks including foreign exchange risk, price risk, cash flow
and fair value interest-rate risk, credit risk and liquidity
risk. The Group's overall risk management policy focuses
on the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to
minimise potential adverse effects on the Group's financial
performance. The directors review and agree policies for
managing each of these risks and they are summarised
below.

(a)

Foreign exchange risk

The Group mainly engaged in the sale of iron and
special steel products with its operating entities
mainly located in PRC with most of the transactions
settled in Renminbi (“RMB"), US dollars (“US$”) and
HKS.

Foreign exchange risk arises when future commercial
transactions or recognised financial assets or
liabilities are denominated in a currency that is
not the entity’s functional currency. The Group
is exposed foreign exchange risk from various
currencies, primarily with respect to US$.

Given the exchange rate peg between HK$ and
US$, it is not foreseen that the Group’s entities
with functional currency of HK$ will be exposed to
significant exchange rate risk for the transactions
conducted in US$.

At 31 December 2018 and 2017, if HK$/US$ had
weakened/strengthened by 2% against RMB, with
all other variables held constant, there would be no
significant impact on the results of the Group.
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3  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)
3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(b)

(9]

(d)

Annual Report 2018

Price risk

The Group is exposed to commodity price risk in
relation to its products which is largely dependent
on market price of the relevant commodity. The
Group closely monitors the price of its products in
order to determine its pricing strategies.

Cash flow and fair value interest rate risk

The Group’s income and operating cash flows are
substantially independent of changes in market
interest rates. The Group's interest rate risk arises
from borrowings. Borrowings obtained at floating
rates expose the Group to cash flow interest rate
risk while borrowings obtained at fixed rates expose
the Group to fair value interest rate risk.

At 31 December 2018, if interest rates had been
100 basis points higher/lower with all other variables
held constant, pre-tax loss for the year would
have been approximately HK$5,684,000 (2017:
HK$5,958,000 higher/lower) higher/lower, mainly as
a result of higher/lower interest expense on floating
rate borrowings. The Group has not used any
interest rate swaps for speculative purpose.

Credit risk

The carrying amounts of trade and other receivables,
deposits, pledged time deposits, and bank balances
represent the Group’s maximum exposure to credit
risk in relation to its financial assets.
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)
3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(d)

Credit risk (Continued)

In respect of cash deposited at banks, credit risk
is considered to be low as the counterparties are
reputable banks. The existing counterparties do not
have defaults in the past. Therefore, expected credit
loss rate of cash at bank is assessed to be close to
zero and no provision was made as of 31 December
2018.

Majority of the Group's revenue is received from
individual customers in relation to the sales of iron
and steel products in the PRC which are transacted
in cash or credit. The Group’s trade receivables
arise from sales of iron and steel products to the
customers. As at the end of the year, the top three
debtors and the largest debtor accounted for
approximate 79.6% and 65.9% respectively (2017:
69.9% and 54.0% respectively) of the Group's
trade receivables balance. In view of the history of
business dealings with these debtors and the sound
collection history of the receivables due from them,
management believes that there is no material credit
risk inherent in the Group’s outstanding receivable
balance due from these debtors saved for the
debtors related to the impaired trade receivables
disclosed below.
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3  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)
3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)
(d) Credit risk (Continued)

()
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Impairment of financial assets

Trade receivables

The Group applies the simplified approach to
provide for expected credit losses prescribed
by IFRS 9, which permits the use of the
lifetime expected credit loss provision for all
trade receivables.

To measure the expected credit losses,
trade receivables have been grouped with
similar risk characteristics and, collectively or
individually, assessing them for likelihood of
recovery.

The Group categorises its trade receivables,
except those individually assessed, based
on shared credit risk characteristics and the
days past due. The expected loss rates are
based on the payment profiles of sales over
a period of 12 months before 31 December
2018 and the corresponding historical credit
losses experienced within this period. The
historical loss rates are adjusted to reflect
current and forward-looking information on
macroeconomic factors affecting the ability of
the customers to settle the receivables.
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)
3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)
Credit risk (Continued)

(d)

()

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
Trade receivables (Continued)

Given the track record of regular repayment
of trade receivables, the directors are of the
opinion that the risk of default by these
customers is not significant, taking into
account forward-looking information on
macroeconomics factors. Therefore, expected
credit loss rate of trade receivables is assessed
to be insignificant.

For trade receivables relating to accounts in
which there are objective evidence that the
debtor faces significant financial difficulties or
enter liquidation, they are assessed individually
for impairment allowance. Accordingly,
specific loss allowance of HK$16,862,000 was
made as at 31 December 2018.

Previous accounting policy for impairment of
trade receivables

In the prior year, the impairment of trade
receivables was assessed based on the
incurred loss model. Individual receivables
which were known to be uncollectible were
written off by reducing the carrying amount
directly. The other receivables were assessed
collectively to determine whether there was
objective evidence that impairment has
been incurred but not yet been identified
in a separate provision for impairment. The
Group considered that there was evidence of
impairment if any of the following indicators
were present:
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3  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)
3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(d) Credit risk (Continued)

()

Annual Report 2018

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Previous accounting policy for impairment of

trade receivables (Continued)

o significant financial difficulties of the
debtor;

o probability that the debtor will enter
bankruptcy or financial reorganisation,
and

o default or late payments.

Receivables for which an impairment provision
was recognised were written off against the
provision when there was no expectation of
recovering additional cash.

Other financial assets at amortised cost

The directors of the Group consider the
probability of default upon initial recognition
of asset and whether there has been
significant increase in credit risk on an
ongoing basis. To assess whether there is a
significant increase in credit risk, the Group
compares risk of a default occurring on the
assets as at the reporting date with the risk
of default as at the date of initial recognition.
Especially the following indicators are
incorporated:
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)
3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)
Credit risk (Continued)

(d)

()

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
Other financial assets at amortised cost
(Continued)

o actual or expected significant adverse
changes in business, financial economic
conditions that are expected to cause
a significant change to the company’s
ability to meet its obligations;

o actual or expected significant changes in
the operating results of the company;

o significant changes in the expected
performance and behavior of the
company, including changes in the
payment status of the counterparty.

Regardless of the analysis above, a significant
increase in credit risk is presumed if a debtor
is more than 180 days past due in making a
contractual payment/repayable demanded.

The loss allowance for other financial assets
at amortised cost as at 31 December 2018
amounting to HK$7,943,000 as detailed in
Note 22.

Impairment losses on trade receivables and
other financial assets at amortised cost are
presented as net impairment losses within
operating profit. Subsequent recoveries of
amounts previously written off are credited
against the same line item.
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3  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 3 SHERERE(E)
3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued) 31 ¢REREZE (&)
(e) Liquidity risk () FBELRAR

The Group's primary cash requirements have been
for the payments for purchases and operating
expenses. The Group finances its working capital
requirements mainly through funds generated
from operations, and external bank and other
borrowings. As at 31 December 2018, the Group
had net current liabilities of HK$4,172,126,000.
The directors of the Company have taken certain
measures to mitigate the liquidity pressure as
detailed in Note 2.1(a). Management will also
closely monitor the situation to ensure that
appropriate alternative actions are taken.

The table below analyses the Group’s non-derivative
financial liabilities into relevant maturity groupings
based on the remaining period at the end of
the financial reporting period to the contractual
maturity date. The amounts disclosed below are the
contractual undiscounted cash flows.

AEEBMNEERSEFRTTAX
NEBEREERT A&EEE
DEBEEEENE S RINED
RITRAEMEEIREELEES
EHERK-RZZE—N\EFE+=A
=+—H AEENRBEEF
£ 54,172,126,000 7T ° 20 Fff 5
2. 1@)FTEFL - ARR R EE B BREL
ETHERBRERDESEN B
BENEZIEREN  BREK
BUEE B RITE -

TERAOMARERS B REHRR
EARNIHANFSBFND SE
B HARNITEEREE-
AUBEANEERENSERE
T

Less than1
On demand year Total
EEREE DPR—F Mt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHExT FExT FExT
As at 31 December 2018 RZZE—NF
+-—A=+—8©

Convertible bonds AR ES 46,775 - 46,775
Bank and other borrowings RITREMEER 3,686,587 = 3,686,587
Trade payables FETBR IR 187,514 - 187,514
Notes payables ANES: - 14,207 14,207

Financial liabilities included in &t A H fth & £+ 7038 K&
other payables and accruals ~ EFFEAMN @A R 293,327 59,359 352,686
4,214,203 73,566 4,287,769

As at 31 December 2017 RZZE—+F
+=—A=+—H

Convertible bonds A& 5 46,775 - 46,775
Bank and other borrowings RITREAMEE 3,461,488 820 3,462,308
Trade payables FEATBR IR 133,008 = 133,008
Notes payables NS = 1,436 1,436

Financial liabilities included in  &F A H th f& 5 X8 &
other payables and accruals EEAERANESRAE 270,851 63,171 334,022
3,912,122 65427 3,977,549
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)
3.2 Capital management

The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to
safeguard the Group's ability to continue as a going
concern in order to provide returns for shareholders and
benefits for other stakeholders and to maintain an optimal
capital structure to reduce the cost of capital.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the
Group may adjust the amount of dividends paid to
shareholders, return capital to shareholders, issue new
shares or sell assets to reduce debt.

Consistent with others in the industry, the Group
monitors capital on the basis of the gearing ratio. This
ratio is calculated as net debt divided by total capital. Net
debt is calculated as total borrowings (including current
and non-current “bank and other borrowings”, “note
payables” and “convertible bonds” as shown in the
consolidated statement of financial position) less cash and
cash equivalents and pledged time deposits. Total capital
is calculated as “equity” as shown in the consolidated
statement of financial position plus net debt.

3

cHERERE (&)
32 EXEHE

AEEEREAZBRRRERNEE
BERELE UARRERHE®R X5
Hipgass A A KA - R #SR
EEREBIARIEE SRA

RERIABENER  AEEXEH
EXNTERRORESHE  RRREE
B BTHRN KHEEENRD
&%

MEMRAZE % AEERELRAEL
RIEREREANEE - ERARAL R
RIEBFHERNE N ERAE - FIRF
BREEER (BREAMBHIRARAT
ZnBRIFRE [RITREMER
[ENRE] R IATBRBRER])RER
& MRS FEY R ERE P TR
B BRBBIRERAMBANKARZ
[#Eak ] N EEBEFEAH -

2018 2017

—E-N\E —E—+tF

HK$’000 HK$'000

FET FHE T

Bank and other borrowings BT RHEMEE 2,516,098 2,493,776

Notes payables NS 14,207 1,436

Convertible bonds, the liability ARRESNBEIS D

component 46,775 46,775
Less: Cash and cash equivalents and 5l : & RIS EEM UK

pledged time deposits B # i E BT 3K (4,280) (20,071)

Net debt BIR 5 2,572,800 2,521,916

Total shareholders’ deficit AR R B AL 48 %R (1,240,151) (832,772)

Total capital N 1,332,649 1,689,144

Gearing ratio BEARBELE 193% 149%

The increase in gearing ratio for the year ended 31
December 2018 is mainly a result of the decrease in total
equity for the year.
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)
3.3 Fair value estimation

The table below analyses the Group's financial instruments
carried at fair value as at 31 December 2018 by level of
the inputs to valuation techniques used to measure fair
value. Such inputs are categorised into three levels within
a fair value hierarchy as follows:

° Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for
identical assets or liabilities (level 1).

o Inputs other than quoted prices included within
level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability,
either directly (that is, as prices) or indirectly (that is,
derived from prices) (level 2).

o Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based
on observable market data (that is, unobservable
inputs) (level 3).

As at 31 December 2018 and 2017, the Group and the
Company did not have any financial instruments that
are carried at fair value except for the derivative financial
instruments.

At 31 December 2017, the conversion rights of the
Company’s and the Group’s 8% Coupon Convertible
Bonds, together with redemption rights (considered
as a single derivative), classified as derivative financial
instruments of HK$Nil was measured under level 3
of fair value hierarchy. The fair value was valued by
estimating the value of the whole bond with and without
the embedded derivatives. Changes in level 3 financial
instruments for the years ended 31 December 2018 and
2017 are detailed in Note 28.

The most significant inputs in determination of the
fair value of conversion rights of the 8% Coupon
Convertible Bonds are the scenario analysis performed
by management which assess the probability of the 8%
Coupon Convertible Bonds being converted as ordinary
shares.

3
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGMENTS

Estimates and judgments used in preparing the financial
statements are continually evaluated and are based on
historical experience and other factors, including expectations
of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the
circumstances.

The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the
future. The resulting accounting estimates will, by definition,
seldom equal the related actual results. The estimates and
assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
within the next financial year are discussed below.

(a)

(b)

Going concern consideration

In the process of applying the Group's accounting policies,
apart from those involving estimations, management
has prepared the consolidated financial statements on
the assumption that the Group will be able to operate
as a going concern in the coming year, which is a
critical judgement that has the most significant effect
on the amounts recognised in the consolidated financial
statements. The assessment of the going concern
assumption involves making a judgement by the directors,
at a particular point of time, about the future outcome
of events or conditions which are inherently uncertain.
The directors consider that the Group has the capability
to continue as a going concern and the major events or
conditions, which may give rise to business risks, that
individually or collectively may cast significant doubt upon
the going concern assumption are set out in Note 2.1(a)
to the consolidated financial statements.

Impairment of an exclusive offtake right

The Group assesses whether there are any indicators
of impairment for its exclusive offtake right at the end
of each reporting period. When an impairment test is
undertaken, management judgement and estimates are
required in determining suitable valuation factors in the
impairment test. The recoverable amount could change
significantly as a result of changes in the key assumptions
adopted in assessing the recoverable amount including
discount rate, estimation of market prices of nickel and
iron, expected export volume from the supplier and
domestic sales volume, and other risk factors related to
the exclusive offtake right.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGMENTS (Continued)

(b)

(0

Impairment of an exclusive offtake right
(Continued)

In determining the recoverable amount of the exclusive
offtake right, the directors also made reference to
certain proposed transaction prices of the relevant asset.
Outcome of any proposed transaction and the final
consideration may differ from the amount originally
estimated. Completion or non-completion of proposed
transactions may also result in significant change in
recoverable amount of the exclusive offtake right and
therefore impairment charge for the period when such
judgment and estimate have been changed.

Impairment of non-financial assets (other than
goodwill and an exclusive offtake right)

Assets are reviewed for impairment whenever events
or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying
amount may not be recoverable. The recoverable amounts
have been determined based on value-in-use calculations
or fair value less costs to sell. These calculations require
the use of judgements and estimates.

Management judgement is required in the area of asset
impairment particularly in assessing: (i) whether an event
has occurred that may indicate that the related asset
values may not be recoverable; (ii) whether the carrying
value of an asset can be supported by the recoverable
amount, being the higher of fair value less costs to sell
and net present value of future cash flows which are
estimated based upon the continued use of the asset in
the business; and (iii) the appropriate key assumptions to
be applied in preparing cash flow projections including
whether these cash flow projections are discounted using
an appropriate rate. Changing the assumptions selected
by management in assessing impairment, including the
discount rates or the growth rate assumptions in the cash
flow projections, could materially affect the net present
value used in the impairment test and as a result affect
the Group's financial condition and results of operations.
If there is a significant adverse change in the projected
performance and resulting future cash flow projections,
it may be necessary to take further impairment charge to
the income statement.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGMENTS (Continued)
(d) Contingent liabilities

(e)

A contingent liability will be disclosed when a possible
obligation has arisen, but its existence has to be confirmed
by future events outside the Group’s control, or when it
is not possible to calculate the amount. Realisation of any
contingent liabilities not currently recognised or disclosed
could have a material impact on the Group’s financial
position.

The Group reviews significant outstanding litigations in
order to assess the need for provisions. Among the factors
considered are the nature of the litigation, legal processes
and potential level of damages, the opinions and views of
the legal counsels and advisors, and the management’s
intentions to respond to the litigations. To the extent
the estimates and judgements do not reflect the actual
outcome, this could materially affect the results for the
period and the financial position.

Amortisation of an exclusive offtake right
Amortisation of the exclusive offtake right is made based
on the actual limonitic ore purchased during the period
over the total planned purchase volume during the
contractual period. The estimation of the total planned
purchase volume requires management judgement and
estimates. It could change significantly as a result of
market demand for nickel-based products, technical
innovations, reserve of the mine, the ability of the miner
in meeting the demand and other relevant factors.
Management reviews the total planned purchase volume
at least annually, and adjusts the amortisation calculation
accordingly.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGMENTS (Continued)

()

(9)

(h)

Useful lives of property, plant and equipment
The Group’s management determines the estimated
useful lives and related depreciation charges for its
property, plant and equipment. This estimate is based
on the historical experience of the actual useful lives
of property, plant and equipment of similar nature and
functions. It could change significantly as a result of
technical innovations and competitor actions in response
to severe industry cycles. Management will increase
the depreciation charge where useful lives are less than
previously estimated lives, or it will write off or write down
technically obsolete or non-strategic assets that have been
abandoned or sold. Actual economic lives may differ from
estimated useful lives and actual residual values may differ
from estimated residual values. Periodic review could result
in a change in depreciable lives and residual values and
therefore depreciation expense in the future periods.

Net realisable value of inventories

Net realisable value of inventories is the estimated selling
price in the ordinary course of business, less estimated
costs to be incurred to completion and disposal. These
estimates are based on the current market condition
and the historical experience of selling products of
similar nature. It could change significantly as a result of
changes in customer requirements or competitor actions
in response to severe industry cycles. Management
reassesses these estimates at the end of each reporting
period.

Impairment of financial assets

The loss allowance for financial assets are based on
assumption about risk of default and expected loss rates.
The Group uses judgement in making these assumptions
and selecting the inputs to the impairment calculation,
based on the Group’s past history, existing market
conditions as well as forward-looking estimates at the end
of each reporting period. Details of the key assumptions
and inputs used are disclosed in Note 3.1(d) to the
consolidated financial statements.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGMENTS (Continued)

0]

Current and deferred income tax

The Group is subject to income taxes in various
jurisdictions. Judgment is required in determining the
provision for income taxes in each of these jurisdictions.
There are transactions and calculations during the
ordinary course of business for which the ultimate tax
determination is uncertain. Where the final tax outcome
of these matters is different from the amounts that were
initially recorded, such differences will impact the income
tax and deferred income tax provisions in the period in
which such determination is made.

Deferred income tax assets relating to certain temporary
differences and tax losses are recognised when
management considers it is probable that future taxable
profits will be available against which the temporary
differences or tax losses can be utilised. When the
expectation is different from the original estimate, such
differences will impact the recognition of deferred income
tax assets and taxation charges in the period in which
such estimate is changed.
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FEEHIREE 2 BEANRERSFHR
REERBMEAX K ZERERTE -

“E-N\FEEHRE



//7

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

R MEBRRME

5 SEGMENT INFORMATION
For management purposes, the Group has one reportable
operating segment: the trading of ore and the manufacturing,
sub-contracting and sale of iron and special steel products.
Management monitors the operating results of its business units
as a whole for the purpose of making decisions about resources
allocation and performance assessment.

Geographical information
(a) Revenue from external customers

EEAN AEEEE—E2HRELD
BBEABESAREE MT RHEE R
Melm - EEELNEREEREREFN
REBH BESXBETZRERRER
—ERBRETER

Hb 15 B R
(@) REMBEF W=

2018 2017
—E-N\E —E—tF
HK$'000 HK$'000
THxT FAT

Mainland China recognised HR B R B - A LA TS R R R
At a point in time P F — B R 2 420,219 256,342
Over time R—BEBA 27,988 40,088
448,207 296,430

The revenue information above is based on the locations
of the customers.

(b) Non-current assets

AEZWRERTERE P 2 IR
EO

(b) FRBEE

Annual Report 2018

2018 2017

—EBE-N\E —E—+F

HK$'000 HK$'000

FHExT FATT

Mainland China iy N 556,179 602,018
Indonesia HIE 2,384,543 2,384,543
Others HAith 49 40
2,940,771 2,986,601

The non-current assets information above is based on the
locations of the assets.

NEZFRBDEEERTIENEEZ

WAL E e
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SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 5
Information about major customers

For the year ended 31 December 2018, revenue of
approximately HK$196,965,000 (2017: HK$207,358,000)
were derived from three (2017: four) customers, amounted

to approximately HK$76,243,000, HK$71,194,000 and
HK$49,528,000 respectively which individually accounted for
over 10% of the Group’s total revenue.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

fn e M mRE

2EEFR (&)

FERFEHR

HE—_ZE—N\F+-_A=+—H1LEE"
I %5 #9196,965,0008 T ( — T —+ 4 :
207,358,000 L) R B = (=T —+t
F UML) R 2 RI% A76,243,0008 7T
71,194,000/ JT }49,528,0007% 7T & Bl {4
AEEBWZEBI10% ©

REVENUE AND OTHER GAINS, NET 6 WERHEMBFFEE
2018 2017
—E-N\F —FT—tF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHExT FAET
Revenue &=
Sale of goods: HE :
Stainless steel products NG5 3 B 65,752 187,480
Ni-Cr alloy steel ingot 2385 Sl 273,629 18,748
Ferro-nickel alloys and others RiEE e MEMW 80,838 50,114
420,219 256,342
Sub-contracting income T A 27,988 40,088
Total revenue Fll g 448,207 296,430
Other gains, net H i 2 FFEE
Gain on disposal of property, HEME BEL&ZEZ
plant and equipment, net Wiz F 58 5,064 185
Foreign exchange gains/(losses), net PE N &AM (E18) F5E 2,332 (3,865)
Gain on deconsolidation of subsidiaries, B8 A R4k L4 & ARR
net (Note 8) B s F 58 (Mi5Es) - 44,455
Write off of other payables i & L At < RRIE 3,779 =
Government subsidy BT 8 A 11,342 =
Others H A, 4,049 1,639
26,566 42,414

RERERERAR AR
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7 LOSS BEFORE INCOME TAX 7 BRFABHAIEE
The Group's loss before income tax is stated at after charging REBEBRATS T AIEEE HIBR T 51518
the following:
2018 2017
ZE-N\F —T—+F
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
Bt FHExT FAIT
Costs of inventories sold BEFEKA 416,411 257,241
Employee benefits expense EEBAFRX 10 61,832 59,970
Research expenses HEFR 150 579
Auditors’ remuneration ZEEN N &
— Audit services —EZ IR 4,400 3,950
— Non-audit services — B ZRTE 43 231
Depreciation e 14 66,398 72,260
Amortisation of prepaid land lease A} £ tth 72 & FRIA & 54
payments 15 4,610 4,506
Minimum lease payments under EHEEFRRBE 2L
operating leases in respect of HEz ZEBENK
buildings and equipment 4,740 4,976
Provision for impairment of FERERE
inventories 20 24,273 12,360
Provision for/(reversal of) impairment J& U 85 R (B B4 48,
of trade receivables (#m) 21 2,069 (11,571)
(Reversal of)/provision for impairment £ fth & U FX I8 R (E
of other receivables (BE), B 22 (1,254) 1,475
Provision for impairment of TEAT FRIE R BB~
prepayments* 22 4,122 3,705
* Included in other expenses ST AE A A

Annual Report 2018
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GAIN ON DECONSOLIDATION OF SUBSIDIARIES,
NET

During the year ended 31 December 2017, the Group received
an Order of Court upon the hearing of the winding up
application against CNR Group Holdings Pte. Ltd (“CNRG"), a
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, at the High Court
of the Republic of Singapore (“Winding Up Order”). Pursuant
to the Winding Up Order, the High Court of the Republic of
Singapore ordered that CNRG be wound up under the provision
of Singapore Companies Act (Cap 50) and a liquidator be
appointed to commence the winding up proceedings. Following
the appointment of the liquidator, the directors of CNRG
ceased to have power over the business activities of CNRG and
the assets of CNRG were under custody and control of the
liguidator. Consequently, the directors of the Company are of
the opinion that the Group lost control over the operating and
financing activities of CNRG and CNRG ceased to be a subsidiary
of the Group. Accordingly, assets and liabilities of CNRG
together with its subsidiaries (collectively the “CNRG Group”)
were deconsolidated when the Group ceased to control CNRG
and a gain on deconsolidation of subsidiaries was resulted. Net
liabilities of CNRG at the time when the Group ceased to control
is analysed as follows:

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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MEBARKRIEGEAREE 2N
FE
REBEE-—T—+F+-_A=1+—HIFE"
N EME RS AR EBEEARAA
2 & KB A FICNR Group Holdings Pte. Ltd
([CNRG |) BB #ITRRAME AEEREE
Ems (DE8RHS]) BEBERGS  Fi0
WHEANBRSEEARBSBRBEF IR RIE
Bl (£50%) #CNRGE L T RTERARE
FIERIZET - MNEBEEBAKL CNRGESY
CNRGHYEFS BB B & 1 ICNRGRE E
EHBEBATLERIZH - BRAQRREER
ARNEBED L ELHCNRGR L LRt S &8N
24 # - MCNRGE B ARNEBHH B R
Ao ALt - & AE BT HEEH CNRGEF ' CNRG
NEKEBAR (48 [CNRGEE] ) WEER
BEERIHEEAR YAMEENB R A
RILEEAANBREL 2 Wz (NGB E A
EEITFHIFHNFRGERASTAOT :

HK$'000
FET

Property, plant and equipment (Note 14) M RE KA (MEE14) 1,389
Prepayment, deposit and other receivables TERTFRIE - & R H At FE YR IR 4,431
Cash and bank balances Re RRITHEH 257
Trade payables FE 1T BR 3R (714)
Other payables and accruals HMEARIARETAE (9,835)
Other long term payables (Note 24) H b R HAET FRIE (BIsE24) (900)
Income tax payables e TS (26,143)
Net liabilities deconsolidated B IEERNFEE (31,515)
Non-controlling interests R A (6,067)
Release of exchange reserve bE 5 {1 1B (6,873)
Gain on deconsolidation of subsidiaries, net M AR LR A ABRE A 2 W F 58 (44,455)

176 B &REBRZERARA A
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e MBEHRTME
9 FINANCE COSTS, NET 9 ®ERKFEHE
2018 2017
S —F—tF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET T T
Finance income ES= PN
Interest income on time deposits ______ EHFHAEMA me 139
Finance costs A& KA
Interest on bank and other borrowings RITERREMEET S (338,068) (338,094)
Interest on convertible bonds AR ESNE (3,100) (5,825)
___________________________________________________________ (341,168)  (343,919)
Finance costs, net BB A FE (341,050) (343,780)
10 EMPLOYEE BENEFITS EXPENSE (INCLUDING 10 EEEREX: (BEESFMH)
DIRECTORS' EMOLUMENTS)
2018 2017
—2-N\F —F—t
HK$'000 HK$'000
FExT T T
Salaries e 50,603 49,309
Retirement benefit scheme contributions RREF T 2R R
and other costs H At pl AR 11,229 10,639
Equity-settled share-based compensation AR #E A5 5 2 IR 1
expense (Note 31) AEMS (M&E31) = 22
61,832 59,970
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10 EMPLOYEE BENEFITS EXPENSE (INCLUDING 10

178

DIRECTORS' EMOLUMENTS) (Continued)
(a) Five highest paid employees

The five highest paid employees during the year included
three directors (2017: three directors), details of whose
remuneration are set out in note (b) below. Details of
the remuneration paid and payable to the remaining
two (2017: two) highest paid employees who are neither
a director nor chief executive of the Company are as
follows:

BERAFAX (BERESHFM) (&)

(a)

AEREHER
AEEREARDH

BEBE=RE=F

Tt FZREF) RFEFL
B EIIN T XXHMFED) - 2
FRENBTRA (ZE—tF:WA)
REARREENIFARRIBEFERIT
EHREHEBFMOFBFNT

2018 2017
—E-N\F —FT—tF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET T T
Fees we - -
Salaries, allowances and e B REWREF
benefits in kind 2,515 2,356
Equity-settled share option expense  LARGHE ST+ = BE AR A BA =% - 2
Retirement benefit scheme RIREFIFEI R
contributions 36 36
2,551 2,394
The emoluments of the aforementioned individuals fell Fit ATHFENE T 5 EE -
within the following bands:
2018 2017
—E-N\F —FT—+tF
HK$500,001 to HK$ 1,000,000 500,000 &
1,000,000/ JT - 1
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,001/ &
1,500,000 7T 2 1

No emoluments have been paid to the five highest paid
individuals (including Directors and other employees) as
an inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as
compensation for loss of office (2017: Nil).

RERERERAR AR

BEESBEMAIRINARE B
ERBEBAEEMNERIRZESHA
T (BHRESIEMESR) 2% (=

T—LHF E)-
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10 EMPLOYEE BENEFITS EXPENSE (INCLUDING 10 EEGARX (BEESHM) (E)

DIRECTORS' EMOLUMENTS) (Continued)

(b) Benefits and interests of directors (disclosures (b) EZEBARAZE (FBQ MR (F
required by section 383 of the Hong Kong 622 ¥) 58383 fk - AR (MBEES
Companies Ordinance (Cap. 622), Companies FZER) RO (56226 E) RESB
(Disclosure of Information about Benefits ERRBBREREZHE)

of Directors) Regulation (Cap. 622G) and HK
Listing Rules)

() Directors’ and chief executives’ emoluments () ESREHEHNTE ZEHH
The remuneration of each of the directors of the HE-_ZT—N\F+=-H=+—H
Company for the year ended 31 December 2018 is IEFEE - ARAASEENET M
set out below: HIEAT
Retirement
Housing Equity-settled benefit
Salaries and other  share option scheme
Fees  andbonus  allowances expense  contributions Total
TER MREXHZ RIKER
e HerKks Hip2l  BRERX e st

HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000
FTER TER TR TR TR TAR

Executive Directors: HIER:
Mr. Dong Shutong BERAA

(Chief executive) (BERIE) - 2,081 601 - - 2,682
Mr. Dong Chengzhe Bhmit - 1,108 - - 17 1,125
Mr. Song Wenzhou RIOM %A - 421 - - - 827
M. Yang Fei BR%EE - 650 240 - 18 908
Mr. Wang Ping TEEAE - 1,300 469 - - 1,769

Non-executive Director: FHiTES:
Mr. Yang Tianjun BRBLA 200 - - - = 200

Independent Non-executive BV FHTES:

Directors:

Mr. Bai Baohua HEELA 200 - - - - 200
Mr. Huang Changhuai BEERE (i)

(Note) 130 - - - - 130
Mr. Wong Chi Keung BlREE 200 - - - - 200
Mr. Fahmi Idris EREE 200 - - - - 200

930 5,566 1,310 - 35 7,841
Note: Mr. Huang Changhuai resigned from 27 August 2018. Mizt: EEREER_ZE-NFNA
Zt+tEHBE
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10 EMPLOYEE BENEFITS EXPENSE (INCLUDING 10 EEGARAX (BEESHM) (E)

DIRECTORS' EMOLUMENTS) (Continued)

(b) Benefits and interests of directors (disclosures (b) EETARFZ (BFEDQTFRE (F
required by section 383 of the Hong Kong 622 ¥) 58383 fk - AR (MBEES
Companies Ordinance (Cap. 622), Companies FzZER) RO (56226 E) RESB
(Disclosure of Information about Benefits ERRBBREREZIHE) (8)

of Directors) Regulation (Cap. 622G) and HK
Listing Rules) (Continued)

() Directors’ and chief executives’ emoluments () ESLEEITEZHMH (H)
(Continued)
The remuneration of each of the directors of the HE-Z—+F+=-HA=+—H
Company for the year ended 31 December 2017 is IEFE ARG SESNFTWE
set out below: Ha
Retirement
Housing  Equity-settled benefit
Salaries and other  share option scheme
Fees and bonus allowances expense  contributions Total
Rk DREXf EIRET
e Hekfe Azl BRERX HE 3 b

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
AL AL AL AL AL AL

Executive Directors: BIES:
Mr. Dong Shutong BERLL

(Chief executive) (BEHIE) - 223 569 - - 2,792
Mr. Dong Chengzhe BhRLE - 451 25 1 16 493
Mr. Song Wenzhou R4 - 416 - 1 - 417
M. Yang Fei BREE - 650 231 1 18 900
Mr. Wang Ping IFEAE - 1,300 539 - = 1,839
Non-executive Director: ~ JE#{TE%E:
Mr. Yang Tianjun BABEE 200 - - - - 200
Independent Non-executive By FFHTES :

Directors:
Mr. Bai Baohua HEELA 200 = = = = 200
Mr. Huang Changhuai BEERE 200 - - - - 200
Mr. Wong Chi Keung BlREE 200 - - - - 200
M. Fahmi Idfis EREE 200 - - - - 200

1,000 5,040 1,364 3 34 7441
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10 EMPLOYEE BENEFITS EXPENSE (INCLUDING 10 EEGARX (BEESHM) (E)

DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS) (Continued)

(b) Benefits and interests of directors (disclosures
required by section 383 of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance (Cap. 622), Companies
(Disclosure of Information about Benefits

of Directors) Regulation (Cap. 622G) and HK

(b) EEEARAZ (FBDQEMEG (F
622 E) 383 1% N El (HEESE
FZ=ER) RH (5£622G E) REB
EHRABREFREZHE) (&)

Listing Rules) (Continued)

() Directors’ and chief executives’ emoluments () ESLEEITEZHMH (H)
(Continued)
During the year ended 31 December 2018, no HE-_ZT-N\F+-A=+—H
Director or chief executive waived or agreed to EFE BEEEXEHENTE
waive any emolument; and no emoluments were MESEEREEMME &
paid by the Group to the Directors or chief executive TERBEMA T IMAREE
as an inducement to join or upon joining the Group ERBEBMEMBARE M4
or as compensation for loss of office (2017: Nil). EEYERATELHe (=

—tF )

(I) Directors’ retirement benefits ) E=EAKEF
None of the directors received or will receive any F A ES S 2 WSO BERE
retirement benefits during the year (2017: Nil). AEEAREMN (ZE—+F &) o

() Directors’ termination benefits ) ESEBER
None of the directors received or will receive any FRBEEE = 2 WRE RER
termination benefits during the year (2017: Nil). EEBAEN (Z T —tF 8|) -

(IV) Consideration provided to third parties for (V) BE=FXNEHESRE 2K
making available directors’ services &
During the year ended 31 December 2018, the REBEE_ZE-—NF+_RA=+—
Company did not pay consideration to any third BIEFE  ARFXREEAE
parties for making available directors’ services (2017: =SHFXNRHESRE 2NRE
Nil). (ZE—tF:8\)-

(V) Information about loans, quasi-loans and other (V) BEUEE HEZEFNEER

Annual Report 2018

dealings in favour of directors, controlled
bodies corporate by and connected entities
with such directors

During the year ended 31 December 2018,
there is no loans, quasi-loans and other dealing
arrangements in favour of the directors, or
controlled bodies corporate by and connected
entities with such directors (2017: Nil).

Nickel Resources International Holdings Company Limited
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REBE-Z—\F+-A=1—
RIEFE BEFELNES HE
EEFEEREEZABEN
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1
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EMPLOYEE BENEFITS EXPENSE (INCLUDING

DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS) (Continued)

(b) Benefits and interests of directors (disclosures
required by section 383 of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance (Cap. 622), Companies
(Disclosure of Information about Benefits
of Directors) Regulation (Cap. 622G) and HK
Listing Rules) (Continued)

(VI) Directors’ material interests in transactions,

arrangements or contracts

Save as disclosed in these consolidated financial
statements, no other significant transactions,
arrangements and contracts in relation to the
Group's business to which the Company was a
party and in which a director of the Company had
a material interest, whether directly or indirectly,
subsisted at the end of the year or at any time
during the year.

INCOME TAX

The Group is subject to income tax on an entity basis on profits
arising in or derived from the jurisdictions in which the Group’s
entities are domiciled and operate.

Pursuant to the rules and regulations of the Cayman Islands and
the British Virgin Islands (“BVI"), the Group is not subject to any
income tax in the Cayman Islands and the BVI.

The applicable Hong Kong profits tax rate of the Company, and

its subsidiaries, which operate in Hong Kong, is 16.5% (2017:
16.5%).

BRERERZERERARF

10

1"

BEEANFAX (BEESHM) (&)

(b) EBEARFZ (FBLTEH (5
622 E) 383 1% N El (HEESE
FZER) RO (56226 E) REHE
EHRABREFREZHE) (&)

(V) EERRS RERSHZEKX
R
BRAGE BRI BEEIN RNF
B F AR BT EE
ARRUERFI M BARRIE
ENETHEEAER (THE
BEREE)NEASEXHA M
MEBEARS LHHEH -

Frig®i
AEERRERELRELNRRAEEE
BEER AR FTTE RLAHER MR RIS
Bio

RERASEERRABRELES ([ REBELE
BIVERNRG AEERHASESNEEB
RS BAMMIAAER -

ARBRENRBFBLZEZHWEB R AER

BEAEFNEHRMEE165% (T —+F:
16.5% ) °

“E-N\FEEHRE
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INCOME TAX (Continued) 11 FEH (&)
According to the PRC Corporate Income Tax Law, the applicable *ETJ%':F‘ Bl ERBRE  NEBRF BN E
income tax rate of the Group's PRC subsidiaries is 25% for the NARFEREZBRARGHHER25% (ZF
year (2017: 25%). —+t&F:25%) °
2018 2017
—E-N\EF —t+
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAET
Income tax expense FRS %7 = =
The tax charge on the Group's loss before income tax differs IR ER B B B 5 B Al B 18 MO R 1% B S B Rl IR
from the theoretical amount that would arise using the BAREE QR EENNET IR EFTES
weighted average tax rate applicable to results of the group HHIERESRE ST
companies as follows:
2018 2017
—E-)N\F —tF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHAIT
Loss before income tax R PGB AT E 18 (508,996) (472,689)
Tax calculated at the applicable statutory BEABEAEERE
tax rates of respective companies FTE 2 FIE (117,194) (112,073)
Tax effect of: THGE L BBTE
Income not subject to tax BAERBBA (5.873) (10,784)
Expenses not deductible for tax AR X 33,548 35,062
Tax losses not recognised RIERBIEE B 89,519 87,795
Income tax expense RS fif X = =

The applicable income tax rate of the Group was 23% for the
year ended 31 December 2018 (2017: 23.7%). The change
is caused by a change in the relative results of the Group's
subsidiaries in the respective countries.

Nickel Resources International Holdings Company Limited
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DIVIDENDS

The Directors do not recommend the payment of a final
dividend for the year ended 31 December 2018 (2017: Nil).

LOSS PER SHARE

Basic

The calculation of the basic loss per share is based on the loss
for the year attributable to equity holders of the Company,
and the weighted average number of ordinary shares of
3,088,131,105 (2017: 3,088,131,105) in issue during the year.

Diluted

The calculation of the diluted loss per share for the year ended
31 December 2018 is based on the loss for the year attributable
to equity holders of the Company, adjusted to reflect the
interest on and change in fair value of the derivative component
of the convertible bonds and share options. The weighted
average number of ordinary shares used in the calculation is the
weighted average number of the ordinary shares in issue during
the year, as used in the basic loss per share calculation, and the
weighted average number of ordinary shares assumed to have
been issued at no consideration on the deemed exercise or
conversion of all dilutive potential ordinary shares into ordinary
shares.

Diluted loss per share is the same as basic loss per share for the
years ended 31 December 2018 and 2017 because the impact
of dilution of the convertible bonds and share options is anti-
dilutive.

RERERERAR AR

12

13

Hﬁ z%\
EETEBERBE_ZT-N\F+_A
=+t BLEFEZRERE (ZF—tF:
')

BREE

R
BEREABREDBEARAERHE AL
EEEBEBRFERADBRITEBR 2 NETF
5 A% 81 B13,088,131,1050% ( =& — + 4 :
3,088,131,1050% ) 5t & o

wE
BE_T—)\F+-_A=1—"BLFEZE
BRE#EERRBEARFRERAARIGSF
E BB E - I AR BR AT AR 55
TETAD REREZFNERAREER
Bt EMAZ T BRNEFHRBBFEAR
ERTEBRZMNETFHRE (RtEEK
EXBEMERE)  UARBRERAAE
BELRRESTERER AT BRSIRE
BT AT 2 B BAINE GRS -

HE_Z—\GFk_ZF—tFF+_A=+—
HIEFE BRI RRES KBk E#5%
FEBREE WEREEBEBESNERE
AEIE ©
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14 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 14 YE -BERRE
Motor
Plant and Office vehicles  Construction
Buildings machinery  equipment  and others in progress Total
BT HEREE BAZERE SERHM HEIR ast

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TRR TER TRR TR TR

Cost: RAE:
At 1 January 2017 W=E—+F—F—H 420,958 1,444,526 19,280 48,269 1,305,862 3,238,895
Additions AE - 1,648 527 - 20,661 22,836
Disposals RE = (2,703) = (92) (360) (3,155)
Deconsolidation of subsidiaries WEARRIEERA A

(Note 8) (FizE8) (1,099) - (1,003) (3,535) (6) (5,643)
Exchange realignment ERER 28,611 101,229 1,209 3,158 92,242 226,449
At 1 January 2018 RZE-\F-A—-H 448,470 1,544,700 20,013 47,800 1,418,399 3,479,382
Additions AE - 676 m 327 59,804 61,008
Disposals RE (4,520) - (126) (2.624) (2.318) (9,588)
Transfers £ F 12,460 154,194 - - (166,654) -
Exchange realignment EHE® (20,908) (73,877) (855) (4,784) (61,366) (161,790)
At 31 December 2018 RZZE-N\F+ZA=1—H 435,502 1,625,693 19,143 40,719 1,247,955 3,369,012
Accumulated depreciation: RiHE:
At 1 January 2017 RZE—t£—-F—H 125,506 905,089 17,552 38,079 = 1,086,226
Depreciation (Note 7) & (fEE7) 237 68,731 895 2397 - 72,260
Disposals RE = (2,703) = 92) = (2,795)
Deconsolidation of subsidiaries WEARIRIEEA AR

(Note 8) (Fitzk8) (1,099) - (944) (2,205) - (4,248)
Exchange realignment EHEH 7911 65,718 1,107 2,614 - 77,350
At 1 January 2018 RZZE-\F-A—H 132,555 1,036,835 18,610 40,793 - 1,228,793
Depreciation (Note 7) & (fFE7) 291 63,469 475 2,163 - 66,398
Disposals RE (1,262) - (114) (2,246) - (3,622)
Exchange realignment I 5 =5 (6,062) (47,277) (805) (4,541) - (58,685)
At 31 December 2018 RZZE-NE+=A=1+—A 125,522 1,053,027 18,166 36,169 - 1,232,884
Accumulated impairment losses: R BEEE:
At 1 January 2017 RZZ—+F—-A—-H 292,120 122,440 185 310 1,287,285 1,702,340
Charge for the year REEZH - - - - - -
Deconsolidation of subsidiaries WEARRIEERA AR

(Note 8) (FizE8) - - = (6) (6)
Exchange realignment ERER 20,479 8,582 12 2 90,243 119,338
At 1 January 2018 RZZ2-\F-A—H 312,599 131,022 197 332 1,377,522 1,821,672
Charge for the year REEZ M - - - - - -
Disposals RE - - - - (2,189) (2,189)
Transfers B 8,357 75,905 - - (84,262) -
Exchange realignment BN EH (14,671) (8,720) (9) (15) (55,439) (78,854)
At 31 December 2018 RZZE-N\F+ZA=1—H 306,285 198,207 188 317 1,235,632 1,740,629
Net carrying amount: REFE:
At 31 December 2018 RZB-N\F+ZA=+—-H 3,695 374,459 789 4,233 12,323 395,499
At 31 December 2017 RZE—+E+ZA=1+—A 3316 376,843 1,206 6,675 40,877 428917
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PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
(Continued)

At 31 December 2018 and 2017, a substantial amount of the
Group's property, plant and equipment were pledged to secure
a bank loan granted to the Group (Note 27).

As at 31 December 2018, the carrying amounts of the Group's
property, plant and equipment and prepaid land lease payments
by major cash generating units, are analysed as follows:

14 Y% BMERSKE (&)

KRB NER=F—LE+=A=+—
A AEBAENYE BERESRDER
{EAR BB RRTER (H3E27) B -

RZBE-N\F+_RA=+—B &x5£EY
¥ BELRREAREMN T BEERRRE
ERSELEME D ZEEESNAOT

Zhengzhou Lianyungang
Plants Plant Others Total
BMNEE EEEEE Ht #st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHET FET FHET
Property, plant and E R G
equipment 351,601 43,849 49 395,499
Prepaid land lease payments FB{ £ b & A 722 158,549 = 159,271
Total RS 352,323 202,398 49 554,770

Impairment assessment — Zhengzhou Plants

As a result of the continuous unfavourable operating
environment experienced in the steel industry, the Group’s
manufacturing and sales of iron and special steel products
operations in Zhengzhou (the “Zhengzhou Plants”) were
temporarily suspended since March 2013 and had only been
operating intermittently throughout the year 2018. The directors
of the Company considered it as an impairment indicator and,
with the assistance of an independent professional valuer,
carried out an impairment review on property, plant and
equipment and the related prepaid land lease payments of
Zhengzhou Plants (Note 15).

Based on the results of the assessment, the recoverable amounts
of property, plant and equipment and the related prepaid land
lease payments of Zhengzhou Plants exceed their respective
carrying amounts, and therefore no further impairment loss has
been made for the year ended 31 December 2018.

RERERERAR AR

AR (G — BN RR

RN EANKEREFERE AEE
R-_FT—=F=-ALEEREPUEBMNNEK
Rl mAEERHERSE (TEMNEE]) - )
—E- N\ FERREE-AAREFTALE
BRENS R—2B L EEMZHET
BEM RS 2 W% BE KR A RAERETR
A S 5RIE (B EE15) EATREER] -

HERNFEER BNEE 2% BE &R
BARMERABRN L HEERBBBERES
BZERHE #UWMREBE—_ZT—-\F+-A
=t BLFEEBELE - TRERE-

R N\FEERSE
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14 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 14 YX BERRZRE (&)
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(Continued)

Impairment assessment — Zhengzhou Plants
(Continued)

The recoverable amounts of the property, plant and
equipment and the related prepaid land lease payments have
been determined based on value-in-use calculations. These
calculations included applying certain assumptions in preparing
cash flows projections for the cash generating unit. In preparing
these projections, the directors assumed that, amongst other
factors, business performance of the Zhengzhou Plants can
be gradually improved during the projection period as a result
of improving operating environment and by launching new
products and seeking new orders from new customers with
improved gross margins. The discount rate used in measuring
value-in-use was 19.1% (2017: 18%), which is pre-tax and
reflects the specific risks relating to the business.

As at 31 December 2018, there would be no impairment charge
if the discount rate used had been 1% higher or the gross
margin had been 1% lower.

Impairment assessment — Lianyungang Plant

During the year ended 31 December 2018, due to the
continuous unfavourable market condition of nickel related
products, which is the main business engaged by the Group’s
manufacturing plant in Lianyungang (the “Lianyungang
Plant”), management upheld its decision to postpone the
commencement of Lianyungang Plant’s operation until year
2021. The directors of the Company considered it as an
impairment indicator and, with the assistance of an independent
professional valuer, carried out an impairment review on the
property, plant and equipment and the related prepaid land
lease payments of Lianyungang Plant (Note 15).

The recoverable amounts have been determined based on the
value-in-use calculations. The discount rate used in measuring
value-in-use was 21.4% (2017: 20.7%), which is pre-tax and
reflects the specific risks relating to the business.

As at 31 December 2018, if the projected sales volume applied
to the cash flow projection had been 5% lower or the discount
rate used had been 1% higher, an impairment charge of
approximately HK$21 million and HK$19 million, respectively
would be resulted.

Nickel Resources International Holdings Company Limited

BB R d — BRMN RS (4]

ME - MELREALBERN D BEER
B AR E S BRERABEELEFE 2T
AEERERRESELA BN RS RTE
FEME TRE - mEZSRAE  EFRTE
ZHRZ AP BEREMBEZEZBERRA
RERBUEREBELTERNAFES
RREMNXEFNHTEMRBARRES
HE-EEREEMRZMEEER9.1%
(ZF—LF:18%) L ABATH X A Rk
HEXGHEBFERR-

RoZ—N\E+=A=+— B WA
RE 1 %RERETIE1% BT GE
AR ES -

BRI L - EERME

BE_ T/ \F+_-_A=+—BLFE H
RIFERER (W ARBENEEB 2 EE
BE (IBEEME]) E2FRHER) W™
ARE ERBHEFBERTE  LEEZERE
REBHE_T_—F -ARAEFA/H
BRENSR R—2B L EEMZHET
HEZEBE 2 ME  BFE MR R AERE
BN A EKRIE (MHEE15) ETRERRH -

A el Bk EREEEEFE HEEA
BEMABZWERER214% (ZT—+F:
20.7%) - UL A BRI R R B I bR 82 X H5ARRE
ZHE R o

RZZB-N\F+ZA=+—RH" WEARR
SRR 2 FRRIHE B TRES%3 AT A AL
BER % Mol ELRES HM218
BAETRI9BEEETT
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15 PREPAID LAND LEASE PAYMENTS

15 FANLTHEERE

2018 2017
= At ——t5
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
Bt % FET FHAT
Carrying amount at 1 January R—HA—BZEHEE 175,748 168,590
Amortisation for the year F R 7 (4,610) (4,506)
Exchange realignment [EH =% (7,919) 11,664
Carrying amount at 31 December W+ —-_A=+—HZ
REE 163,219 175,748
Less: Current portion included in B ETATREREIR ke Kk
prepayments, deposits and Hith e RIE 2
other receivables BVEREE 5 22 (3,948) (4,138)
Non-current portion JEBNERER 7 159,271 171,610

At 31 December 2018, the Group's leasehold land situated in
Mainland China on lease of between 10 and 50 years with a net
carrying amount of HK$163,219,000 (2017: HK$175,748,000)
were pledged for bank loans granted to the Group (Note 27).

Impairment assessment

As at 31 December 2018, management carried out a review of
the recoverable amounts of its property, plant and equipment,
and prepaid land lease payments. Details of the impairment
assessment on the Group’s property, plant and equipment,
and prepaid land lease payments as at 31 December 2018 are
disclosed in Note 14.

R-ZE—NF+-_A=+—8 K&EEM
R RE - -FHEBENFI10E50F RE®E
FEA163,219,0008 L (T —EF:
175,748,000/ 0) MHE L EE AR S E
BERIRITER (H5E27) & Y -

BB AL

R-BE—N\E+-_F=+—H BEEEH
EHY% BB MR A K B AN Tt E FA
Z2AKESE R_E—NE+-_A=+—
B AEEVE BERXBEARTEN L
HERE 2 REFT HFBRNE 1455 -

16 INTANGIBLE ASSET 16 EBEEE
2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—+tF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHAIT
Exclusive offtake right BRRERE
Carrying amount at 1 January R—A—BZEAE 2,384,543 2,384,543
Amortisation e - _
Carrying amount at 31 December R+Z—A=+—H2
FRmE{E 2,384,543 2,384,543
188 2 EREBIERAER AR T N\FEFEERE
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INTANGIBLE ASSET (Continued)
Amortisation of intangible asset has been included in cost of
sales.

In May 2007, the Group secured an exclusive offtake right from
PT. Yiwan Mining (“Yiwan"), a limited company incorporated
in Indonesia, whereby Yiwan agreed to exclusively sell the
limonitic ores produced by Yiwan to the Group at a fixed price
of US$16 per dry tonne for a period of approximately 14 years.
In September 2008, the term of the exclusive offtake right was
extended to 29 years expiring on 24 January 2036.

During the year ended 31 December 2012, a number of
Indonesian governmental authorities promulgated several
new rules and regulations regarding ores export approval and
export tax. Yiwan obtained the ore exporter status (“the Status
Approval”) and the ore export approval (the “Export Approval”)
on 13 June 2012 and 27 June 2012, respectively. The Status
Approval is valid for two years while the Export Approval is valid
for a period of three months from the date of their respective
issuance, and Yiwan can re-apply for the Status Approval and
the Export Approval before their respective expiry dates.

Pursuant to the new export tax regulation promulgated by the
Ministry of Finance of Indonesia (the “MOF") on 16 May 2012,
a 20% export tax (the “Export Tax") would be imposed on the
limonitic ores exported from Yiwan to the Company. The Export
Tax is calculated based on the base price published by the MOF
periodically. The Export Tax will be borne by the Group.

According to the recommendation letter issued by the Minister
of Mineral and Coal on 25 June 2012 to the Minister of
Commerce which granted the Export Approval to Yiwan,
the export price of limonitic ores to be sold by Yiwan to the
Company shall be US$23.5 per dry tonne (excluding the Export
Tax) (the “New Export Price”) instead of US$16 per dry tonne.

On 10 January 2013, Yiwan issued a letter of undertaking to
the Group. Without any prejudice to the terms of the exclusive
offtake right, Yiwan irrevocably and unconditionally undertakes
that, if at any time during the term of the exclusive offtake
agreement, the Group requests the iron ores to be delivered to
the Group's subsidiaries located in South Kalimantan, Indonesia
for production, Yiwan will adjust the purchase price of such iron
ores under the exclusive offtake right to US$10 per tonne.

16
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BLEE (&)
B EEBECTAFEENAE-

MR-ZZEZLFHA AEEERFT—HRE
JE sE i pX 3Z 2 B BR A BIPT.Yiwan Mining
(I'Yiwan J) 2 BHRERIERE * Yiwan[E ELAEIE
B ABE16E TRASEBR L EH AN
EREEA  FRAOATHFE - N N\F
hA BREEECFHERE-TIF-
RZB=X"F-—AZ+THHBEm-

HE—_Z——H+-HA=+—BItFE %
EENEBNHERMGE THEBBEA L O
K AR EF R R AR o Yiwan D BIR = F
——FXNAt=AR-ZZE——-FXA=Zt++
HRESEATEOEERS ([ERRT)) RIE
AEAFA ([HOFT]) - &EERA L0
HAMESSS R AES B ETHBRM
FR=1EABHM  Yiwana] RE KR A K0
RIS AZEmARIIEFEFEERR &
HOFFA] -

RIZENEMBM (TMBHBI R _F——F
A A+T/RBRMZHHAFRE - Yiwan@ A<
R A O A 18 EE O R R R 20 % H0 H O B
(THAR]) - AR IR BB E A MmE R
AERFE - OB GHEAREARE-

BERBEIENR _Z——FA_+HBM
BFYiwan ORF AR E S RE L 2 2R
K Yiwan & T AR RIM B ETE A H O {E S
ABETANE23.5E T (REFEOR) ([FE
AE])  -MmkEFZAMBE163ETT

—E-=F—A+H Yiwanf R &EEEH
AR ETBREBREBRIGRZIBN
T Yiwan S A i E] Ko S AR 1R GG - i AN SR 1B
A VB 2R BR B 157 ok BA PR 70 (o By o) 22 SR S 50
AEXEAREEMRENERMNE S HHH B
REMEEERE  YiwanB iR IBBER KBS
EZSHBEBANRBEEESAMI0ET
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INTANGIBLE ASSET (Continued)

During the year ended 31 December 2013, the relevant
Indonesian governmental authorities further promulgated that
unprocessed ore export by mining business licence holders
in Indonesia (“IUP Holders”) would be banned from 12
January 2014 onwards unless the IUP Holders have carried out
processing and refining domestically according to the relevant
regulations regarding implementation of activities of business
of minerals and coal mining and have conducted refining and
smelting in accordance with those relevant laws. Consequently,
the export of unprocessed iron ores from Yiwan to the Group
ceased with effect from 12 January 2014.

All of the rights, interest, title and benefits of the exclusive
offtake agreement is pledged in favour of DB Trustees (Hong
Kong) Limited as security trustee for and on behalf of the
bondholders of the Senior Bonds and the Convertible Bonds
(Notes 27 and 28).

In determining the recoverable amount of the intangible
asset as at 31 December 2018, the directors, amongst other
considerations, made reference to the disposal consideration as
stipulated in a non-binding framework agreement entered into
between the Group and Beijing Wincapital, an independent
third party, on 21 January 2013, pursuant to which the Group
proposed to dispose of 30% equity interest in SEAM to Beijing
Wincapital at a consideration of approximately US$150 million
(the “Framework Agreement”) as detailed in Note 2.1(a). In
addition, the directors also take into account of the sale and
purchase agreements entered into between the Group and Mr.
Sun on 11 March 2018 and 8 June 2018, pursuant to which the
Group agreed to sell an aggregate 14% equity interest in SEAM
to Mr. Sun at an aggregate consideration of RMB420,000,000
conditional upon, amongst others, obtaining approval from
shareholders of the Company at an extraordinary general
meeting and resumption of trading of the Company’s shares
(the "14% Disposal Agreements”).

SEAM is mainly engaged in the holding of the aforementioned
intangible asset of the Group. Although no formal sales and
purchases agreement has been entered into in respect of the
Framework Agreement up to date and the 14% Disposal
Agreements are conditional, as the disposal considerations
in discussion substantially exceed the attributable carrying
amounts of the intangible asset, the Directors are of the opinion
that there is no impairment of the intangible asset as at 31
December 2018.

RERERERAR AR

16

mILEE (&)
HE-_ZT—=F+_A=+—HItFE" 4
FAENE BT E — 2P S - I ENJE B3R
EBRTUBRBA([FUBFEAD#BEZ
T—OF— A+ BRI O RINTE
A EFAERE AR RBEANETEE R
HIEFARESNEBEAREZETIN TR
IR WARRZ S A EEITIRERIE R
BIBRSN e A - YiwanE ZFE—MNFE— A+ =
BiffEIEmAEREEAORNTEEA-

BREBHEOMEEN BE AR
Mz AEAESRABERES (ME27 R
28) A TR ABRKEFHAEAZE
BEGER (BB)BRAA (AERZFEAS
MRREFHAEA) °

EEFR -_Z—N\F+-A=+—BNEF
BEMKBSEE BTEEEMEREN
EE2BAEERBYE= It RERN
T—ZF—A-+—HIUWTEHEN
ERBZEFTRENHERE  BRIEZIERR
FoAEERRILRERHEENEFIRE
HI30% A% A - R E L1508 B Xt ([1E
iG] B RKFE2.1() o AN BEE IR
BEEBEAEEREEREEER T —N\F=A
+—B=ZFE—NFANANBFAERTNE
B Bl AEBEREMNRLELER
FAFRES 4%l A EDS BREAAR
#420,000,0007C  MEZEFF (K 8 1E) BLE
AARBRENRERFR ARG L EREAA
AIRMIREEER  HAEE ([14% L ER
AP

MABEZIEXRBABAASE LN
BVEE -#EEZRR I ERERRER
TIERE B R 14% D E BHRAZIEER
B AR R L EREXNBEARLE
ENEEREEE EFRAR R_T—/\F
T-A=t—H -BREELERE-
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17 PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES 17 MERBZFE
All of the subsidiaries of the Company were incorporated/ RNRARFTBKHB AR MK KL BFR
established as limited liability companies. Particulars of the RAE RZZE-—NF+ZA=+—R8B KA
Company's principal subsidiaries as at 31 December 2018 are as RIEZMEBE AR ZFIBNT :
follows:
Nominal value Percentage of equity

Place of incorporation

of issued shares/

interest attributable to

Name of companies and place of operations paid-up capital the Company Principal activities
BRIRG/
DNEAER BN Sk BRRAZEE ARABGRAEZASL TEXRK
Direct Indirect
BE &

Infonics International Limited (“Infonics”) British Virgin Islands/ US$10,001 100 - Investment holding

(Tinfonics ] ) Hong Kong

RERUBS/ B 10,0017t REZR
China Special Steel Holdings Company Limited ~ Cayman Islands/Hong Kong US$1 - 100 Dormant
FEEERER AR Ve (E B2X
SEAM British Virgin Islands/ Us§100 - 100  Trading of ore and holding of
Hong Kong EOA
e i3 EBRAHE/EE 1007 BRESHR
BEBRAE RS
Fully Lead Global Investments Limited British Virgin Islands/ US$1 - 100 Investment holding
Hong Kong

BERIFREBRAA EERTHE/ BB (E REER
Zhengzhou Yongtong Special Steel Co., Ltd. PRC RMB674,680,000 - 100 Manufacturing, sub-

("Yongtong Special Steel”) contracting and sale of

iron and steel products

BMARERBERAR (GENH]) e AR %674,680,0007C BE MIRHERARS
Zhengzhou Yongtong Alloy Metals Co., Ltd. PRC RMB3,000,000 = 95  Trading of scrap steel

("Yongtong Alloy Metals”)
KA EMHERDR ([XkBER])  HE AR3,000,0007C EHE S

Annual Report 2018
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17 PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

192

17 HMBLQE .z (&)

Nominal value Percentage of equity
Place of incorporation of issued shares/ interest attributable to
Name of companies and place of operations paid-up capital the Company Principal activities
BRITRH/
DEAER SRR EF Y BRRAZEE ALAEGRABEASL TEXK
Direct Indirect
H &
Zhengzhou Xiangtong Electricity Co., Ltd. PRC RMB10,000,000 - 100 Generation and sale of
("Xiangtong Electricity”) electricity
IMERBERMAR ([HBEE]) i AR #%10,000,0007 RERHEES
Zhengzhou Yongtong Fully Lead Trading PRC RMB66,600,000 - 100 Trading of mineral, steel and
Co., Ltd. ("Yongtong Fully Lead") electronic products
INABERESERAF ([A@ER])  HE AR %66,600,0007C B ALRETERES
Henan Yongtong Stainless Steel Products PRC RMB266,000,000 - 100 Manufacturing and trading
Co., Ltd. ("Yongtong Stainless Steel”) of special steel products
AEXBAERLRERAR (KBAHH]) & AR 266,000,007 RERHERHER
Lianyungang East Harvest Minerals Company ~ PRC US$127,000,000 - 100 Trading of mineral ores
Limited ("East Harvest Minerals") and steel products and
investment holding
EERRKBERERAR ((REBER]) ©E 127,000,000% 7T BARHERE AR
REER
Lianyungang City East Harvest Mining PRC RMB390,000,000 - 100 Trading of iron and steel
Company Limited ("East Harvest Mining") products
ETETRABEARAR ([REKBE]) T8 AR #390,000,0007 HEERE
Henan Jiakun New Materials Technology PRC RMB50,100,000 - 100 Sale of metallic new
Co., Ltd. (“Henan Jiakun") materials
AEREBFARRERAR (TTExE])  #E& AR¥50,100,0007C HECBHH

RERERERAR AR
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18 INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE 18 R—EHEQAT2ER
2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—tF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET T T
Share of net assets JEIEEEFE - =
Loan to an associate BERT—EBENT 56,975 56,975
Less: provision for impairment of loan to W BERT —BBE AR 2
an associate BEREE (56,975) (56,975)
Loan to an associate is unsecured, interest free and is not ERFT—HBeERaAEEE 28 RFEH
expected to be settled within one year. TEE—FRNEE-
Particulars of the associate are as follows: 2 AlIZFHBWT
Percentage
of ownership
interest
Particulars of issued Place of attributable
Name shares held incorporation to the Group  Principal activity
rEEEM
FrEEES
£ FHEEERTRAEE SER AR L i B BAk TEEHR
Full Harvest Development Limited 15,500 Ordinary shares of Republic of Seychelles 47.42%  Investment holding
US$1 each
ERERARAA 15,500k BREBIZT 2 ETRANE REZER
LRk
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194

DEFERRED TAX

Deferred tax assets

Deferred tax assets are recognised for tax losses carry
forward to the extent that the realisation of the related tax
benefit through future taxable profits is probable. As at 31
December 2018, the Group had unrecognised tax losses to be
carried forward against future taxable income amounted to
approximately HK$2,073,331,000 (2017: HK$2,215,471,000).

19

IR

EEBREE
IEBNRGERMBERNELCHREE
ERRBBIHEGANEEAEEBRKE
REBMNERNHED R_F—-N\F+_H
=t+— B AEEBRERREEAEKER

R PERTURA B 1% 8518 492,073,331,000/7%5
7T (ZZ—+%:2,215,471,00087C)  BREi

These tax losses have no expiry date except that approximately 15 E518491,908,648,0008 7T (— T — 4
HK$1,908,648,000 (2017: HK$2,083,193,000) will expire in the 2,083,193,0007T) @ N AR K —E R FRNE
next one to five years. HON  ZE RIS BN M EAA -
Deferred tax liabilities BEHEAE
The movements in the deferred tax liabilities during the year are FRREHIBEEEZEFHOT
as follows:
2018 2017
—E-N\F —F—+F
HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TATT
Accelerated depreciation IR E
At 1 January n—H—H 1,288 1,204
Exchange realignment ME H Z R (59) 84
At 31 December R+—HA=+—8H 1,229 1,288

Pursuant to the PRC Corporate Income Tax Law, a 10%
withholding tax is levied on dividends declared to foreign
investors from the foreign investment enterprises established
in the PRC. The requirement is effective from 1 January 2008
and applies to earnings after 31 December 2007. A lower
withholding tax rate may be applied if there is a tax treaty
between the PRC and the jurisdiction of the foreign investors.
For the Group, the applicable rate is 10%. The Group is
therefore liable to withholding taxes on dividends distributed by
those subsidiaries established in the PRC in respect of earnings
generated after 31 December 2007.

As at 31 December 2018 and 2017, no deferred tax liabilities
have been provided for in these consolidated financial
statements as there was no temporary difference associated
with investments in subsidiaries in Mainland China.

RERERERAR AR

BB ZERTSEE - 7R BB A S B9
EIRE T ERIINEEEETIRIREAIZ10%
BMENT - MR EBR_EZNF—H—H
BEM - HAR-_ZEELF+-_A=1+—H
BEVEAF o W BB INE 1 B B B R ERE R
AAERGKHE AT EARENFENRE -
REEFEANRER10% ° I%/Kglﬁ
EERRABEKOZENEA —ZF
t¢+_ﬂ:+—HéEEMEﬂ% Ik Y
A% BB FRH0RL -

RZE-—NEFER_ZTE—tF+_A=+—
B BARFEAEMNBRAGTRET BT =
B BT ERZERAVBRERPELHET
RIEaERE-
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= A, 2
FeMBE=RME
20 INVENTORIES 20 78
2018 2017
= s —B—tf
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHAIT
Raw materials R 106,303 92,773
Work in progress fE& 3,045 212
Finished goods BIPK om 114,231 192,538
Spare parts and consumables HH R 5 7% m 37,375 19,579
260,954 305,102
Less: provision for impairment losses R EBERE (76,279) (125,710
184,675 179,392
The movement of provision for impairment losses is as follows: BEEBEREENESHNT:
2018 2017
—E-N\F —FT—tF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FER FAET
At 1 January n—H—H 125,710 110,486
Utilisation HFE (69,610) (5,003)
Impairment losses recognised for the year A B MR EE 1B
(Note 7) (PHFE7) 24,273 12,360
Exchange realignment E X =% (4,094) 7,867
At 31 December W+—A=+—H 76,279 125,710
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TRADE RECEIVABLES JE UK BR X
2018 2017
—E-NE —ET—+F
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FH&TT
Trade receivables (note) FEUR BRZX (BIE) 93,883 90,489
Loss allowance ETE R (16,862) (15,583)
77,021 74,906

The Group's trading terms with its customers are mainly on
credit, except for new customers and customers of limonitic
ores, where payment in advance is normally required. The
credit period is generally one to two months. During the year,
the Group mainly generated its revenue from sales of alloys
and special steel products to other steel producers, thereby
exposing the Group to concentration of credit risk in the steel
industry. The Group does not hold any collateral or other credit
enhancements over these balances. Trade receivables are non-
interest-bearing. The carrying amounts of trade receivables
approximate their fair values.

RERERERAR AR

AEEREFZRGTEUNEETAEE
HE—RERHEL LBEETE P BENHKIE
EEH-—RA—EMEA -FR AEEZ
e T ERERAEMRMHRERHESER
FriEm Bt ARBEEERETEZRE
EEPRAR AEEYERZFERTEE
AR R R E M EERE - BUARK G F
B RUEEFNEDNEREELALEERS-
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21 TRADE RECEIVABLES (Continued) 21 FEWER (&)
Note: B &
(a) An ageing analysis of trade receivables at the end of the reporting period, (a) R BRI B Z H BT E 2 RS2 BRER
based on the invoice date, is as follows: DT -
2018 2017
—E-N\F —T—tF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FERT FHET
Within 90 days 90H A 72,161 65,208
91 to 180 days 91Z2180H 2,138 9,695
181 to 365 days 1812365H 2,722 3
Over 1 year HBiE—F 16,862 15,583
93,883 90,489

The closing loss allowance for all trade receivables reconcile to

PR R BR R 2 F R B 1R B i B V) B 1R

the opening loss allowance are as follows: B2 HERIAT
HK$’000
FTHT
Loss allowance as at 1 January 2017 under IAS 39 RZE—+F—H—H
RIEBR & 5 2E R 553955 ~ R S 29,857
Unused amount reversed (Note 7) B[Ol kB B E (FIFE7) (11,571)
Deconsolidation of subsidiaries B ARKILEGA AR (4,144)
Exchange realignment b H Z 5 1,441
Loss allowance as at 31 December 2017 under IAS39 R-ZE—+F+-_HA=+—H
and 1 January 2018 under IFRS 9 IRAR BB & 5T A RIS 395% )
RZZE—NF—A—BRE
B B B 75 R 5 2E BN SB 95 2 SR B 4 15,583
Loss allowance for trade receivables (Note 7) FEUL BR 7k 2 s 1B 1 (BIE7) 2,069
Exchange realignment PE W Z=RE (790)
Loss allowance as at 31 December 2018 under IFRS9 R-ZZE—N\E+-F=+—HEE
B R B 75 3 5 #E B SB 05 2 SR B 4 16,862

Annual Report 2018

The Group applies IFRS 9 simplified approach to measuring
expected credit losses which uses a lifetime expected credit loss
allowance for all trade receivables. This has not resulted in a
significant change to the loss allowance of trade receivables as
at 1 January 2018.

The loss allowance was increased to HK$16,862,000 for trade
receivables during the year ended 31 December 2018.

Information about the impairment of trade receivables and the
Group's exposure to foreign exchange risk and credit risk can be
found in Note 3.1(d).

Nickel Resources International Holdings Company Limited

74 40 47 ) B B 7 5 B S ORR A A 5
R B AT HERER 3 2 TE RS R - B
A TS BB (e HL 3 S
—F—\F—A— A2 BEE R RS
REALD -

JEWBR R 2 I REBNEE —T—N\F+=
A=+—BIFEE#EINZE16,862,000%5

JC o

B B MRFORE A K AN 5 B [ e 2 SME R
B MEERR 2 ER R 3 (&R -
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PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER 22 FENFRE RERHMEKRRIE
RECEIVABLES
2018 2017
—E-N\EF —E—+F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET T T
Prepayments to Yiwan (note) FEATYiwanz 308 (Hi5E) 12,581 12,463
Prepayments to other suppliers TE AT L 4 FE 7 2 RKIR 41,149 23,610
Other prepayments H b T8 3B 1,816 2,155
Value-added tax recoverable A] Uk [E] $E {8 47,686 48,994
Current portion of prepaid land lease ARt TSI 2
payments (Note 15) BNEAEE 2 (KI5E15) 3,948 4,138
107,180 91,360
Deposits and other receivables e R HE A ERGRIE 39,940 29,969
Loss allowance for other receivables H b e W GRIA B 1B R e (7,943) (9,306)
139,177 112,023

The carrying amounts of receivables and deposits approximate
their fair values.

Note: As at 31 December 2018, the directors have reviewed the recoverable
amount of prepayments to Yiwan and considered that Yiwan has the
ability to meet its obligations for supplying iron ores at the discretions of
the Group and therefore are not impaired.

The closing loss allowance for deposits and other receivables
reconcile to the opening loss allowance are as follows:

RUWFARZERAEREE 2 AR EEN

%O

fiE: R=B-NF+-A=+-B EEEHEN
Yiwanz SR T M & BE TR A R A
Yiwan 8 7138 74 BT 175 2 8 1T H 4 A
S Y B T o Bkt - AR R -

e RA M EKEE Y F R RREREY
BRAEZHEDT

HK$'000
FHET
Loss allowance as at 1 January 2017 under IAS 39 RZTE—tF—H—ARE
Rt ZE39%% 2 B R B 7,589
Loss allowance for other receivables (Note 7) H el A 2 i RE (M aE7) 1,475
Exchange realignment b H =5 242
Loss allowance as at 31 December 2017 RZZE—+F+=_A=+—H
under IAS 39 and 1 January 2018 1B IR B B & 5T 2RI 553957 &
under IFRS 9 RZZE-NFE—H—H
B35 B B B 75 e 5 2R RN 2895 2
EERE 9,306
Unused amount reversed (Note 7) BB AR E A FIE (K15E7) (1,254)
Exchange realignment PE X ERE (109)
Loss allowance as at 31 December 2018 under IFRS9 R -_Z— \&F+_-_A=+—H
R B R B 75 ek 25 22 RI 35958
BEEE 7,943

RERERERAR AR
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23 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, PLEDGED TIME 23 HREeNBESZEY CHEHFEHER

Annual Report 2018

DEPOSITS AND RESTRICTED CASH REZRHRE
2018 2017
—E-N\E —E—+F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET F#ET
Cash and bank balances B & RIRITHEH 4,256 20,046
Pledged time deposits B EBFR 24 25
4,280 20,071
Less: Pledged time deposits for issuing bank J& : AES IR 1T H 24 2
acceptance notes (Note 25(b)) B E BF R
(Bt3E25(b) ) (12) (12)
Pledged time deposits for senior REBSEES RIS
bonds and convertible bonds & &2 < B
(Note 27()) and 28) & HTFE K
(BF3E27(0) 5228) (12) (13)
Cash and cash equivalents BehBESEEY 4,256 20,046

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on daily
bank deposit rates. As at 31 December 2018, the weighted
average effective interest rate of the Group’s time deposits was
0.68% (2017: 0.31%) per annum.

As at 31 December 2018, cash and bank balances and pledged
time deposits of the Group are mainly denominated in RMB.
The carrying amounts of these balances approximate their fair
values.

RMB is not freely convertible into other currencies, however,
under Mainland China’s Foreign Exchange Control Regulations
and Administration of Settlement, Sale and Payment of Foreign
Exchange Regulations, the Group is permitted to exchange
RMB for other currencies through banks authorised to conduct
foreign exchange business.

FERIRITZ BT ABTERFRTEZ
B-R_ZE—N\E+_A=+—H0 K&£H
TEHRTF SRANAE 39 5 A E F R 50.68% (=
T—+F:031%)°

RZBE-N\FE+ZA=+—H0 FEERS
RRTEHMEEREHEREIENAR
BitE %SEARNREERE A REER
%O

ARBEEMEE AT ALE  AMRE
REAREINEE BIRD] ARGEE - EER
NEEERE ASEEEEBERELS
SMNE BRI RITIHARE L IBREME
H o
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24 DEFERRED GOVERNMENT GRANTS 24 EEBMHEL

2018 2017
—2-N\F —F—tF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Carrying amount at 1 January R—A—BZEHEE 7,932 8,374
Transfer to other short term payables BB T A b RS HAFE 1T SR8 = (68)

Deconsolidation of subsidiaries (Note 8) BB AR LR A AR
(Ff7ES) - (900)
Exchange realignment PE W Z=RE (365) 526

Carrying amount at 31 December W+ZA=+—H2
REE 7,567 7,932
25 TRADE AND NOTES PAYABLES 25 EAERERRENMRE

2018 2017
—2-N\F —F—t
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
B 5 F#ET T T
Trade payables FE A BR R (a) 187,514 133,008
Notes payables NS (b) 14,207 1,436
201,721 134,444

200
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25 TRADE AND NOTES PAYABLES (Continued) 25 BERIRRESRES (&)
(a) Trade payables (a) FENERR
An ageing analysis of the trade payables at the end of the R EHR  REZRGE ZENER
reporting period, based on the invoice date, is as follows: R DM -

2018 2017

—E-N\E —T—+F

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FAET

Within 90 days 90H N 84,958 68,773

91 to 180 days 912180H 5,180 5,380

181 to 365 days 1812365H 31,511 6,165

1 to 2 years 1826 25,322 6,537

2 to 3 years 2E3F 6,248 2,250

Over 3 years HBIE3FE 34,295 43,903

187,514 133,008

Trade payables are normally settled on terms of 60 to 180
days. The carrying amounts of trade payables approximate
their fair values at the end of the reporting period.

(b) Notes payables (b)
An ageing analysis of the notes payables of the Group at
31 December 2018 is as follows:

FE AR — AR S B /R60E180H ° 10
BERR  BNERZEEEEEAR

BEMRS-

BNRE

R-ZZE-NF+-_RA=+—H F~&H
NRRZ Rk TAT

2018 2017

—E-N\E —T—+F

HK$'000 HK$'000

THET FATT

Within 90 days 90H A 4,268 1,436
91 to 180 days 91%180H 8,239 -
181 to 365 days 181%365H 1,700 -
14,207 1,436

At 31 December 2018, notes payables of HK$14,207,000
(2017: HK$1,436,000) were denominated in RMB
and secured by time deposits of HK$12,000 (2017:
HK$12,000) (Note 23). The carrying amounts of notes
payables approximate their fair values at the end of the
reporting period.

R-ZE—NE+=—RAR=+—8 FEf
F1514,207,0008 T (ZF — £ F:
1,436,000/ 70) A AR ¥ EHE - I /A
R 12,0008 L (ZF —+F:
12,0007 70 ) fE R (MIFE23) - ¥R
HER  ENEBRCERABEREARE

(=RiEE=K
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26 OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS 26 HMENREBERESER

2018 2017

—E-N\F —E—tF

HK$'000 HK$'000

FHExT FHET

Contract liabilities (Note (a)) GHEE (MFE@E) 51,222 =

Receipt in advance B U IE - 34,799
Payables related to purchases of property, BB EWE - HE&

plant and equipment R FERTSRIE 59,359 63,171

Accrued interest expense JERTF B 1,154,620 893,946

Payroll payable B2 70,605 63,495

Amounts due to directors (Note 35) 4EREFFE (MFE35) 90,061 63,841

Provision for claims and disputes (Note (b))  BI 22 K2 3% 48 (Bff 5E(b) 126,290 125,155

Others HAth 252,158 268,383

1,804,315 1,512,790

202

As at 31 December 2018, the carrying amounts of other
payables and accruals approximate their fair values.

Note (a):

Note (b):

Contract liabilities represent the advance payments received from
customers for sales of goods which the performance obligation has
not yet been satisfied as at 31 December 2018.

Provision for claims and disputes mainly represent provision
for claims from certain vessel owners under certain contracts
of affreightment amounting to HK$103,610,000 (2017:
HK$99,118,000).

RERERERAR AR

R_F-NEt+=-A=+—8" ﬁﬂfﬁ*”
HREHERZREEREAR FTEFH

By ()

B E(b) -

EHEBEERHEEERKRES 2B
HEEBHEETHAR-_ZE—N\F+=A
=+—HEK-

EE%&%E%%%%IE%%%F%I*E
BRAMEEANREZHERIELEZ
#5103,610,0008 T (=T — £ F:
99,118,000/ 7T ) °

R N\FEERSE
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27 BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS 27 RITRHEMEBE
2018 2017
“E-N\§ Sl 2
Contractual Contractual
interest Original interest Original
Note rate (%) maturity HK$'000 rate (%) maturity HK$'000
M AENE%)  FIHA TRL ARFZE%)  RIHA THT
Current IR
Current bank loan - secured HEBBTER-BHR (a) 6.6 2019 95,811 - - -
“E-NE
Non-current bank loan - secured FHEFTER-BHEA (a) - - - 6.6 2019 100,431
“TNE
Current syndicated bank loan - secured MEREER-BHA (b) 52-6.6 2019 568,409 = = =
“E-NE
Non-current syndicated bank loan - secured ~ JEENEISE & H—A E#H (b) - - - 52-66 2019 595,837
“TNE
Current bank loans - unsecured MBRTER - EHR © 48-57 2019 404,777 = = =
“E-NE
Non-current bank loans - unsecured FHERTEN - EHA © - - - 47-57 2019 4429
“TNE
Other loans EER () 114 2014-2015 228258  10.0-114 20142015 239,263
ZE-mE- —E-UE-
ZB-1f —Z-1%
Other borrowings - unsecured AtifaE-EER
- related parties o il (e) Nil-43.2  On demand 88,809  Nil-432  Ondemand 89,086
T-43) BEREREE T- 32 BREKEER
— Potential Inventor -BEREE (f) Nil-10.0  On demand 25976  Ni-100  On demand 236,870
£-100 BREREE T-100 BREKEER
- related parties of the Potential Investor ~ —BEREEMNBES (f) 11.0-58.4 2015 300,057 11.0-584 2015-2017 314,524
ZB-1f “3-nf-
“TtF
— other third parties -HhE=5 (9) Nil-36.5 20142017,
on demand 183,791 Nil-365  2014-2017 70,512
Z-365 “EF-NE- £-365 —E-WE-
“E-tE It
Other borrowing- secured AtfaE-EHA BAHEREE
 other third parties ~EHE=H (h) Nil 2018 80  NI-276 20172018 3571
g -E-)\% T-216 —E—+E-
—E)N\E
The 12% Coupon Senior Bonds 1%EES BEES () 120 2018 390,990 120 2018 390,990
—E-N\§ —E-N\&F
The Modified 10% Coupon Bonds FET0NEALES 0 100 2015 28,400 100 2015 28,400
ZEB-1f —Z-1%
2,516,098 2,493,776
Annual Report 2018 Nickel Resources International Holdings Company Limited 203
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27 BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS (Continued)

204

(a)

(b)

Current secured bank loan

In May 2016, the Group replaced certain overdue RMB
secured bank loans and notes payables to the extent of
RMB55,000,000 (equivalent to HK$62,771,000) (2017:
equivalent to HK$65,797,000) and RMB29,000,000
(equivalent to HK$33,097,000) (2017: equivalent to
HK$34,693,000), respectively by a 3-year secured bank
loan. Up to 31 December 2018, RMB50,000 (equivalent
to HK$57,000) has been repaid.

As at 31 December 2018, this bank loan is secured
by a number of leasehold land in Mainland China
with net carrying amount of HK$38,720,000 (2017:
HK$40,586,000). However, as there is a repayment on
demand clause in the bank loan agreement and the Group
failed to pay the relevant interest expense during the
year, the outstanding amount of the 3-year secured bank
loan of HK$95,811,000 together with the related interest
expense of approximately HK$8,868,000 are immediately
due and payable as at 31 December 2018. The directors
are currently negotiating with the bank for waiver of
the relevant clause and renewal of the loan, including
extension of the related interest payments.

Current secured syndicated bank loan

In January 2016, the Group obtained a 3-year syndicated
loan of approximately RMB498 million (equivalent
to HK$556,859,000) from a syndicate of banks in
the PRC (i) to replace certain outstanding bank loans
and notes payable of the Group as at 31 December
2015 to the extent of RMB268,620,000 (equivalent to
HK$300,302,000) and RMB79,737,000 (equivalent to
HK$89,141,000), respectively with the syndicated loan
of the same amount; and (i) to provide additional loan
facilities to the Group as working capital for an amount
of RMB150,000,000 (the “New Facilities”) for a 3-year
term. During the year ended 31 December 2016, the New
Facilities have been fully drawn down.

RERERERAR AR

27 RITRHMEE (&)

(a)

(b)

BV HA A K R SR 1T E X
RZE—RFRA AEEN—E=
FHAERBFRITERRNRE T8
AREFRMBTERREMNZE
& B 5 Bl A AR #S55,000,0007T (8
B 162,771,000 L) (ZE—+F:
18 765,797,000 ) B A R
29,000,0007T (48 & 733,097,000/
J0) (ZZF—+ 4 : 15 & 134,693,000
BIL) HE-_Z—NFF+_A=+—
B BE&AR¥50,0005t (HHER
57,000/ 7T ) °

R-ZBE—NE+-_A=+—8 %ZE
RITEFTASEA AR B AR BRE
H1E /438,720,000 T (ZF —tF -
40,586,000/ 7T ) K1 & = i 1E B K
oA ARRITERBREBRE
KEZGR MAEBRERNANFES
BRI B M=F A EAERT
B2 MARERE£5895,811,000/ T
[B A8 28 I B 5 2 498,868,000/8 JTT A —
T-NF+-_A=+—HEIEZ|HE
- EE B I IEELIR1 TRt BA 2 AR 15
MEEER (BELERMENENTK)
EITRER -

BUHA G 3K 1 4R B & FX
RZE—RF—A AEEEE+FH
—RERE—E-_FHNEBEERYD
AE#4987 & T (#8E 14556,859,000
D) ()M AZE R R EE 5
RAEBR -_ZE—HF+-_A=+—
BEABENSE THRTERRER
ZiE 28R A AR®268,620,000
7t (#8 & $300,302,000/8 7T) X AR
#579,737,0007T (#8 & 789,141,000
BIr)  RNAAEEREEIINE R
MEEALEEL SBEAARE
150,000,0007T ([#iE@E]) - BE=
F-REBEE_ZT—"F+-_A=+—H
IEFE EMED 2SI -
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27 BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS (Continued)
(b) Current secured syndicated bank loan

(c)

Annual Report 2018

(Continued)

The syndicated loan is secured by certain property, plant
and equipment and prepaid land lease payments of
certain subsidiaries of the Group. However, the Group
failed to fulfil certain undertakings and restrictive covenant
requirements under these syndicated loan facilities upon
signing the syndicated loan agreement. During the year,
the Group also failed to pay its relevant interest totalling
HK$34,003,000 up to 31 December 2018. As a result,
the outstanding amount of the 3-year syndicated loan of
RMB498 million (equivalent to HK$568,409,000) together
with the related interest expense are immediately due
and payable as at 31 December 2018 despite the original
contractual repayment dates are within twelve months as
at the reporting date.

Subsequent to the year end in January 2019, the
syndicated loan has became overdue when the Group
failed to repay the principal amount of the loan together
with the related interest expense. The directors are
currently negotiating with the syndicate of banks for the
waiver of the breach of the undertaking and restrictive
covenant requirements and to extend the loan for
another 3 years, including extension of the related interest
payments.

Current unsecured bank loans

In June 2016, the Group obtained an unsecured 3-year
loan facility for an amount of RMB360 million (equivalent
to HK$430,560,000) from a PRC bank (the “Unsecured
Loan Facility”). During the year ended 31 December
2016, approximately RMB355 million (equivalent to
HK$396,496,000) has been drawn down from the
Unsecured Loan Facility mainly to replace certain loans in
relation to the proposed disposal of a 30% equity interest
in SEAM to the extent of RMB300,000,000 (equivalent to
HK$335,383,000) as detailed in note (d) below.

27 RITRHMEE (&)

(b)

(9]

Nickel Resources International Holdings Company Limited

MHMEEAREER (F)

FEEFEAEEETHBEARMNE
FHE  BE L& E AN LR ER
HER A NEEREITREER
EEREBITZEREERFEER
THYE T AR RPR S FE AT o A
FE AEBNRESNEE=E—/\
F+— A =+—H8%4 34,003,000/
TTZAEME At BERIANE
HKEBERHERBRATZREAN 3
FHREERZHREEZESEARK
4987 & T (48 & 12568,409,0007% It )
EEEEMNERATIR T —N\E+=
A=+—HENEZ RN -

R-E-NEF-AFHEER REERE
RARBAREEBEERANSRERMN
AN SR KAR - EXHATERAR
& IR S BRI M R E R i B
BIMER3F (BRIELERAABEN S
BRI TTIE R o

BN HA SR 3K R R 1T B X
REZZE—A"E A AEEEEHRE—
RITHMESEER-_FHERRE ([&
KHEERME])  £8AEARKE360H
& 7T (#E 5430,560,00078 7T) ° A&
BB RF+ZA=+—HItFE-
EEEEAER@METRR—EERY
AR#3557 & 7T (185 7396,496,000
BT W HEZBHREREBES
EMFRE0%RAEENE TER
% %8 & A K #300,000,0007T (FBE R
335,383,000/ 7 ) (AT 3Bt 5E(d)FF
i) o
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27 BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS (Continued)

206

(c)

(d)

Current unsecured bank loans (Continued)
However, the Group failed to fulfil certain undertakings
and restrictive covenant requirements under this
Unsecured Loan Facility upon signing the loan agreement.
The Group also failed to pay its related interest totalling
HK$34,286,000 up to 31 December 2018. As a result,
the outstanding amount of this loan of RMB355 million
(equivalent to HK$404,777,000) together with the related
interest expense are immediately due and payable as at 31
December 2018. The directors are currently negotiating
with the bank for waiver of the relevant clause and
renewal of the loan, including extension of the related
interest payments.

Other loans

On 21 January 2013, the Group entered into a non-
binding framework agreement with Beijing Wincapital in
relation to the disposal of a 30% equity interest in SEAM,
a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Group. The aggregate
disposal consideration is expected to be approximately
US$150 million (equivalent to approximately HK$1,170
million). The proposed transaction is yet to complete and
no formal sales and purchase agreement has been entered
into up to the date of approval of the consolidated
financial statements.

In connection with the proposed disposal, Beijing
Wincapital arranged certain loan finance (“Financing
Loans”) to the Group in the aggregate amounts of
RMB400,000,000 (equivalent to HK$447,176,000) up to
31 December 2016. Such borrowings can be settled by
offsetting against the disposal consideration should the
proposed disposal be completed.

During the year ended 31 December 2017, a loan
arranged by Beijing Wincapital (amounting to
RMB200,000,000 (equivalent to HK$239,263,000)) has
been novated to Pingyuan, which is a beneficial owner of
the Potential Investor, as mentioned in note (f) below.

RERERERAR AR

27 RITRHMEE (F&)

(9]

(d)

BUHA K 1R ER 1T E R (4])

R NEBR R E R Mrk A6
TRERBEZRMEE NS TAE
KR HI IR - NEBINKRAE S
EE=z_"ZT—N\F+=-A=+—H%A
$£34,286,0007% 7T 2 FEEE F B o E Itk
IWEER Z MAEBESBARESSH
7T (& 7404,777,000 7T ) & [F 48
BARER-_E—N\F+=-_A=+—H
BB EI HARE (S - 5 B B IEBLEA 2 4B RE
BREEEER (BIEEREB S
) EBITHITRER

Hi &R

R-E—=F6—FA-+—H KA&EFH
tRERIVEBHERAEEZEHK
J& A B B 330 %A% AN AE 25 MY S 4
RAERGZ - BEEREETAAL
150,000,000 7T (FBE R 41,1708 8
BIL) cBERAMEIRRIERS
EERSIIART ARG AEMIER

BEEWH#H-

MERLEFEEMS #E2_ZF— X
F+_A=Z+-—H tFZEFALE
ELETERBRE ((MEEXR]) -
% A5 A R%400,000,0007C (8 E R
447,176,000/ 7T ) ° finiE M EF AT
- BREEAEREEERES -

REBEEZZE—+tF+=A=+—H
IEFE ERERTHEZERARE
200,000,0007T (48 & 7°239,263,000
BILT)EEBETER mMERAEEE
BECE=BEAA (I0T XXM FEGH
i) e

R N\FEERSE



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

R MEBRRME

27 BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS (Continued)
(d) Other loans (Continued)

(e)

Annual Report 2018

As at 31 December 2017, the Financing Loan comprised
of a loan provided by Gongyi Jiahui Technology Promotion
Service Centre LLP (“Gongyi Jiahui”) in the aggregate of
RMB200,000,000 (equivalent to HK$239,263,000) for a
term of three to six months from the respective drawdown
dates.

As at 31 December 2018, the outstanding Financing
Loan totalling RMB200,000,000 (equivalent to
HK$228,258,000) remained overdue. The Group is in the
process of negotiating with the counterparties to extend
the terms of these outstanding balances.

Unsecured borrowings from related parties

As at 31 December 2018 and 2017, unsecured
borrowings from related parties comprised of: (i)
loans from a Mr. Dong'’s relative of RMB25,700,000
(equivalent to HK$29,331,000) (2017: equivalent to
HK$30,745,000), which bear interest at rates of 36%
to 43% per annum; and (ii) loans from the ultimate
holding company of the Company consisting of amounts
of $$5,642,000, US$1,715,000 and HK$13,800,000
(2017: HK$10,779,000) (in aggregate equivalent to
HK$59,478,000) (2017: HK$57,145,000), which bear
interest at a rate of 8% per annum except for an amount
of US$1,715,000, which is interest free.

In addition, an interest-free loan of RMB1,000,000
(equivalent to HK$1,196,000) from a relative of Mr. Dong
remained outstanding as at 31 December 2017. This loan
has been fully repaid during the year ended 31 December
2018.

27 RITRHMEE (&)

(d)

(e)

Nickel Resources International Holdings Company Limited

HtER (&)
RZB—+FE+-_A=+—H @&
BB IEE S T EE R E RIS
D(ERERE) ([BREE])RE—
$ 4 # AR #200,000,0007C (#8 & 1%
239,263,000 7)) 2 B BH=FX
878 (hiEEIRR B R -

R-TB-NE+-A=1+—8 HKXE
EMEERAE £ AR®200,000,0007T
(#8% 228,258,000 7 ) {3 %80 #A - K
SEIEEEEF HETER  UERZ
EREEHEZHRE-

EREESEANEIKAEE

RZE—NFERZZE—tF+= A
=+—H #HEEFBANEKREE
BE (WELERBEANERAR
#25,700,0007T (18 E 7229,331,000/%8
ot) (ZZF—+ 4% : 5 E 130,745,000
WBIT) IRERN R36E F43E B
RAANAB R ERAREAER
X % B BB HES,642,0005T AN T~
1,715,000 7t 513,800,000/ JT ( —
T —+4:10,779,000/ 7T) (HER
4 $£59,478,0008 L) (ZE—+F:
57,145,000/ 7t ) ' Br 7 E31,715,000
ELARBIN B EFIRFEF ESE

e

oM REEXEFRBZREBEERA
R #1,000,0007T (48 & 71,196,000/%
TR ZE—+tF+=_A=+—H1MH
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27 BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS (Continued)

208

()

(9)

Unsecured borrowings from the Potential
Investor and related parties of the Potential
Investor

As at 31 December 2018, the total borrowings obtained
from the Potential Investor and certain related parties
of the Potential Investor amounted to RMB460,910,000
(equivalent to HK$526,033,000) (2017: HK$551,394,000)
which included the loan novated from Beijing Wincapital
to Pingyuan of RMB200,000,000 (equivalent to
HK$228,258,000) (2017: HK$239,263,000) as detailed in
Note 27(d) above.

All of these borrowings were overdue as at 31 December
2018. The Group has been actively negotiating with the
lenders of the above borrowings for the renewal and
extension of the repayment dates for a term of 2 years.

Unsecured borrowings from other third parties
As at 31 December 2018, unsecured borrowings
from other third parties comprised of: (i) loans from
independent third parties of RMB1,000,000 (equivalent
to HK$1,141,000) (2017: equivalent to HK$1,196,000),
which bear interest at 12% per annum; (ii) a loan
from an independent third party of US$2,500,000
(equivalent to HK$19,583,000) (2017: equivalent to
HK$19,542,000), which bear interest at 8% per annum;
(iii) an interest-free loan of RMB4,879,000 (equivalent
to HK$5,569,000) (2017: equivalent to HK$5,837,000)
provided by a customer of the Group which is repayable
on demand; (iv) loans from certain independent third
parties of RMB7,000,000 (equivalent to HK$7,989,000)
(2017: equivalent to HK$18,814,000), RMB17,000,000
(equivalent to HK$19,402,000) (2017: equivalent to
HK$20,337,000), and RMB4,000,000 (equivalent to
HK$4,565,000) (2017: equivalent to HK$4,786,000)
which bear interest at rates of 21.6% per annum, 19.2%
per annum and 36.5% per annum, respectively.
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27 BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS (Continued)

(9)

(h)

Annual Report 2018

Unsecured borrowings from other third parties
(Continued)

During the year ended 31 December 2018, the Group
obtained an interest-free loan from a potential business
partner, which is also an independent third party, of
RMB110,000,000 (equivalent to HK$125,542,000) which
is repayable on demand.

As at 31 December 2018, unsecured borrowing to the
extent of HK$52,680,000 (2017: HK$64,675,000) and
HK$131,111,000 (2017: HK$5,837,000) were overdue
and repayable on demand, respectively.

Secured borrowings from other third parties

As at 31 December 2017, secured borrowing from
other third parties comprise of: (i) a loan from an
independent third party of RMB2,300,000 (equivalent to
HK$2,751,000), which bears interest at 27.6% per annum
and secured by a motor vehicle with net carrying amount
of RMB3,615,000 (equivalent to HK$4,325,000) and (ii)
a loan from an independent third party of HK$820,000,
which is interest-free, secured by personal guarantee of
Mr. Dong and repayable by May 2018. These loans have
been fully repaid during the year ended 31 December
2018 except for the loan from the independent third party
of HK$820,000.

The 12% Coupon Senior Bonds
On 13 June 2014, the Company completed a
restructuring of its then existing 10% Coupon Senior
Bonds and 6% Coupon Convertible Bonds with nominal
amount of HK$390,990,000 and HK$181,575,000,
respectively (“Bonds Restructuring”).

27 RITRHMEE (&)

(9)

(h)
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27 BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS (Continued)
The 12% Coupon Senior Bonds (Continued)

Key terms of the then existing 10% Coupon Senior Bonds
have been amended as follows:

210

0]

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

Interest rate: 12% per annum, which is repayable
quarterly in arrears;

Final maturity date: 12 December 2018;

Repayment: The Company shall redeem the
bonds at 100% of the remaining principal of
HK$390,990,000 in 8 quarterly instalments
commencing 12 March 2017 to and including the
Final Maturity Date;

Redeemable in cash at the option of the Company
at their early redemption amount calculated by
using the bond principal with an interest rate of
12% payable on a quarterly basis, at any time
prior to the final maturity date, providing that early
redemption may not be exercised by the Company
within 30 days of the end of a specific close period.

Details of the amendments to the terms of the then
existing 6% Coupon Convertible Bonds have been
disclosed in Note 28. The amendments are considered to
be substantial modification of terms of these bonds and
therefore have been accounted for as extinguishment of
financial liabilities; and the amended Senior Bonds (“12%
Coupon Senior Bonds”) and amended convertible bonds
("8% Coupon Convertible Bonds") have been recognised
upon the completion of the Bonds Restructuring.
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(i)
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The 12% Coupon Senior Bonds (Continued)

The 12% Coupon Senior Bonds with the embedded
redemption options were initially recognised as a debt
host contract, which was measured using an equivalent
market interest rate for a similar bond without a
redemption option, and are subsequently carried at
amortised cost. The embedded redemption options were
initially recognised as an embedded derivative, which
was measured using valuation technique. At its initial
recognition and at each subsequent reporting period end
date, the fair value of the embedded redemption options
was insignificant.

During the year ended 31 December 2014, the Company
failed to make interest payment under the relevant terms
and conditions of the Modified 10% Coupon Bonds
(see note (j) below), 12% Coupon Senior Bonds and 8%
Coupon Convertible Bonds (Note 28) of HK$1,420,000,
HK$11,698,000 and HK$2,990,000, respectively. This
constituted an event of default under the respective
terms of the Bonds. As a result, the outstanding carrying
amounts of the Modified 10% Coupon Bonds, 12%
Coupon Senior Bonds and 8% Coupon Convertible
Bonds became immediately due and payable. In addition,
all unwinding of interest was accelerated; and all the
liabilities of the Bonds have been classified as current
liabilities thereafter.

During the year ended 31 December 2018, the Company
also failed to make further interest payments of the Bonds
of HK$13,112,000 (2017: HK$43,561,000).

27 RITRHMEE (&)
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27 BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS (Continued)

212

(i)

The 12% Coupon Senior Bonds (Continued)
Despite the above, DB Trustees (Hong Kong) Limited,
the trustee for the holders of the Bonds, has not
demanded immediate repayment of the Bonds and
their related interest up to the date of approval of the
consolidated financial statements. The Group has been
actively negotiating with the holders of the Bonds for the
execution of the Debt Restructuring Proposal to facilitate
the Group meeting its obligations. At the meetings of
the holders of the 12% Coupon Senior Bonds and 8%
Coupon Convertible Bonds held on 21 June 2016 and
6 July 2016, respectively, extraordinary resolutions were
passed and resolved that no holder of the 12% Coupon
Senior Bonds and 8% Coupon Convertible Bonds shall
demand repayment of any amount due under the 12%
Coupon Senior Bonds and 8% Coupon Convertible Bonds
or take any action to enforce the payment of monies or
exercise any other right thereunder or otherwise take any
action against the Company whether or not under the
terms and conditions of the 12% Senior Bonds and 8%
Coupon Convertible Bonds or request the trustee to take
any of the foregoing actions.

Following the passing and effectiveness of these
resolutions, the Company is preparing the necessary
documents to submit to the courts for the relevant
creditors’ approval and court sanction for the Cayman
Scheme and the Hong Kong Scheme under the Debt
Restructuring Proposal.

The Company is also actively negotiating with other
creditors of the Company for the execution of the Debt
Restructuring Proposal.
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27 BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS (Continued)

(j) The Modified 10% Coupon Bonds
The Group’s Modified 10% Coupon Bonds were
recognised on the remaining 284 then 10% Coupon
Convertible Bonds of the Group with an aggregate
nominal amount of HK$28,400,000 (the “Modified 10%
Coupon Bonds”) as a result of the amendments to the
terms and conditions governing the then 10% Coupon
Convertible Bonds pursuant to an extraordinary resolution
dated 31 May 2012.

Upon the amendment, the Group determined the fair
value of the Modified 10% Coupon Bonds based on the
valuation performed by Great China Appraisal Limited
using an equivalent market interest rate for a similar bond
without a conversion option.

The Modified 10% Coupon Bonds were matured on 12
March 2015. As at 31 December 2017 and 2018, an
event of default occurred under the terms of the Modified
10% Coupon Bonds, details of which have been disclosed
in note (i) above.

28 CONVERTIBLE BONDS
On 13 June 2014, the Company completed the Bonds
Restructuring as stated in Note 27(i), whereupon the terms and
conditions governing the 6% Convertible Bonds of the Group
with aggregate nominal amount of HK$181,575,000 have been
amended as follows:

(i)  Amended the interest rate payable from 6% per annum
to 8% per annum;

(i)  Extended the final maturity date of the 8% Coupon
Convertible Bonds from 12 March 2015 to 12 March
2018;

(i) The price at which ordinary shares will be issued upon
conversion of the Convertible Bonds will be reduced to
HK$0.30 per ordinary share, subject to adjustment in the
manner provided in the Convertible Bonds Trust Deed;
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214

CONVERTIBLE BONDS (Continued)

(ivy  Amended to the Conversion Price re-set mechanics to
provide a reduced Floor Price of HK$0.18;

(vv Added a provisional clause to the definition of
“Relevant Event” (note) to ensure that the suspension
of trading of the ordinary shares of the Company on
the Stock Exchange at the completion date of the Debt
Restructuring will not constitute a Relevant Event unless it
continues for a period of 120 consecutive calendar days
following 12 June 2014;

(vi)  Amended the Reserve Account arrangements to reduce
the Required Minimum Balance from US$10,000,000 to
US$1,000; and

(vii)  The addition of provisions which will require the Company
to credit to the balance of the Reserve Account amounts
calculated by reference to the volume of dry tonnes of ore
exported to SEAM in the event that the current restrictions
imposed on the export of ores under the Exclusive
Offtake Agreement are lifted and which will require the
Company to accelerate the payments schedule in such
circumstances.

Note:
A “Relevant Event” occurs:

(1) when the ordinary shares of the Company cease to be listed or admitted to
trading, or the trading of which is suspended for a period of more than 90
consecutive calendars, on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange; or

(2) when there is a change of control in the Company.

The amendments are considered to be substantial modification
of terms of the 6% Convertible Bonds. Consequently, the 6%
Convertible Bonds have been accounted for as extinguishment
of financial liabilities and the 8% Coupon Convertible Bonds
have been recognised upon the completion of the Bonds
Restructuring.
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28 CONVERTIBLE BONDS (Continued) 28 WHKREZ (&)
The movements of the liability and derivative components of the AMREF 2 BBERITETAES S < 2EIN
Convertible Bonds are as follows: T
Liability
component Derivatives
of convertible financial
bonds instruments Total
AR E S Ciges
ZEERD SRITA et
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET
At 1 January 2017, R=ZZE—+F—H—8"
31 December 2017, - ‘:—tﬁ‘f' A
1 January 2018 and =+—8" —N\F
31 December 2018 —H—H &_T J\E
+=—A=+—8 46,775 - 46,775
The fair values of the derivatives were valued by Greater China &%MEIEZQ fﬁfﬁﬁﬂﬂéi@%ﬁﬁﬂﬁ
Appraisal Limited using the scenario analysis model as at 31 RN ZZE—+E+_A=+—BFNAS
December 2017. Management performed the valuation during AMRAEHAE - EEENAFE#EITE
the year and considered that this is no significant change in the B ITRABEE-ZE—tFT+_H=1—
values since 31 December 2017. H LAZR L 88 K& &) o
The Group also recognised a number of derivatives, based on AEBDRBEETEERAGMEL 2EE
the valuation performed by Greater China Appraisal Limited, the WRBIBITETR HEEBENUNTSIEA:

values of which comprise:

(i)  The fair value of the option of the bondholders to convert () EFEEARIRERSREEEH
the 8% Coupon Convertible Bonds into ordinary shares of REFERBARNG LB RIER
the Company at the conversion price; NAEE:

(i) The fair value of the option of the Company to redeem (i) ANARIEES%EE B AR ESAE
the 8% Coupon Convertible Bonds; and ERALEE R

(i) The fair value of the potential option of the holders (i) HBHEAERARTRELEEBEHE
to request the Company to redeem the 8% Coupon EO8%ZEm B RELFMETERE
Convertible Bonds upon the occurrence of Relevant Event. RN AREE
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216

CONVERTIBLE BONDS (Continued)

These options are interdependent as only one of these options
can be exercised. Therefore, they are not able to be accounted
for separately and a single compound derivative financial
instrument was recognised. The Convertible Bonds are matured
during the year ended 31 December 2018 and the options
above are all expired as at 31 December 2018.

The 8% Coupon Convertible Bonds and the 12% Coupon
Senior Bonds (as detailed in Note 27(i) above) are secured
by (i) the pledge of the Group's time deposits amounting to
HK$12,000; (i) all of the rights, interest, title and benefits of
the Exclusive Offtake Agreement; and (iii) all of the shares held
by First Elite Development Limited in S.E.A. Mining Limited,
a private company incorporated in Hong Kong with limited
liability, which is the sole legal and beneficial holder of the
convertible bonds issued by Yiwan with principals amounting
to HK$46,500,000 and US$3,000,000, respectively which are
convertible into ordinary shares of Yiwan.

As at 31 December 2018 and 2017, an event of default
occurred under the terms of the 8% Coupon Convertible
Bonds, details of which have been disclosed in Note 27(i).

28 wWRKRES (&)
RERBHEEME —EMEF —HIR
1T Eit - =E TR BBRER - MNERE
RAB—WEATESRMT A - TRBES
RBE-T—/\F+-A=+—HILFE
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8% EMBAIMBESRI2%EEEEEE
% (0 B FE27()EE ) T 51 & E AR IR
- ()E A& B E #8317 5012,00098 7T ¢ (i)
BREBHEZMBERESN #Ex FTEER
A25 5 R (iii) First Elite Development Limited
REFREABRARBFAEZMABRMD -E
EREAR AR — BN EBEMZH
FABRDF AYiwanfi1T A4 D 5l A
46,500,000 7T }2.3,000,0003E 7T 2 A 32 A% (5
% (A AYiwant) E L) 2 E—EE R
EEFAAC

RZBE—N\ERZE—CtFF+_A=+—
H 8%ZEMEB A MREFAIGERELEED
1 FBERK 2700 E -

SHARE CAPITAL 29 BRR
2018 2017
—2-N\% o
Number of Number of
ordinary shares HK$000  ordinary shares HK$'000
EERHE THET LakeE FET
Authorised (HK$0.1 each): EE (FR0AETT)
At 1 January and 31 December R—HA—HK
+-A=1+—-H 5,000,000,000 500,000 5,000,000,000 500,000
Issued and fully paid BEITRER
(HK$0.1 each): (BRR0.1ET)
At 1 January and 31 December R—A—HR&
+-A=+—H 3,088,131,105 308,813 3,088,131,105 308,813
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= A, £
FeMBE=RME
30 RESERVES 30 f#fE
The amounts of the Group's reserves and the movements AEBAFENBTFERENSERELE
therein for the current and prior years are presented in the PG BRENGaRaEB KT
consolidated statement of changes in equity of the consolidated N e
financial statements.
Share premium IR 12518

Under the Companies Law (2009 Revision) of the Cayman
Islands, the share premium and contributed surplus are
distributable to the shareholders of the Company, provided
that immediately following the date on which the dividend is
proposed to be distributed, the Company will be in a position
to pay off its debts as and when they fall due in the ordinary
course of business.

Contributed surplus

The contributed surplus of the Group represents the difference
between the aggregate of the nominal value of the paid-
up capital of Infonics acquired pursuant to the Group
reorganisation on 29 April 2006 and the nominal value of the
Company's shares issued in exchange therefor.

Capital reserve

At 31 December 2018, the balance of capital reserve is non-
distributable and represents the additional contribution by a
shareholder in 2003 amounting to HK$36,047,000 (equivalent
to approximately RMB37,147,000), and the capitalisation
of payable to a shareholder amounting to HK$79,760,000
(equivalent to approximately RMB85,000,000) in respect of
which Mr. Dong waived his rights and benefits to the debts
owed to him by Yongtong Special Steel in 2004.

Statutory reserves

In accordance with the Company Law of the PRC and the
respective Articles of Association of Yongtong Special Steel,
Yongtong Alloy Metals, Xiangtong Electricity, Yongtong Nickel,
East Harvest Minerals, East Harvest Mining, Hongnie Trading,
Yongtong Fully Lead and Henan Jiakun, these companies
are each required to allocate 10% of their profit after tax,
as determined in accordance with PRC Generally Accepted
Accounting Principles (“PRC GAAP"”), to the statutory surplus
reserves (the “SSR") until these reserves reach 50% of the
registered capital.

Nickel Resources International Holdings Company Limited
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RESERVES (Continued)

Statutory reserves (Continued)

Subsequent to the re-registration of Yongtong Special Steel
as a wholly-foreign-owned company on 10 November 2003,
allocation to the SSR was no longer required. According to the
relevant PRC regulations applicable to wholly-foreign-owned
companies, Yongtong Special Steel is required to allocate a
certain portion (not less than 10%) of its profit after tax in
accordance with PRC GAAP to the statutory reserve fund (the
“SRF") until this reserve reaches 50% of its registered capital.

The SSR and SRF are non-distributable other than in the event
of liquidation and, subject to certain restrictions set out in the
relevant PRC regulations, can be used to offset accumulated
losses or be capitalised as paid-up capital.

Distributable reserves

For dividend purposes, the amount which the PRC subsidiaries
can legally distribute by way of a dividend is determined by
reference to the distributable profits as reflected in their PRC
statutory financial statements which are prepared in accordance
with PRC GAAP. These profits differ from those that are
reflected in this report which is prepared in accordance with
IFRSs.

In accordance with the Company Law of the PRC, profits after
tax of the PRC subsidiaries can be distributed as dividends after
the appropriations to the SSR and SRF set out above.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

On 2 May 2005, the Company approved a share option scheme
(the “Share Option Scheme”) under which the Directors may, at
their discretion, grant options to the Directors and employees
of the Group to subscribe for shares in the Company. The
subscription price for shares under the Share Option Scheme
will be determined by the Directors, which shall be calculated
at the time of grant of the relevant option and shall not be
less than the highest of (i) the nominal value of a share; (ii) the
closing price of a share as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily
quotation sheet on the date of grant of the relevant option,
which must be a business day; and (iii) the average closing price
of the shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotation
sheets for the five business days immediately preceding the date
of grant of the relevant option.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

The maximum number of shares in respect of which options
may be granted under the Share Option Scheme must not
exceed 10% of the share capital of the Company in issue and
may not exceed in nominal value 30% of the issued share
capital of the Company in issue for a period of 10 consecutive
years. The Share Option Scheme will remain in force for the
period of 10 years commencing on 2 May 2005. No option may
be granted to any one person which, if exercised in full, would
result in the total number of shares which were already issued
and may fall to be issued to him under all the options previously
granted to him pursuant to the Share Option Scheme in any
12-month period up to the date of grant, exceeding 1% of
the maximum aggregate number of shares for the time being
issued and which may fall to be issued under the Share Option
Scheme.

Share options granted to a Director, chief executive or
substantial shareholder of the Company, or to any of
their associates, are subject to approval in advance by the
independent non-executive Directors. In additions, any share
options granted to a substantial shareholder or an independent
non-executive Director, or to any of their associates, in excess
of 0.1% of the shares of the Company in issue at any time or
with an aggregate value (based on the price of the Company's
shares at the date of grant) in excess of HK$5 million, within
any 12-month period, are subject to shareholders’ approval in
advance in a general meeting.

The offer of a grant of share options may be accepted within
28 days from the date of offer, upon payment of a nominal
consideration of HK$1 in total by the grantee. The exercise
period of the share options granted is determinable by the
Directors, and commences after a certain vesting period and
ends on a date which is not later than 10 years from the date
of offer of the share options. The options will have a vesting
schedule of five years whereby only 20% of the options shall
be exercisable 12 months after the grant date and an additional
20% may be exercised by the grantee in each subsequent
year until five years later when 100% of the options may be
exercised.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)
Share options do not confer rights on the holders to dividends
or to vote at shareholders’ meetings.

The following share options were outstanding under the Share
Option Scheme during the year:

RS (&)
BREY TR THAAZAREINERA
e LERRZER-

AT B BRUHE 1 6 P9 1) R AR B8 BB R T 81 7T
fi£

2018 2017
AL it Sl 2

Weighted Weighted
average Number average Number
exercise price of options exercise price of options

¥ il
T8 BREHE TEE BilEHE
HK$ ‘000 HK$ ‘000

per share per share
BRER T4 BRET Tin
At 1 January KR—H—H 0.99 33,385 1.04 38,535
Forfeited during the year RERRIL - = 1.37 (5,150)
Expired during the year RENER 2.45 (6,585) = =
At 31 December R+=—A=+—H 0.63 26,800 0.99 33,385

The exercise prices and exercise periods of the share options
outstanding as at the end of the reporting period are as follows:

RRE BRI ARITE 2 BIE 2 1TEERIT
fFEEREN R :

2018 2017
—EB-N\E —E—+tF
Exercise price' Number of options
HK$ per share Exercise period BREHAE
THREE "000 ‘000
BRER T T4 T
2.45 20 March 2009 to 19 March 2018 - 6,585
—ETAF=A=F+AHZE
—E-NF=A+ANH
0.63 20 Jan 2013 to 19 Jan 2022 26,800 26,800
—T—=F—HA=Z+RHZE
—ZE__%—A+hH
26,800 33,385

! The exercise price of the share options is subject to adjustment in the case
of rights or bonus issues, or other similar changes in the Company's share

capital.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)
No share option expense was charged to the consolidated
income statement during the year (2017: HK$22,000).

At the end of the reporting period, the Company had
26,800,000 (2017: 33,385,000) share options outstanding
under the Share Option Scheme, which represented
approximately 0.87% (2017: 1.08%) of the Company’s shares
in issue as at 31 December 2018. The exercise in full of the
outstanding share options would, under the present capital
structure of the Company, result in the issue of 26,800,000
(2017: 33,385,000) additional ordinary shares of the Company
and an additional share capital of HK$2,680,000 (2017:
HK$3,338,500) and share premium of HK$14,204,000 (2017:
HK$29,678,750) (before issue expenses).

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES, CLAIMS AND
DISPUTES

The Group follows the guidance of IAS37 “Provisions,
Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets” to determine
when contingent liabilities should be recognised, which requires
significant judgement.

A contingent liability will be disclosed when a possible
obligation has arisen, but its existence has to be confirmed by
future events outside the Group's control, or when it is not
possible to calculate the amount. Realisation of any contingent
liabilities not currently recognised or disclosed could have a
material impact on the Group's financial position.

The Group reviews significant outstanding litigations in order to
assess the need for provisions. Among the factors considered
are the nature of the litigation, legal processes and potential
level of damages, the opinions and views of the legal counsels
and advisors, and the management’s intentions to respond to
the litigations. To the extent the estimates and judgements do
not reflect the actual outcome, this could materially affect the
results for the period and the financial position.
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DISPUTES (Continued)
(a) Litigation with Rock Resource Limited (“RR")

and United Mineral Limited (“UM") (collectively
referred to as the “Buyers”)

In March 2014, the Company received certain legal letters
(the “Letters”) from the Buyers dated 20 March 2014,
which purported to be statutory demands serviced to the
Company pursuant to section 178(1)(a) of the Companies
(Winding Up and Miscellaneous Provisions) Ordinance
(Cap.32) (“Statutory Demand”).

The Letters concern disputes between the Group and
the Buyers relating to certain primary contracts for the
sale and purchase of Indonesian iron ores, and contain
claims for (i) an amount of US$10,347,698 (equivalent
to approximately HK$80,242,000) which comprises
the demand for return of an advance payment made
by RR to the Group of US$3,000,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$23,264,000) and interest thereon to
the extent of US$7,347,698 (equivalent to approximately
HK$56,978,000) payable up to 20 March 2014; and (i) an
amount of RMB70,355,783 (equivalent to approximately
HK$89,488,000) which comprises the demand for
return of an advance payment made by UM to the
Group of RMB20,000,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$25,438,000) and interest thereon to the extent
of RMB50,355,783 (equivalent to approximately
HK$64,050,000) payable up to 20 March 2014. The
Company as guarantor to the abovementioned primary
contracts is therefore also a party to these litigations.

On 4 April 2014, the Group issued a legal letter to the
legal representative of the Buyers requesting them to
withdraw the Statutory Demand as the Group considers
that it has bona fide defences on substantial grounds to
the claims asserted from the Buyers, and the Group also
considers it has very substantial counterclaims against the
Buyers as a result of their non-performance of the relevant
contracts.
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(a) Litigation with Rock Resource Limited (“RR")

and United Mineral Limited (“UM") (collectively
referred to as the “Buyers”) (Continued)

On 7 April 2014, the Group received another legal letter
from the legal representative of the Buyers informing
that the Buyers will not present their winding up petition
against the Company without serving a 3-day notice.

On 11 April 2014, the Company received another
statutory demand from the legal representative of UM to
claim for certain interest charge (“Interest Charge”) on
certain loans provided by UM to the Group (the principal
of which had been fully repaid before 31 December
2013) calculated up to 11 April 2014 (as supplemented
by another legal letter dated 15 April 2014), together
with the related penalty, to the extent of US$3,839,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$29,770,000). The
Group has subsequently replied, through its legal
representative, that most of the claimed Interest Charge
are unenforceable at law but agreed to pay the relevant
interest charge (after tax) calculated under normal
contract terms in the amount of US$345,000 (equivalent
to approximately HK$2,675,000) which had been
provided for during the year ended 31 December 2013.

On 9 May 2014, the Group received another legal letter
from the legal representative of UM informing that
UM will not present its winding up petition against the
Company without serving a 3-day notice.

In October 2014, the legal representative of UM issued a
letter to the Group requesting payment for the amount
of US$345,000 and the Group fully settled the amount in
November 2014.
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DISPUTES (Continued)
(a) Litigation with Rock Resource Limited (“RR")

and United Mineral Limited (“UM") (collectively
referred to as the “Buyers”) (Continued)

On 18 November 2014, a subsidiary of the Group received
a legal letter from RR, which purported to be statutory
demand serviced to the subsidiary pursuant to section
254(2)(a) of the Singapore Companies Act (Cap.50),
requesting for settlement of a payable of US$1,726,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$13,387,000) (the
“Unpaid Invoices”), which has been included as current
liabilities of the Group in the consolidated financial
statements.

On 8 December 2014, the Group issued a legal letter to
RR requesting RR to withdraw such statutory demand
and confirm that RR will not commence winding up of
the aforementioned subsidiary as the Group considers
it has bona fide defences on substantial grounds to the
claims asserted in RR’s letter dated 18 November 2014
and significant cross-claims against RR and therefore the
Unpaid Invoices should not be settled at this stage since
the Group would be entitled to set these sums off against
its very substantial counterclaims for RR and/or UM.

On 8 September 2015, Easyman entered into a Swap of
Debt Agreement with RR and CNR Group Holdings Pte
Ltd ("CNRG"), a then subsidiary of the Group, which gave
effect to provide a charge over a total of 31,762,295
shares in the Company to RR as a security for the above
litigation. These shares can be used by RR for settlement
of any liabilities that may arise and become payable by the
Group to RR in respect of the above litigation.
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(a) Litigation with Rock Resource Limited (“RR")

and United Mineral Limited (“UM") (collectively
referred to as the “Buyers”) (Continued)

In order to resolve certain of the above claims and
disputes, Yongtong Special Steel and CNRG, subsidiaries
of the Group, also entered into an agreement with RR on
6 June 2016, pursuant to which, and on a “no admission
of liability” basis that, Yongtong Special Steel shall deliver
certain equipment to RR as a consideration for offsetting
any payables due by the Group to RR to the extent of
RMB30,000,000 (the “Consideration Equipment”). Upon
delivery of all relevant equipment and acknowledgement
receipt by RR, any liabilities that the Group may owe to
RR shall be reduced by RMB30,000,000. These equipment
have been delivered to and acknowledged receipt by RR
before 31 December 2016.

During the year ended 31 December 2017, the Company,
Mr. Dong and the Buyers entered into a settlement
agreement (the “Settlement Agreement”) pursuant to
which all these parties agreed to fully settle the above
litigation matters, amongst other terms and conditions, at
an aggregate consideration of US$12,000,000 as follows:

(i)  an amount of US$5,000,000 to be satisfied by
the aforementioned Consideration Equipment of
Yongtong Special Steel delivered to RR during the
year ended 31 December 2016; and

(i) the remaining amount of US$7,000,000 to be
settled by Mr. Dong on behalf of the Company, by
transferring his entire personally interest in 50%
equity interests in an unlisted entity to UM or a party
specified by UM.

As at 31 December 2018, the above Settlement
Agreement is still under execution. Based on the terms of
the Settlement Agreement, the directors consider that the
Settlement Agreement will be fully executed in 2019 and
no material loss to the Group will be resulted upon final
settlement of the above litigation matters.
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32 CONTINGENT LIABILITIES, CLAIMS AND

DISPUTES (Continued)

(b) Dispute on Contracts of Affreightment
(“COAs")

226

(i)

The Group entered into certain COAs with various
marine vessel owners committing certain minimum
number of cargoes per calendar month for
exporting iron ores from Indonesia. As a result of the
unfavourable economic environment and the various
changes in rules and regulations stipulated by the
Indonesian government authorities since year 2012,
the Group's ores export was adversely affected and
therefore unable to fulfil the minimum cargoes
commitments as stipulated by some of these COAs.

During the year ended 31 December 2014, the
Group received various legal letters from TORM A/
S ("“TORM"), a marine vessel owner, to (i) claim
for an outstanding freight charges payable by the
Group to TORM of approximately US$1,834,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$14,268,000)
(“Outstanding Freight Charges”); and (ii) notify
the commencement of arbitration proceedings
pursuant to the terms of the relevant COAs to claim
for loss and damage suffered by TORM (”Other
Losses”) with respect to approximately 51 unfulfilled
cargoes under the terms of the relevant COAs
which is estimated by TORM to be approximately
US$11,828,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$91,721,000) up to 27 March 2014 (the amount
stated in the latest claim submissions from TORM).

The dispute with TORM in respect of the
Outstanding Freight Charges had been settled
at an amount of US$419,000 (equivalent to
HK$3,253,000) during the year ended 31 December
2014 and the claim had been fully discharged in
June 2014.

In connection with the claims on Other Losses, the
Group has engaged legal advisors to commence
arbitration procedures with TORM in February 2014.
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32 CONTINGENT LIABILITIES, CLAIMS AND
DISPUTES (Continued)
(b) Dispute on Contracts of Affreightment
(“COAs") (Continued)

(i)

Annual Report 2018

(Continued)

During the year ended 31 December 2018, the
Group has been actively negotiating with TORM on
settlement of the above claims on Other Losses. In
preparing these consolidated financial statements,
the directors have obtained legal advice in this
respect and, based on the current status of the
proceedings, evidence exchanged and the latest
communication with TORM, consider that most
likely the Group will be able to settle the claims on
Other Losses at a consideration of approximately
US$5 million (equivalent to HK$38,782,000). A
provision for claims of the same amount has been
made by the Group during the year ended 31
December 2015.

On 21 November 2018, the Group received a
Statutory Demand under Section 178 (1)(a) of
the Companies (Winding Up and Miscellaneous
Provisions) Ordinance (Cap.32) from PCL (Shipping)
Pte Ltd (“PCL") in respect of a Final Partial
Arbitration Award dated 11 October 2018 (the
“Award”) demanding the Group for an aggregate
amount of approximately HK$17.4 million mainly
relating to detention and demurrage claims under a
COA that the Group entered into with PCL, together
with the related interest charges and legal costs.
On 23 November 2018, PCL issued another legal
letter to the Group proposing a settlement schedule
with the Group on the above Award, together with
another claim under arbitration proceedings with
the Group in relating to certain unpaid freight and
demurrage arising out of certain other shipments
under the above COA amounting to approximately
HK$32 million. All these claims have been fully
provided for and included as current liabilities in the
consolidated financial statements of the Group as
at 31 December 2018. The directors have already
engaged legal advisors to assist in resolving the
above claims with PCL.

32 FAREE PRRUS ()
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i@ RAEANEEEZE 7] LG
BEAUREBLASEEET (HER
38,782,000/ 7T ) Bt 18 K HY
REERMNE  AEEREZEZ
TE-—HAE+-_A=+—HItFEE
EErRHR SRR R -

R=_E—NF+—A=+—8"
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CONTINGENT LIABILITIES, CLAIMS AND

DISPUTES (Continued)

(b) Dispute on Contracts of Affreightment
(“COAs") (Continued)
As at 31 December 2018 and up to the date of approval
of the consolidated financial statements, based on the
best knowledge and information of the directors, there
are no other major claims in relation to any COAs that
the Group has entered into saved as disclosed in these
consolidated financial statements.

Should the resolution of these legal claims and disputes
turn out to be unfavourable to the Group, the Group may
need to record additional losses in respect of these claims
and disputes in future reporting periods.

OPERATING LEASE ARRANGEMENT - AS LESSEE
The Group leases certain of its properties under operating lease
arrangements. Leases for properties are negotiated for terms
ranging from two to three years. At 31 December 2018, the
Group had total future minimum lease payments under non-
cancellable operating leases falling due as follows:

33

32 HAREE PRRUS ()

(b) MEAMEESH ([HMEESHD)
PEE(E)
RZEBE—N\E+ZA=+—HBREZ
BAPEBRERAERR BERERAR
B BREAVBRERTIEESRIIN A
EEFESRET Y EIMNEABEEAME
BAEHZEMERER-

WERZRERREFENREGERT
FMRAKE  AEE A ERERKRRE
HEMZEHRMFREEEINE
Lo

REHERHF-FEREAEA
AEBRELEHEELHERETYE K
BEZMEREFHNTFME=ZF-N_-F
—N\F+tZA=1+—H XEERTIIZER
HIR 2| B IB A Al AR £ E 2 RR&E
HEfREREMT :

2018 2017

—E-N\F —FT—tF

HK$’000 HK$'000

THET FAETT

Within one year —F R 3,045 2,802
In the second to fifth years, inclusive E_EZERF

(BIEEEMS) 1,399 180

4,444 2,982

RERERERAR AR
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34 COMMITMENTS
In addition to the operating lease commitments detailed in Note
33 above, the Group had the following capital commitments at
the end of the reporting period:

34

EE
BR £ XM EE33 &5 < EE M EAYEIN -
SENFEMRZEARFENT :

2018 2017
—E-N\E —E—+tF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FER FAET
Contracted, but not provided for: REESEESZT-H
Property, plant and equipment ME - BRE KRB 106,258 49,292

35 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
In addition to the transactions detailed elsewhere in the
consolidated financial statements, the Group had the following
material transactions and outstanding balances with related
parties during the year and as at the end of the reporting

35

BRELRZ

BRER AP BRMR M TRz X 55
AEERFARBERREFETETZE
KRR 5 M ERET 2 RGBT :

period:
Transactions with related parties HBELSNRXS
2018 2017

—E-NF —E—tF
Names of related parties Nature of transactions HK$°000 HK$'000
BEFEHE REME FET FET
Easyman (note a) Interest expense (note b) 3,726 3,096
Easyman ( fif5Ea) FEER (KsEb)
Ms. Sun Qiaodian (“Ms. Sun”) (note d) Interest expense (note d) 12,976 12,683

B AL ([FLL]) (KaEd)

MEER (MEEd)
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RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued) 35 BEFRS (#)

Outstanding balances with related parties EHEES ARG
2018 2017
=F S —E—t%
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT FET
Prepayments to Yiwan & £ Yiwan 2 B
(Note 22) (notes a and ¢) (Bfsr22) (Mizkakc) 12,581 12,463

Loan to Full Harvest Development Limited ~ B F L3R AR A A

(Note 18) (KtzE18) 56,975 56,975
Amounts due to Easyman (note b) #5 /K EasymanzX 18 (B 5Eb) 60,775 57,564
Amount due to Ms. Sun (note d) 4ERF L FIE (H7Ed) 29,331 30,745
Amounts due to a director, HBR—REFERFLE

Mr. Dong Chengzhe (note e) A (Hsxe) 1,927 2,132
Amounts due to Mr. Dong (note ) sERE S EFRIE (Hrte) 88,134 61,709
Notes: B o -

(a) Easyman is a company wholly owned by Mr. Dong. The Directors consider (a) Easyman ) — B ELX L2 BEREZ RAEF
that Mr. Dong through Easyman, as a lender of Yiwan, has an indirect A E St i@ B EasymantE /R Yiwan 2 BRA 1 7
economic interest in Yiwan. VYiwan# A 55 47 Fl &% o

(b) Details of the terms of amounts due to Easyman are disclosed in Note 27. (b) 4 K Easymanzk B R 2 SE B BRI 5527 »

(© Prepayments are made to Yiwan for purchases of iron ores. The amount (c) FEfTYiwanZ RIBEBEEBAMEL - ZE&8A

is unsecured and interest free and will be settled by offsetting the relevant
purchases. Also see Note 22.

(d) Ms. Sun Qiaodian is the spouse of Mr. Dong. Amount due to Ms. Sun is
unsecured and is repayable by 31 December 2018. Interest is calculated at
mutually agreed terms.

(e) Amounts due to Directors are unsecured, interest free and repayable on
demand.
(f) Details of compensation of key management personnel of the Group are

included in Note 10 to the consolidated financial statements.

BRERERZERERARF

IR RS WA EEEEE mSE - TR
fEE22 ©

FAOHRELRELEZEB - BREAZLHAR
BEMRAR-_F-\F+-_A=t+—HEE-
FEREEERBGRRAE -
BREFFARBER RERNRERKEE -

AEBEEEEEAB 2 HMFBIH NGRS PER
FMHIFE10 ©
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36 STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND 36 RARZHMBMRRERBEEE
RESERVE MOVEMENT OF THE COMPANY
Statement of financial position of the Company QBB EARR TR
As at 31 December
R+=-—A=+-—
2018 2017
—E-N\E —E—tF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTET T
ASSETS BE
Non-current assets IRBEE
Property, plant and equipment e N 49 40
Interests in subsidiaries NI £ - 137,826
e _____ 49_ ] 137,866 _
Current assets REEE
Prepayments, deposits and TERIE ZE R
other receivables H th B U F0 I8 803 2,588
Pledged time deposits B E TR 13 13
Cash and cash equivalents ReERBESFEY 392 299
e e 12080 ______2900
Total assets BEE 1,257 140,766
EQUITY &
Share capital AR 7S 308,813 308,813
Reserves E] (note (a))
(Fif&E(@)) (1,394,517) (1,141,229)
Total Shareholders’ deficat | MREM#®m (085704 (832.416)
LIABILITIES afE
Current liabilities nEEE
Other payables and accruals E e RIE R IETER 619,976 506,197
Bank and other borrowings RITREMEER 420,210 420,210
Convertible bonds Al E 5 46,775 46,775
S, 1,086,961 _° 973,182 _
Total liabilites _~ ®&\ 1,086,961 _° 973,182 _
Total equity and liabilities EEREEARE 1,257 140,766
The statement of financial position of the Company was RRARZHBRAREEETER T —NF
approved by the Board of Directors on 29 March 2019 and was —AZ+NhBEERRESEE-
signed on its behalf.
Dong Shutong Yang Fei
EER B
Director Director
EE EE
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND
RESERVE MOVEMENT OF THE COMPANY
(Continued)

Statement of financial position of the Company
(Continued)

Note (a) Reserve movement of the Company

36 AATZMBRRKRRFHEEE

(%)

AT MFMRRE ()

i o) 2 7 G 208D

Share
Share Contributed option Accumulated

premium surplus reserve losses Total
B3 RE BERBRG BREMGE AitE#E st
HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET FET FET FHET

(note)

(BH&E)
At 1 January 2017 R-—Z—+F—H—H 3,237,077 296,966 37,387  (4,148,706) (577,276)
Total comprehensive loss for the year  4F [Z 2 [ &5 18 4258 - - - (563,975) (563,975)

Equity-settled share based ARRFEREE 2 IR ER

compensation expense (Note 31) (ME5E31) - - 22 - 22
At 31 December 2017 R=ZF—+F+=-A=1+—8 3,237,077 296,966 37,409 (4,712,681) (1,141,229)
At 1 January 2018 RZZE—N\F—H—H 3,237,077 296,966 37,409 (4,712,681) (1,141,229)
Total comprehensive loss for the year 4 /& 2 H [E5 18 4258 - - - (253,288) (253,288)
At 31 December 2018 R-—ZE—\&+-H=+—8 3,237,077 296,966 37,400  (4,965,969)  (1,394,517)

Note: Contributed surplus of the Company represents the difference between
the value of the net assets of the underlying subsidiaries acquired by the
Company pursuant to the Group reorganisation on 29 April 2006 and the

nominal value of the Company’s shares issued in exchange therefor.

BRERERZERERARF

M : ARANERBHBEARARBEAEER -
JNEMA =+ AR ETTREA T URE R AR RE T
RAZFAEBEREARARRIBZEEEMH
TR EME 2 R ZRE -
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